



VOLUME I ISSUE I

ISSN 2619-9653

http://dergipark.gov.tr/ujma

VOLUME I ISSUE I ISSN 2619-9653 March 2018 http://dergipark.gov.tr/ujma

UNIVERSAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS

UJMA

Honorary Editor-in-Chief

Murat Tosun Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE tosun@sakarya.edu.tr

Editors

Editor in Chief

Emrah Evren Kara Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE eevrenkara@duzce.edu.tr

Co-Editor in Chief

Murat Kirişçi Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, İstanbul University, İstanbul-TÜRKİYE murat.kirisci@istanbul.edu.tr

Managing Editor

Merve İlkhan Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE merveilkhan@duzce.edu.tr Editor in Chief Mahmut Akyiğit Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE makyigit@sakarya.edu.tr

Co-Editor in Chief Fuat Usta Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE fuatusta@duzce.edu.tr

Editorial Board of Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Hari Mohan Srivastava University of Victoria, CANADA

Poom Kumam King Mongkut's University of Technology Thonburi, THAILAND

Necip Şimşek İstanbul Commerce University, TÜRKİYE

Michael Th. Rassias University of Zurich, SWITZERLAND Mohammad Mursaleen Aligarh Muslim University, INDIA

> Soley Ersoy Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Syed Abdul Mohiuddine Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Selçuk Topal Bitlis Eren University, TÜRKİYE Mujahid Abbas University of Pretoria, SOUTH AFRICA

Dumitru Baleanu Çankaya University, TÜRKİYE

İshak Altun Kırıkkale University, TÜRKİYE

Changjin Xu Guizhou University of Finance and Economics, CHINA

Sidney Allen Morris Federation University, AUSTRALIA

Editorial Secretariat

Pınar Zengin Alp Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE Feng Qi Henan Polytechnic University, CHINA

> Silvestru Sever Dragomir Victoria University, AUSTRALIA

Yeol Je Cho Gyeongsang National University, KOREA

> Ljubisa D. R. Kocinac University of Nis, SERBIA

Waqas Nazeer University of Education, PAKISTAN

Editorial Secretariat Hande Kormalı Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE

Contents

1	The Application Domain of Infinite Matrices with Algorithms Murat Kirişçi	1-9
2	Separable solutions to a brood-parasite dynamics model Vladas Skakauskas	10-16
3	Modeling of fiber circumplacement around a hole using a streamline approach Stefan Hartmann, Ali Kheiri Marghzar	17-28
4	An algorithm for constructing S-boxes for block symmetric encryption Alijon Bozorbayevicha Sattarov, Bakhtiyor Fayzievich Abdurahimov	29-32
5	On ψ -Hilfer fractional differential equation with complex order Harikrishnan Sugumaran, Rabha Ibrahim, Kuppusamy Kanagarajanr	33-38
6	Positive solutions for nonlinear fractional differential equation with nonlocal boundary conditions Bouteraa Noureddine, Slimane Benaicha, Habib Djourdem	39-45
7	Some remarks regarding the (p,q) -Fibonacci and Lucas octonion polynomials Arzu Özkoç Öztürk, Ayhan Porsuk	46-53
8	Quantum metric spaces of quantum maps Maysam Maysami Sadr	54-60
9	Geodesics on the Momentum Phase Space with metric Cg <i>İsmet Ayhan</i>	61-67
10	Boundedly solvable degenerate differential operators for first order <i>Pembe İpek, Zameddin İsmailov</i>	68-73

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



The application domain of infinite matrices with algorithms

Murat Kirişçi^{a*}

^aDepartment of Mathematical Education, Hasan Ali Yücel Education Faculty, Istanbul University, Vefa, 34470, Fatih, Istanbul, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: mkirisci@hotmail.com, murat.kirisci@istanbul.edu.tr

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Algorithm, Flowchart, Matrix domain, Dual space, Schauder basis, AK-property, Monotone norm 2010 AMS: 47A15, 46A45, 46B45, 68Q25 Received: 1 January 2018 Accepted: 17 January 2018 Available online: 11 March 2018 The purpose of this paper is twofold. First, we define the new spaces and investigate some topological and structural properties. Also, we compute dual spaces of new spaces which are help us in the characterization of matrix mappings. Second, we give some examples related to new spaces. A flow chart of the stages of the newly constructed sequence spaces and the algorithms of the workings at each step are given.

1. Introduction

It is well known that, the ω denotes the family of all real (or complex)-valued sequences. ω is a linear space and each linear subspace of ω (with the included addition and scalar multiplication) is called a *sequence space* such as the spaces c, c_0 and ℓ_{∞} , where c, c_0 and ℓ_{∞} denote the set of all convergent sequences in fields \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C} , the set of all null sequences and the set of all bounded sequences, respectively. It is clear that the sets c, c_0 and ℓ_{∞} are the subspaces of the ω . Thus, c, c_0 and ℓ_{∞} equipped with a vector space structure, from a sequence space. By *bs* and *cs*, we define the spaces of all bounded and convergent series, respectively.

A coordinate space (or K-space) is a vector space of numerical sequences, where addition and scalar multiplication are defined pointwise. That is, a sequence space X with a linear topology is called a K-space provided each of the maps $p_i : X \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by $p_i(x) = x_i$ is continuous for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$. A K-space is called an FK-space provided X is a complete linear metric space. An FK-space whose topology is normable is called a BK-space.

Let X be a *BK*-space. Then X is said to have monotone norm if $||x^{[m]}|| \ge ||x^{[n]}||$ for m > n and $||x|| = \sup ||x^{[m]}||$. The spaces $c_0, c, \ell_{\infty}, c_s, b_s$ have monotone norms.

If a normed sequence space X contains a sequence (b_n) with the property that for every $x \in X$ there is unique sequence of scalars (α_n) such that

$$\lim \|x - (\alpha_0 b_0 + \alpha_1 b_1 + \dots + \alpha_n b_n)\| = 0$$

then (b_n) is called *Schauder basis* for *X*. The series $\sum \alpha_k b_k$ which has the sum *x* is then called the expansion of *x* with respect to (b_n) , and written as $x = \sum \alpha_k b_k$. An *FK*-space *X* is said to have *AK* property, if $\phi \subset X$ and $\{e^k\}$ is a basis for *X*, where e^k is a sequence whose only non-zero term is a 1 in k^{th} place for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\phi = span\{e^k\}$, the set of all finitely non-zero sequences. An *FK*-space $X \supset \phi$ is said to have *AB*, if $(x^{[n]})$ is a bounded set in *X* for each $x \in X$.

Let $A = (a_{nk})$ be an infinite matrix of complex numbers a_{nk} and $x = (x_k) \in \omega$, where $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then the sequence Ax is called as the A-transform of x defined by the usual matrix product. Hence, we transform the sequence x into the sequence $Ax = \{(Ax)_n\}$ where

$$(Ax)_n = \sum_k a_{nk} x_k \tag{1.1}$$

Email address: murat.kirisci@istanbul.edu.tr (M. Kirişci)



Figure 1.1: Flowchart of constructing a new sequence space

for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, provided the series on the right hand side of (1.1) converges for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let *X* and *Y* be two sequence spaces. If *Ax* exists and is in *Y* for every sequence $x = (x_k) \in X$, then we say that *A* defines a matrix mapping from *X* into *Y*, and we denote it by writing $A : X \to Y$ if and only if the series on the right hand side of (1.1) converges for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and every $x \in X$, and we have $Ax = \{(Ax)_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in Y$ for all $x \in X$. A sequence *x* is said to be *A*-summable to *l* if *Ax* converges to *l* which is called the *A*-limit of *x*. Let *X* be a sequence space and *A* be an infinite matrix. The sequence space

$$X_A = \{x = (x_k) \in \omega : Ax \in X\}$$

$$(1.2)$$

is called the domain of A in X which is a sequence space.

The matrix $\Omega = (a_{nk})$ defined by $a_{nk} = k$, $(1 \le k \le n)$ and $a_{nk} = 0$, (k > n), and the matrix $\Gamma = (b_{nk})$ defined by $b_{nk} = 1/k$, $(1 \le k \le n)$ and $b_{nk} = 0$, (k > n), respectively, i.e.,

	[1	0	0	0	···]			[1]	0	0	0	••• -
	1	2	0	0		and	h . —	1	1/2	0	0	
a = -	1	2	3	0				1	1/2	1/3	0	
u_{nk} –	1	2	3	4			$v_{nk} =$	1	1/2	1/3	1/4	
	:	÷	÷	÷	·.]				÷	÷	÷	·

We can give the matrices $\Omega^{-1} = (c_{nk})$ and $\Gamma^{-1} = (d_{nk})$ which are inverse of the above matrices by $c_{nk} = 1/n$, (n = k), $c_{nk} = -1/n$, (n - 1 = k), $c_{nk} = 0$, (other) and $d_{nk} = n$, (n = k), $d_{nk} = -n$, (n - 1 = k), $d_{nk} = 0$, (other), respectively, i.e.,

	Г 1	0	0	0	··· -			Γ1	0	0	0	···]
	-1/2	1/2	0	0				-2	2	0	0	
$c_1 =$	0	-1/3	1/3	0		and	$d_{1} =$	0	-3	3	0	
c_{nk} –	0	0	-1/4	1/4		anu	and u_{nk} —	0	0	-4	4	
	:	÷	÷	÷	•.			:	÷	÷	÷	·

Now, we show that the matrices Ω and Γ preserve the limits on the set of all convergent sequences.

Theorem 1.1. *The matrices* Ω *and* Γ *are regular.*

Proof. Take a sequence $x = (x_k)$. We must show that if for $n \to \infty$ and some L, $\lim_n |x_k - L| \to 0$, then, $\lim_n |b_{nk}x_k - L| \to 0$, where b_{nk} is Γ matrix. Suppose that for $n \to \infty$ and some L, $\lim_n |x_k - L| \to 0$, and choose $\varepsilon > 0$. Then, there exists a positive integer N such that $\lim_n |x_k - L| < \varepsilon$ for $n \ge N$. Then, for $n \ge N$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$, $\lim_n |b_{nk}x_k - L| = \lim_n |\sum_{k=1}^n (k^{-1}x_k - L)| < \varepsilon$. Therefore the matrix Γ is regular.

Similarly, we can show that the matrix Ω is regular.

The paper is organized into six sections. After the introduction in Section 1, new sequence spaces are constructed in Section 2. Also, some topological properties of these new spaces are investigated in Section 2. Section 3 describes and computes the dual spaces. The dual spaces are very important for matrix transformations. Section 4 is dedicated to characterization of matrix mappings. Examples related to the new spaces are in Section 5. Finally, Section 6 presents the conclusion(Figure 1.1).

2. New spaces and topological properties

- 1: Take an infinite matrix *A*
- 2: Apply to the sequence space *X*
- 3: If the matrix *A* is a triangle and $f: X_A \to X$ is bijective, then
- 4: *X_A* and *X* are linearly isomorphic
- 5: Investigate the topological properties of X_A
- 6: **If** *A* is triangle, **then**
- 7: X_A is a BK-space
- 8: Compute the beta- and gamma-duals
- 9: **do**
- 10: Characterize the matrix mappings
- 11: while(exist beta- and gamma-duals)

Table 1: Algorithm related to the constructing a new space

Now, we introduce the new sequence spaces derived by the Ω - and Γ - matrices as follows:

 $\ell_{\infty}(\Omega) = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : \Omega x \in \ell_{\infty} \right\}$ $c(\Omega) = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : \Omega x \in c \right\}$ $c_0(\Omega) = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : \Omega x \in c_0 \right\}$

and

 $\ell_{\infty}(\Gamma) = \{x = (x_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : \Gamma x \in \ell_{\infty}\}$ $c(\Gamma) = \{x = (x_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : \Gamma x \in c\}$ $c_0(\Gamma) = \{x = (x_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : \Gamma x \in c_0\}$

Let us define the sequences $u = (u_n)$ and $v = (v_n)$, as the Ω -transform and Γ -transform of a sequence $x = (x_k)$, respectively, that is, for $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$, $u_n = (\Omega x)_n = \sum_{k=1}^n |kx_k|$ and $v_n = (\Gamma x)_n = \sum_{k=1}^n |k^{-1}x_k|$.

Theorem 2.1. The new bounded, convergent and null sequence spaces are norm isomorphic to the classical sets consisting of the bounded, convergent and null sequences.

Proof. We will show that there is a linear isometry between new bounded, convergent, null sequence spaces and classical bounded, convergent and null convergent sequence space. We consider the transformation defined Φ , from $X(\Omega)$ to X by $x \mapsto u = \Phi x = \sum_{k=1}^{n} |kx_k|$, where $X = \{\ell_{\infty}, c, c_0\}$. Then, it is clear that the equality $\Phi(a+b) = \Phi(a) + \Phi(b)$ holds. Choose $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. Then,

$$\Phi(\lambda a) = \Phi(\lambda a_k) = \sum_{k=1}^n |\lambda k a_k| = \lambda \sum_{k=1}^n |k a_k| = \lambda \Phi a$$

Therefore, we can say that Φ is linear.

Choose a sequence $y = (y_k)$ in $X(\Omega)$ and define the sequence $x = (x_k)$ such that $x = (c_{nk}y_k)$, where c_{nk} is inverse of $\Omega = (a_{nk})$ matrix. Then,

$$\|x\|_{\ell_{\infty}(\Omega)} = \sup_{k} |a_{nk}x_{k}| = \sup_{k} |a_{nk}c_{nk}y_{k}|_{\ell_{\infty}} = \|y\|_{\ell_{\infty}}$$

Therefore, we can say that Φ is norm preserving.

Similarly, we can also show that the other spaces are norm isomorphic to classical sequence spaces.

Theorem 2.2. The new bounded, convergent and null sequence spaces are BK-spaces with the norms defined by $||x||_{X(\Omega)} = ||\Omega x||_{\ell_{\infty}}$ and $||x||_{X(\Gamma)} = ||\Gamma x||_{\ell_{\infty}}$, respectively, where $X = \{\ell_{\infty}, c, c_0\}$.

Proof. Take a sequence $x = (x_k)$ in $X(\Omega)$, where $X = \{\ell_{\infty}, c, c_0\}$ and define $f_k(x) = x_k$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, we have

$$||x||_{X(\Omega)} = \sup \{1|x_1| + 2|x_2| + 3|x_3| + \dots + k|x_k| + \dots \}$$

Therefore, $k|x_k| \le ||x||_{X(\Omega)} \Rightarrow |x_k| \le K ||x||_{X(\Omega)} \Rightarrow |f_k(x)| \le K ||x||_{X(\Omega)}$. From this result, we say that f_k is a continuous linear functional for each k. Then, $X(\Omega)$ is a *BK*-space.

In the same idea, we can prove that the space $X(\Gamma)$ is a *BK*-space.

Remark 2.3. We can give the proof of Theorem 2.2 in a different way: From 4.3.1 of [9], we know that if a sequence space X is BK-space with respective norm and A is a triangular infinite matrix, then the matrix domain X_A is also BK-space with respective norm.

Theorem 2.4. *The spaces* $X(\Omega)$ *and* $X(\Gamma)$ *have* AK*-property.*

Theorem 2.5. *The spaces* $X(\Omega)$ *and* $X(\Gamma)$ *have monotone norm.*

Theorem 2.4 and 2.5 can be proved as Theorem 2.4., Theorem 2.6. of [5].

Remark 2.6. Any space with a monotone norm has AB(10.3.12 of [9]).

Corollary 2.7. *The spaces* $X(\Omega)$ *and* $X(\Gamma)$ *have AB.*

Theorem 2.8. *The following statements hold:*

(i) Define a sequence $t^{(k)} := \{t_n^{(k)}\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of elements of the space $X(\Omega)$ for every fixed $k \in \mathbb{N}$ by

$$t_n^{(k)} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{n-k}k^{-1} &, & (n-1 \le k \le n) \\ 0 &, & (1 \le k \le n-1) & or & (k > n) \end{cases}$$

Then the sequence $\{t^{(k)}\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a basis for the space $X(\Omega)$ and if we choose $E_k = (\Omega x)_k$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, then any $x \in X(\Omega)$ has a unique representation of the form

$$x := \sum_{k} E_k t^{(k)}.$$

(ii) Define a sequence $s^{(k)} := \{s_n^{(k)}\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of elements of the space $X(\Gamma)$ for every fixed $k \in \mathbb{N}$ by

$$s_n^{(k)} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{n-k}k &, & (n-1 \le k \le n) \\ 0 &, & (1 \le k \le n-1) & or & (k > n) \end{cases}$$

Then the sequence $\{s^{(k)}\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a basis for the space $X(\Gamma)$ and if we choose $F_k = (\Gamma x)_k$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, then any $x \in X(\Gamma)$ has a unique representation of the form

$$x := \sum_{k} F_k s^{(k)}.$$

Remark 2.9. If a space has a Schauder basis, then it is separable.

Corollary 2.10. The spaces $X(\Omega)$ and $X(\Gamma)$ are separable.

- 1: Take X_A
- 2: Define $f: X_A \to X$
- 3: If f is an isomorphic and surjective, then
- 4: the inverse image of basis of X is the basis of X_A
 - 5: If *X* has a Schauder basis, then
 - 6: X_A is separable

Table 2: Algorithm for basis and separability

In this section, we have defined the new spaces derived by infinite matrices and examined some structural and topological properties.

3. Dual spaces

In this section, we compute dual spaces of new defined spaces. The beta-, gamma-duals of new defined spaces will help us in the characterization of the matrix mappings.

From Lemma 5.3 of [4] and Theorem 3.1 of [1], we will give an algorithm, which provides convenience to compute $\alpha -$, $\beta -$ and $\gamma -$ duals of these new spaces and characterize some matrix transformations.

Let x and y be sequences, X and Y be subsets of ω and $A = (a_{nk})_{n,k=0}^{\infty}$ be an infinite matrix of complex numbers. We write $xy = (x_k y_k)_{k=0}^{\infty}$, $x^{-1} * Y = \{a \in \omega : ax \in Y\}$ and $M(X,Y) = \bigcap_{x \in X} x^{-1} * Y = \{a \in \omega : ax \in Y\}$ for all $x \in X\}$ for the *multiplier space* of X and Y. In the special cases of $Y = \{\ell_1, cs, bs\}$, we write $x^{\alpha} = x^{-1} * \ell_1$, $x^{\beta} = x^{-1} * cs$, $x^{\gamma} = x^{-1} * bs$ and $X^{\alpha} = M(X, \ell_1)$, $X^{\beta} = M(X, cs)$, $X^{\gamma} = M(X, bs)$ for the α -dual, β -dual, γ -dual of X. By $A_n = (a_{nk})_{k=0}^{\infty}$ we denote the sequence in the *n*-th row of A, and we write $A_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{nk} x_k$ n = (0, 1, ...) and $A(x) = (A_n(x))_{n=0}^{\infty}$, provided $A_n \in x^{\beta}$ for all *n*.

(3.5)

1:	Take the sequence spaces X and Y
2:	If the spaces X and Y are BK-spaces, then
3:	matrix transformations between X and Y are continuous
4:	Choose the triangular matrix T and an infinite matrix A
5:	do
6:	$A \in (X:Y_T)$
7:	while $TA(X : Y)$
8:	Define the matrix B which is inverse of T
9:	If the matrix <i>B</i> depending on a sequence $(a_k) \in \omega$, then
10:	β -dual is defined by $X_T^{\beta} = \{a = (a_k) \in \omega : B^T \in (X : c)\}$ and
11:	γ -dual is defined by $X_T^{\tilde{\gamma}} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : B^T \in (X : \ell_{\infty})\}$

Table 3: Algorithm for dual spaces and matrix transformations

Now, we list the following useful conditions.

$\sup_{n}\sum_{k} a_{nk} <\infty$	(3.1)
$\lim a_{nk} - \alpha_k = 0$	(3.2)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k} a_{nk} \quad exists \tag{3.3}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k}^{n} |a_{nk}| = \sum_{k} \left| \lim_{n \to \infty} a_{nk} \right|$$
(3.4)

$$\lim_{n} a_{nk} = 0 \quad \text{ for all } k$$

$$\sup_{m} \sum_{k} \left| \sum_{n=0}^{m} \right| < \infty$$
(3.6)

$$\sum_{n} a_{nk} \text{ is convergent for all } k$$

$$\sum_{n} \sum_{k} a_{nk} \text{ is convergent}$$

$$(3.7)$$

$$(3.8)$$

$$\sum_{k=k}^{k} a_{nk} \quad \text{is convergent}$$
(3.8)

$$\lim_{n} a_{nk} \quad \text{exists for all k}$$
(3.9)

$$\lim_{m} \sum_{k} \left| \sum_{n=m}^{\infty} a_{nk} \right| = 0 \tag{3.10}$$

Lemma 3.1. For the characterization of the class (X : Y) with $X = \{c_0, c, \ell_\infty\}$ and $Y = \{\ell_\infty, c, c_s, b_s\}$, we can give the necessary and sufficient conditions from Table 4, where

1. (3.1)	2. (3.1), (3.9)	3. (3.6)	4. (3.6), (3.7)
5. (3.1), (3.9), (3.3)	6. (3.6), (3.7), (3.8)	7. (3.9), (3.4)	8. (3.10)

${\rm To} \rightarrow$	ℓ_{∞}	С	bs	cs	
From \downarrow					
c_0	1.	2.	3.	4.	
С	1.	5.	3.	6.	
ℓ_{∞}	1.	7.	3.	8.	
Table 4					

For using in the proof of Theorem 3.2, we define the matrices $U = (u_{nk})$ and $V = (v_{nk})$ as below:

$$u_{nk} = \begin{cases} \frac{a_k - \frac{a_{k+1}}{k+1}}{n}, & (k < n) \\ \frac{a_n}{n}, & (k = n) \\ 0, & (k > n) \end{cases}$$
(3.11)

$$v_{nk} == \begin{cases} ka_k - (k+1)a_{k+1} &, & (k < n) \\ na_n &, & (k = n) \\ 0 &, & (k > n) \end{cases}$$
(3.12)

Theorem 3.2. The β - and γ - duals of the new sequence spaces defined by

$$\begin{split} & [c_0(\Omega)]^{\beta} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : U \in (c_0 : c)\} \\ & [c(\Omega)]^{\beta} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : U \in (c : c)\} \\ & [\ell_{\infty}(\Omega)]^{\beta} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : U \in (\ell_{\infty} : c)\} \\ & [c_0(\Omega)]^{\gamma} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : U \in (c_0 : \ell_{\infty})\} \\ & [c(\Omega)]^{\gamma} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : U \in (c : \ell_{\infty})\} \\ & [\ell_{\infty}(\Omega)]^{\gamma} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : U \in (\ell_{\infty} : \ell_{\infty})\} \end{split}$$

Proof. We will only show the β – and γ – duals of the new null convergent sequence spaces. Let $a = (a_k) \in \omega$. We begin the equality

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} a_k x_k = \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_k k^{-1} (y_k - y_{k-1}) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \left(\frac{a_k}{k} - \frac{a_{k+1}}{k+1} \right) y_k + \frac{a_n}{n} y_n = (Uy)_n$$
(3.13)

where $U = (u_{nk})$ is defined by (3.11). Using (3.13), we can see that $ax = (a_k x_k) \in cs$ or bs whenever $x = (x_k) \in c_0(\Omega)$ if and only if $Uy \in c$ or ℓ_{∞} whenever $y = (y_k) \in c_0$. Then, from the algorithm in Table 3, we obtain the result that $a = (a_k) \in (c_0(\Omega))^{\beta}$ or $a = (a_k) \in (c_0(\Omega))^{\gamma}$ if and only if $U \in (c_0:c)$ or $U \in (c_0:c)$, which is what we wished to prove.

Theorem 3.3. The β – and γ – duals of the new sequence spaces defined by

$$\begin{split} & [c_0(\Gamma)]^{\beta} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : V \in (c_0 : c)\} \\ & [c(\Gamma)]^{\beta} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : V \in (c : c)\} \\ & [\ell_{\infty}(\Gamma)]^{\beta} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : V \in (\ell_{\infty} : c)\} \\ & [c_0(\Gamma)]^{\gamma} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : V \in (c_0 : \ell_{\infty})\} \\ & [c(\Gamma)]^{\gamma} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : V \in (c : \ell_{\infty})\} \\ & [\ell_{\infty}(\Gamma)]^{\gamma} = \{a = (a_k) \in \boldsymbol{\omega} : V \in (c : \ell_{\infty})\} \end{split}$$

where $V = (v_{nk})$ is defined by (3.12).

4. Matrix mapping

Let *X* and *Y* be arbitrary subsets of ω . We shall show that, the characterizations of the classes (X, Y_T) and (X_T, Y) can be reduced to that of (X, Y), where *T* is a triangle.

It is well known that if $h_{c_0}(\Delta^{(m)}) \cong c_0$, then the equivalence

$$x \in h_{c_0}(\Delta^{(m)}) \Leftrightarrow y \in c_0$$

holds. Then, the following theorems will be proved and given some corollaries which can be obtained to that of Theorems 4.1 and 4.2. Then, using the algorithm in Table 3, we have:

Theorem 4.1. Consider the infinite matrices $A = (a_{nk})$ and $D = (d_{nk})$. These matrices get associated with each other in the following relations:

These matr

$$d_{nk} = \frac{a_{nk}}{k} - \frac{a_{n,k+1}}{k+1} \tag{4.1}$$

for all $k,m,n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, the following statements are true: **i.** $A \in (c_0(\Omega) : Y)$ if and only if $\{a_{nk}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in [c_0(\Omega)]^{\beta}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $D \in (c_0 : Y)$, where Y is any sequence space. **ii.** $A \in (c(\Omega) : Y)$ if and only if $\{a_{nk}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in [c(\Omega)]^{\beta}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $D \in (c : Y)$, where Y is any sequence space. **iii.** $A \in (\ell_{\infty}(\Omega) : Y)$ if and only if $\{a_{nk}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in [\ell_{\infty}(\Omega)]^{\beta}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $D \in (\ell_{\infty} : Y)$, where Y is any sequence space.

Proof. We assume that the (4.1) holds between the entries of $A = (a_{nk})$ and $D = (d_{nk})$. Let us remember that from Theorem 2.1, the spaces $c_0(\Omega)$ and c_0 are linearly isomorphic. Firstly, we choose any $y = (y_k) \in c_0$ and consider $A \in (c_0(\Omega) : Y)$. Then, we obtain that $D\Omega$ exists and $\{a_{nk}\} \in (c_0(\Omega))^\beta$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, the necessity of (4.1) yields and $\{d_{nk}\} \in c_0^\beta$ for all $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence, Dy exists for each $y \in c_0$. Thus, if we take $m \to \infty$ in the equality

$$\sum_{k=1}^{m} a_{nk} x_k = \sum_{k=1}^{m} a_{nk} \left(\frac{a_{nk}}{k} - \frac{a_{n,k+1}}{k+1} \right) y_k$$

for all $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, then, we understand that Dy = Ax. So, we obtain that $D \in (c_0 : Y)$.

Now, we consider that $\{a_{nk}\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \in (c_0(\Omega))^{\beta}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $D \in (c_0 : Y)$. We take any $x = (x_k) \in c_0(\Omega)$. Then, we can see that Ax exists. Therefore, from the equality

$$\sum_{k} d_{nk} y_k = \sum_{k} a_{nk} x_k$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we obtain that Ax = Dy. Therefore, this shows that $A \in (c_0(\Omega) : Y)$.

Theorem 4.2. Consider that the infinite matrices $A = (a_{nk})$ and $E = (e_{nk})$ with

$$e_{nk} := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{jk}.$$
(4.2)

Then, the following statements are true: **i.** $A = (a_{nk}) \in (X : c_0(\Omega))$ if and only if $E \in (X : c_0)$ **ii.** $A = (a_{nk}) \in (X : c(\Omega))$ if and only if $E \in (X : c)$ **iii.** $A = (a_{nk}) \in (X : \ell_{\infty}(\Omega))$ if and only if $E \in (X : \ell_{\infty})$

Proof. We take any $z = (z_k) \in X$. Using the (4.2), we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{m} e_{nk} z_k = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m} j b_{jk} \right) z_k$$
(4.3)

for all $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, for $m \to \infty$, equation (4.3) gives us that $(Ez)_n = \{\Omega(Az)\}_n$. Therefore, one can immediately observe from this that $Az \in c_0(\Omega)$ whenever $z \in X$ if and only if $Ez \in c_0$ whenever $z \in X$. Thus, the proof is completed.

Theorem 4.3. Consider the infinite matrices $A = (a_{nk})$ and $F = (f_{nk})$. These matrices get associated with each other in the following relations:

$$f_{nk} = ka_{nk} - (k+1)a_{n,k+1} \tag{4.4}$$

for all $k, m, n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, the following statements are true:

i. $A \in (c_0(\Gamma) : Y)$ if and only if $\{a_{nk}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in [c_0(\Gamma)]^{\beta}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $F \in (c_0 : Y)$, where Y is any sequence space. *ii.* $A \in (c(\Gamma) : Y)$ if and only if $\{a_{nk}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in [c(\Gamma)]^{\beta}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $F \in (c : Y)$, where Y is any sequence space. *iii.* $A \in (\ell_{\infty}(\Gamma) : Y)$ if and only if $\{a_{nk}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in [\ell_{\infty}(\Gamma)]^{\beta}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $F \in (\ell_{\infty} : Y)$, where Y is any sequence space.

Theorem 4.4. Consider that the infinite matrices $A = (a_{nk})$ and $G = (g_{nk})$ with

$$g_{nk} := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{n} j^{-1} a_{jk}$$
(4.5)

Then, the following statements are true: **i.** $A = (a_{nk}) \in (X : c_0(\Gamma))$ if and only if $G \in (X : c_0)$ **ii.** $A = (a_{nk}) \in (X : c(\Gamma))$ if and only if $G \in (X : c)$ **iii.** $A = (a_{nk}) \in (X : \ell_{\infty}(\Gamma))$ if and only if $G \in (X : \ell_{\infty})$

5. Examples

If we choose any sequence spaces X and Y in Theorem 4.1 and 4.2 in previous section, then, we can find several consequences in every choice. For example, if we take the space ℓ_{∞} and the spaces which are isomorphic to ℓ_{∞} instead of Y in Theorem 4.1, we obtain the following examples:

Example 5.1. The Euler sequence space e_{∞}^r is defined by $e_{\infty}^r = \{x \in \omega : \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} |\sum_{k=0}^n {n \choose k} (1-r)^{n-k} r^k x_k| < \infty\}$ ([2] and [3]). We consider the infinite matrix $A = (a_{nk})$ and define the matrix $H = (h_{nk})$ by

$$h_{nk} = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \binom{n}{j} (1-r)^{n-j} r^{j} a_{jk} \qquad (k,n \in \mathbb{N}).$$

If we want to get necessary and sufficient conditions for the class $(c_0(\Omega) : e_{\infty}^r)$ in Theorem 4.1, then, we replace the entries of the matrix A by those of the matrix H.

Example 5.2. Let $T_n = \sum_{k=0}^n t_k$ and $A = (a_{nk})$ be an infinite matrix. We define the matrix $P = (p_{nk})$ by

$$p_{nk} = \frac{1}{T_n} \sum_{j=0}^n t_j a_{jk} \qquad (k, n \in \mathbb{N}).$$

Then, the necessary and sufficient conditions in order for A belongs to the class $(c_0(\Omega) : r_{\infty}^l)$ are obtained from in Theorem 4.1 by replacing the entries of the matrix A by those of the matrix P; where r_{∞}^l is the space of all sequences whose R^l -transforms is in the space ℓ_{∞} [7].

Example 5.3. In the space r_{∞}^{t} , if we take t = e, then, this space become to the Cesaro sequence space of non-absolute type X_{∞} [8]. As a special case, Example 5.2 includes the characterization of class ($(c_0(\Omega) : r_{\infty}^{t})$).

Example 5.4. The Taylor sequence space t_{∞}^r is defined by $t_{\infty}^r = \{x \in \omega : \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} |\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} {k \choose n} (1-r)^{n+1} r^{k-n} x_k| < \infty \}$ ([6]). We consider the infinite matrix $A = (a_{nk})$ and define the matrix $T = (t_{nk})$ by

$$t_{nk} = \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \binom{k}{n} (1-r)^{n+1} r^{k-n} a_{jk} \qquad (k,n\in\mathbb{N}).$$

If we want to get necessary and sufficient conditions for the class $(c_0(\Omega) : t_{\infty}^r)$ in Theorem 4.1, then, we replace the entries of the matrix A by those of the matrix T.

If we take the spaces c, cs and bs instead of X in Theorem 4.2, or Y in Theorem 4.1 we can write the following examples. Firstly, we give some conditions and following lemmas:

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} a_{nk} = 0 \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{n} \,, \tag{5.1}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum a_{nk} = 0, \tag{5.2}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} |a_{nk}| = 0, \tag{5.3}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i} |a_{nk} - a_{n,k+1}| = 0, \tag{5.4}$$

$$\sup_{n}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left|a_{nk}-a_{n,k+1}\right| < \infty \tag{5.5}$$

 $\lim_{k} \left(a_{nk} - a_{n,k+1} \right) \text{ exists for all k}$ (5.6)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k} |a_{nk} - a_{n,k+1}| = \sum_{k} \left| \lim_{n \to \infty} (a_{nk} - a_{n,k+1}) \right|$$
(5.7)

$$\sup_{n} \left| \lim_{k} a_{nk} \right| < \infty \tag{5.8}$$

Lemma 5.5. Consider that $X \in \{\ell_{\infty}, c, bs, cs\}$ and $Y \in \{c_0\}$. The necessary and sufficient conditions for $A \in (X : Y)$ can be read from the *Table 5*:

9. (5.3)	10. (3.1), (3.5), (5.2)	11. (5.1), (5.4)	12. (3.5), (5.5)
13. (5.1), (5.6), (5.7)	14. (5.5), (3.9)	15. (5.1), (5.5)	16. (5.5), (5.8)

$From \rightarrow$	ℓ_{∞}	С	bs	CS
To ↓				
<i>c</i> ₀	9.	10.	11.	12.
с	7.	5.	13.	14.
ℓ_{∞}	1.	1.	15.	16.

Table 5

Example 5.6. We choose $X \in \{c_0(\Omega), c(\Omega), \ell_{\infty}(\Omega)\}$ and $Y \in \{\ell_{\infty}, c, cs, bs, f\}$. The necessary and sufficient conditions for $A \in (X : Y)$ can be taken from the Table 6:

1a. (3.1) holds with d_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .

2a. (3.1), (3.9) hold with d_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .

3a. (3.6) holds with d_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .

4a. (3.6), (3.7) hold with d_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .

5a. (3.1), (3.9), (3.3) hold with d_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .

6a. (3.6), (3.7), (3.8) hold with d_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .

7a. (3.9), (3.4) hold with d_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .

8a. (3.10) holds with d_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .

$To \rightarrow$	ℓ_{∞}	С	bs	CS
From ↓				
$c_0(\Omega)$	1a.	2a.	3a.	4a.
$c(\Omega)$	1a.	5a.	3a.	6a.
$\ell_{\infty}(\Omega)$	1a.	7a.	3a.	8a.

Example 5.7. Consider that the $X \in \{\ell_{\infty}, c, bs, cs\}$ and $Y \in \{c_0(\Omega), c(\Omega), \ell_{\infty}(\Omega)\}$. The necessary and sufficient conditions for $A \in (X : Y)$ can be read from the Table 7:

- **10a.** (3.1), (3.5), (5.2) hold with e_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .
- **11a.** (5.1), (5.4) hold with e_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .
- **12a.** (3.5), (5.5) hold with e_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .
- **13a.** (5.1), (5.6), (5.7) hold with e_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .
- **14a.** (5.5), (3.9) hold with e_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .
- **15a.** (5.1), (5.5) hold with e_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .
- **16a.** (5.5), (5.8) hold with e_{nk} instead of a_{nk} .

From \rightarrow	ℓ_{∞}	С	bs	CS
To ↓				
$c_0(\Omega)$	9a.	10a.	11a.	12a.
$c(\mathbf{\Omega})$	7a.	5a.	13a.	14a.
$\ell_\infty(\Omega)$	1a.	1a.	15a.	16a.

```
Table 7
```

With the same idea of Example 5.6 and Example 5.7, we can write the examples related to the Γ matrix as table form. In examples which are writing with Γ matrix, we use the f_{nk} and g_{nk} .

6. Conclusion

We know that the most general linear operators between two sequence spaces is given by an infinite matrix. The theory of matrix transformations deals with establishing necessary and sufficient conditions on the entries of a matrix to map a sequence space X into a sequence space Y. This is a natural generalization of the problem to characterize all summability methods given by infinite matrices that preserve convergence.

In this work, we construct new sequence spaces by means of the matrix domain with two infinite matrices. We examine some properties such as isomorphism, BK-space, AK- and AB-properties, monotone norm. Also, we give dual spaces and later the necessary and sufficient conditions on the matrix transformations of the classes (X : Y). Afterward, in the last section, we obtain several examples related to new spaces.

In this paper, a flowchart showing the stages of the formation of a new sequence space is designed. Algorithms have been produced to construction of a new sequence space, base, separability, calculation of dual spaces and matrix characterizations.

References

- [1] B. Altay and F. Başar, Certain topological properties and duals of the domain of a triangle matrix in a sequence spaces, J. Math. Analysis and Appl., **336**, 632–645(2007)
- B. Altay, F. Başar, On some Euler sequence spaces of non-absolute type, Ukrainian Math. J. 57(1)(2005), 1-17.
- [3] B. Altay, F. Başar, M. Mursaleen, On the Euler sequence spaces which include the spaces ℓ_p and ℓ_{∞} I, Inform. Sci. 176(10)(2006), 1450–1462.
- [4] F. Başar and B. Altay On the space of sequences of p-bounded variation and related matrix mappings, Ukranian Math. J., 55(1) (2003), 136-147. [5] M. Kirisci, Integrated and differentiated sequence spaces, 1(2015), Article ID: jnna-00266, 2-16, doi: 10.5899/2015/jnaa-00266.
- [6] M. Kirişci, On the Taylor sequence spaces of nonabsolute type which include the spaces co and c, J. Math. Anal., 6(2)(2015), 22-35, .
- [7] E. Malkowsky, Recent results in the theory of matrix transformations in sequence spaces, Mat. Ves. 49, 187–196, (1997).
 [8] P.-N., Ng, P.-Y., Lee, : Cesàro sequence spaces of non-absolute type, Comment. Math. Prace Mat. 20(2), 429–433, (1978).
- [9] A. Wilansky, Summability through Functional Analysis, North-Holland (1984).

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



Separable solutions to a brood-parasite dynamics model

Vladas Skakauskas^{a*}

^aFaculty of Mathematics and Informatics, Vilnius University, Naugarduko str. 24, LT-03225 Vilnius, Lithuania ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: vladas.skakauskas@mif.vu.lt

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Differential equations, separable solutions, age-structured population, child care, brood parasites 2010 AMS: 35Q92, 92B05 Received: 9 January 2018 Accepted: 1 February 2018 Available online: 11 March 2018 Common Cuckoo is a brood-parasite which lays its egg in the nest of other bird species and use them to raise its young. We present a Common Cuckoo and a host bird interaction deterministic model taking into account maternal care of offspring. The model consists of a coupled system of integro-partial differential equations subject to the conditions of the integral type. Number of equations in the system depends on a biologically possible maximal number of eggs of the same clutch laid by a host bird. Separable solutions of this model are studied.

1. Introduction

Brood parasites are organisms that use of host individuals either of the same or different species to raise the young of the brood-parasite. We consider the Common Cuckoo (*Cuculus canorus*), formerly European Cuckoo, and host birds interaction deterministic model. Cuckoo is a brood-parasite, which lays its eggs in the nests of other bird species, particularly of Dunnocks, Meadow Pipits, and Eurasian Reed Warblers. The cuckoo egg hatches earlier than eggs of the host bird. Cuckoo chick is much larger than its hosts [1]. It grows faster and monopolizes food supplied by the host parents [2]. Shortly after hatching it evicts all host eggs and chicks by rolling and pushing the other eggs and chicks out of the nest [2]. For the sake of simplicity we assume that it evicts all host chicks and eggs immediately after hatching and that the host bird takes care of only one cuckoo's chick living in the nest. If the hen cuckoo is out-of-phase with the host eggs, she will eat them all so that the hosts are forced to start another brood [2, 3].

In this paper, we present a common cuckoo and a host species interaction deterministic model described by a coupled system of integro-PDEs and prove the existence of its separable solutions. We take into account age of birds and a finite set of eggs in the nest and generalize a one-sex population model given in [4]. We assume that all individuals have pre-reproductive, reproductive, and post-reproductive age intervals. Individuals of reproductive age are divided into single and those who care of young offspring. Individuals of pre-reproductive age are divided into single and those solutions can live without maternal care but cannot produce their offspring. It is assumed that after the death of mother all her young offspring die.

For the sake of simplicity, we consider (i) the joint parental care period which consists of the incubation and chick feeding periods and (ii) the same reproductive period for cuckoos and host birds. We also assume that the brood parasite lays his egg before incubation of clutch has started and do not take into account migration of cuckoos. To the best of our knowledge deterministic differential models have not been used yet for description of the interaction of cuckoos and host bird species.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we formulate the problem. In Section 3 we consider separable solutions of the model. Concluding remarks are given in Section 5.

2. Notation

(0,T) and (T_1,T_3) $(T < T_1 < T_3, T < T_3 - T_1)$: the child care and reproductive age intervals, respectively, (the same for host birds and cuckoos),

 $u(t, \tau_1)$: the age density of host birds aged τ_1 at time t who are of juvenile ($\tau_1 \in (T, T_1)$), single ($\tau_1 \in (T_1, T_3)$), or post-reproductive ($\tau_1 > T_3$) age,

 $u_k(t, \tau_1, \tau_2)$: the age density of host birds aged τ_1 at time *t* who take care of their *k*, $1 \le k \le n$, offspring aged τ_2 at the same time, $v(t, \tau_1)$: the natural death rate of host birds aged $\tau_1 > T$ at time *t* who are of juvenile or adult age,

 $v_k(t, \tau_1, \tau_2)$: the natural death rate of host birds aged τ_1 at time t who take care of their k offspring aged τ_2 ,

 $v_{ks}(t, \tau_1, \tau_2)$: the natural death rate of k - s host young offspring aged τ_2 at time t whose mother is aged τ_1 at the same time,

 $\alpha_k(t,\tau_1)u(t,\tau_1)d\tau_1dt, \alpha_k(t,\tau_1) < 1$; the average number of host birds of age from interval $[\tau_1,\tau_1+d\tau_1], \tau_1 \in (T_1,T_3)$, at time t who lay k eggs in their nest in time interval [t,t+dt],

 $u_c(t, \tau_1, \tau_2)$: the age density of host birds aged τ_1 at time t who take care of a cuckoo chick aged τ_2 ,

 $v_c(t, \tau_1, \tau_2)$: the natural death rate of host birds aged τ_1 at time t who take care of a cuckoo chick aged τ_2 ,

 $v_{c0}(t, \tau_1, \tau_2)$: the natural death rate of cuckoo chick aged τ_2 at time t whose host mother is aged τ_1 at the same time,

 $\alpha_{ck}(t,\tau_1)\alpha_k(t,\tau_1)u(t,\tau_1)d\tau_1dt, 0 < \alpha_{ck}(t,\tau_1) < 1$; the average number of nests formed of one Cuckoo's and k of host bird eggs laid in time interval [t, t + dt] by host birds of age from interval $[\tau_1, \tau_1 + d\tau_1]$,

 $f(t, \tau_c)$: the age density of Cuckoos aged τ_c at time t who are of juvenile ($\tau_c \in (T, T_1)$), reproductive ($\tau_c \in (T_1, T_3)$), or post-reproductive ($\tau_c > T_3$) age,

 $v_f(t, \tau_c)$: the natural death rate of Cuckoos aged τ_c at time t,

 $u_0(\tau_1), u_{k0}(\tau_1, \tau_2), u_{c0}(\tau_1, \tau_2), f_0(\tau_c)$: the initial age distributions,

 $T_2 = T_1 + T$: the minimal age of an individual finishing care of offspring of the first generation,

 $T_4 = T_3 + T$: the maximal age of an individual finishing care of offspring of the last generation,

 $\alpha = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \alpha_k, \, \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_k = \mathbf{v}_k + \sum_{s=0}^{k-1} \mathbf{v}_{ks},$

$$Q = \{(\tau_1, \tau_2) : \tau_1 \in (T_1 + \tau_2, T_3 + \tau_2), \, \tau_2 \in (0, T)\}.$$

3. The model

In this section we present a deterministic model for co-evolution of an age-structured population of host birds and cuckoos taking into account a finite number of eggs in the nest. We assume that all young offspring become juveniles at age $\tau_1 = T$ and all juveniles become adults at the age $\tau_1 = T_1$. Let *n* be the biologically possible maximal number of eggs of prey laid in the nest. Denote

$$L_1 u = \partial_t u + \partial_{\tau_1} u + \nu u, \tag{3.1}$$

$$L_2 z = \partial_t z + \partial_{\tau_1} z + \partial_{\tau_2} z \quad \text{for } z = u_c, u_k.$$
(3.2)

The model is composed of the following coupled system of integro-differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} L_2 u_c + \partial_{\tau_2} u_c + (\mathbf{v}_c + \mathbf{v}_{c0}) u_c = 0, & (\tau_1, \tau_2) \in Q, \quad t > 0, \\ u_c \big|_{\tau_2 = 0} = \sum_{k=1}^n \alpha_{ck} \alpha_k u, & \tau_1 \in (T_1, T_3), \quad t \ge 0, \\ u_c \big|_{t=0} = u_{c0}, & (\tau_1, \tau_2) \in Q, \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

$$\begin{cases} L_2 u_n + (\mathbf{v}_n + \sum_{s=0}^{n-1} \mathbf{v}_{ns}) u_n = 0, \quad (\tau_1, \tau_2) \in Q, \quad t > 0, \\ L_2 u_k + (\mathbf{v}_k + \sum_{s=0}^{k-1} \mathbf{v}_{ks}) u_k \\ = \sum_{s=k+1}^n \mathbf{v}_{sk} u_s, \quad 1 \le k \le n-1, \quad (\tau_1, \tau_2) \in Q, \quad t > 0, \\ u_k \big|_{t=0} = u_{k0}, \quad (\tau_1, \tau_2) \in Q, \quad k = 1, \dots, n, \\ u_k \big|_{\tau_2=0} = \alpha_k u (1 - \alpha_{ck}), \quad \tau_1 \in (T_1, T_3), \quad t \ge 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n, \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

$$L_{1}u = \begin{cases} 0, \quad \tau_{1} \in (T,T_{1}) \cup (T_{4},\infty), \quad t > 0, \\ -\alpha u + \int_{0}^{\tau_{1}-T_{1}} (\sum_{k=1}^{n} v_{k0}u_{k} + v_{c0}u_{c})d\tau_{2}, \quad \tau_{1} \in (T_{1},T_{2}), \quad t > 0, \\ -\alpha u + \int_{0}^{T} (\sum_{k=1}^{n} v_{k0}u_{k} + v_{c0}u_{c})d\tau_{2} \\ + (\sum_{k=1}^{n} u_{k} + u_{c})|_{\tau_{2}=T}, \quad \tau_{1} \in (T_{2},T_{3}), \quad t > 0, \\ \int_{\tau_{1}-T_{3}}^{T} (\sum_{k=1}^{n} v_{k0}u_{k} + v_{c0}u_{c})d\tau_{2} \\ + (\sum_{k=1}^{n} u_{k} + u_{c})|_{\tau_{2}=T}, \quad \tau_{1} \in (T_{3},T_{4}), \quad t > 0, \\ u|_{\tau_{1}=T} = \sum_{T_{2}}^{T} \sum_{k=1}^{n} ku_{k}|_{\tau_{2}=T}d\tau_{1}, \quad t \ge 0, \\ u|_{t=0} = u_{0}, \quad \tau_{1} \in [T,\infty), \\ u|_{\tau_{1}=T_{1}-0} = u|_{\tau_{1}=T_{1}+0}, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4, \quad t \ge 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f + \partial_{\tau_c} f = -\mathbf{v}_f f, \ \tau_c > T, \ t > 0, \\ f \big|_{\tau_c = T} = \int_{T_2}^{T_4} u_c \big|_{\tau_2 = T} d\tau_1, \quad t \ge 0, \\ f \big|_{t=0} = f_0, \quad \tau_c \in [T, \infty). \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

Here ∂_t and ∂_{τ_k} signify partial derivatives. We describe fraction α_{ck} by the function

$$\alpha_{ck}(t,\tau_1) = \frac{\int_{T_1}^{T_3} \beta_k(t,\tau_1,\tau_c) f(t,\tau_c) d\tau_c}{\int_{T_1}^{T_3} f(t,\tau_c) d\tau_c}.$$
(3.7)

The first term on the right-hand side in Eq. (3.5) is conditioned by individuals who produces offspring, the second and third terms are conditioned by individuals whose all young offspring die and who finish child care, respectively. The transition term $\sum_{s=0}^{k-1} v_{ks}u_k$ on the left-hand side in Eq. (3.4) is conditioned by individuals aged τ_1 at time *t* who take care of *k* young offspring and whose at least one young offspring dies. Similarly, the term on the right-hand side in this equation is conditioned by individuals aged τ_1 at time *t* who take care of more than $k, 1 \le k \le n-1$, young offspring aged τ_2 whose number after the death of the other offspring is equal to *k*. As follows from the foregoing, the given functions $v, v_k, v_{ks}, v_c, v_{c0}, v_f, \alpha_k, \alpha_{ck}, u_0, u_{k0}, u_{c0}, f_0$ must be positive supported. Constants T, T_1 , and T_3 are assumed to be given and positive. The assumptions $T < T_1, T < T_3 - T_1$ given in Section 2 are natural.

Densities of offspring of hosts and cuckoo we define by formulas

$$u(t,\tau_2) = \int_{T_1+\tau_2}^{T_3+\tau_2} \sum_{k=1}^n k u_k(t,\tau_1,\tau_2) d\tau_1, \quad f(t,\tau_2) = \int_{T_1+\tau_2}^{T_3+\tau_2} u_c(t,\tau_1,\tau_2) d\tau_1$$
(3.8)

where $\tau_2 \in [0, T]$.

4. Separable solutions to problem (1)–(7)

In this section we restrict ourselves to the case where the vital rates v, v_c , v_{c0} , v_f , v_k , v_{ks} , α_k , α_{ck} and β_k do not depend on t. We seek solutions of the form

$$\begin{cases}
u = Uv(\tau_1)\rho(t, \tau_1, \lambda), v(T) = 1, \\
u_k = Uv(\tau_1 - \tau_2)v_k(\tau_1, \tau_2)\rho(t, \tau_1, \lambda), \\
u_c = Uv(\tau_1 - \tau_2)v_c(\tau_1, \tau_2)\rho(t, \tau_1, \lambda), \\
f = Uw(\tau_c)\rho(t, \tau_c, \lambda),
\end{cases}$$
(4.1)

$$\begin{cases}
u_0 = Uv(\tau_1)\rho(0,\tau_1,\lambda), \\
u_{k0} = Uv(\tau_1 - \tau_2)v_k(\tau_1,\tau_2)\rho(0,\tau_1,\lambda) \\
u_{c0} = Uv(\tau_1 - \tau_2)v_c(\tau_1,\tau_2)\rho(0,\tau_1,\lambda) \\
f_0 = Uw(\tau_c)\rho(0,\tau_c,\lambda),
\end{cases}$$
(4.2)

where $\rho(t, \tau_1, \lambda) = \exp{\{\lambda(t - \tau_1 + T)\}}$, U > 0 is an arbitrary constant while constant λ and functions v, v_k, v_c , and w are to be determined. Obviously, separable solutions are the steady-state solutions if $\lambda = 0$, die if $\lambda < 0$, and grow if $\lambda > 0$.

Theorem 4.1. Let v and v_f , β_k , α_k , and functions v_k , v_{ks} , v_c , v_{c0} be positive in domains $[T, \infty)$, $[T_1, T_3] \times [T_1, T_3]$, $[T_1, T_3]$, and \overline{Q} , respectively, and let $\alpha < 1$ in $[T_1, T_3]$, $\beta_k < 1$ in $[T_1, T_3] \times [T_1, T_3]$.

If $\beta_k \in C^{1,0}([T_1,T_3] \times [T_1,T_3])$, v_k , v_{ks} , v_c , and $v_{c0} \in C^0(\overline{Q}) \cap C^{10}(Q)$, $\alpha_k \in C^0([T_1,T_3] \cap C^1(T_1,T_3))$, v and $v_f \in C^0[T,\infty)$, then system (1)–(7) has at least one class of positive separable solutions of type (4.1), (4.2).

If $\partial_{\tau_c}\beta_k = 0$ and $\beta_k \in C^0([T_1, T_3] \cap C^1((T_1, T_3)))$, then system (1)–(7) has only one class of positive separable solutions of type (4.1), (4.2). In both cases of β_k , v_c and $v_k \in C^0(\overline{Q}) \cap C^1(Q)$, k = 1, ..., n, $v \in C^0([T, \infty)) \cap C^1((T, \infty) \setminus \{T_1, T_2, T_3, T_4\})$.

Proof. Inserting Eqs. (4.1), (4.2) into (1)–(7) we derive equations for v_c , v_k , w, v,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau_1} v_c + \partial_{\tau_2} v_c + (v_c + v_{c0}) v_c = 0 & \text{in } Q, \\ v_c(\tau_1, 0) = \sum_{k=1}^n \alpha_k(\tau_1) q_k(\tau_1, \lambda), & \tau_1 \in (T_1, T_3), \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau_{1}}v_{n} + \partial_{\tau_{2}}v_{n} + \tilde{v}_{n}v_{n} = 0 & \text{in } Q, \\ \partial_{\tau_{1}}v_{k} + \partial_{\tau_{2}}v_{k} + \tilde{v}_{k}v_{k} = \sum_{s=k+1}^{n} v_{sk}v_{s}, & 1 \le k \le n-1 \text{ in } Q, \\ v_{k}(\tau_{1},0) = \alpha_{k}(1 - q_{k}(\tau_{1},\lambda)), & k = 1, \dots, n, \quad \tau_{1} \in (T_{1},T_{3}), \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

$$\begin{cases} w' = -v_f w & \text{in } (T, \infty) \\ T_3 \\ w(T) = \int \limits_{T_1} v(x) v_c(x+T, T) \exp\{-\lambda x\} dx, \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

$$v' + vv = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{in } (T, T_1) \cup (T_4, \infty), \quad v(T) = 1, \\ -\alpha v + \int\limits_{T_1}^{\tau_1} K(\tau_1, \tau_1 - x)v(x)dx & \text{in } (T_1, T_2), \\ -\alpha v + \int\limits_{\tau_1 - T}^{\tau_1} K(\tau_1, \tau_1 - x)v(x)dx + A(\tau_1)v(\tau_1 - T) \\ & \text{in } (T_2, T_3), \\ \int\limits_{\tau_1 - T}^{T_3} K(\tau_1, \tau_1 - x)v(x)dx + A(\tau_1)v(\tau_1 - T) & \text{in } (T_3, T_4), \\ v(T_i - 0) = v(T_i + 0), \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4, \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

and the characteristic equation for λ ,

$$\int_{T_1}^{T_3} \exp\{-\lambda x\} \sum_{k=1}^n k v_k (x+T,T) v(x) dx = 1$$
(4.7)

where

$$q_{k}(\tau_{1},\lambda) = \int_{T_{1}}^{T_{3}} \beta_{k}(\tau_{1},x)w(x)\exp\{-\lambda x\}dx \left(\int_{T_{1}}^{T_{3}} w(x)\exp\{-\lambda x\}dx\right)^{-1},$$

$$K(\tau_{1},\tau_{2},\lambda) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} v_{k0}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})v_{k}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2}) + v_{c0}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})v_{c}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2}),$$

$$A(\tau_{1},\lambda) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} v_{k}(\tau_{1},T) + v_{c}(\tau_{1},T).$$

Here and in what follows the prime indicates differentiation. We integrate Eq. (4.5) obtaining

$$w(\tau_c) = w(T) \exp\left\{-\int_T^{\tau_c} v_f(\xi) d\xi\right\}.$$
(4.8)

Therefore

$$q_k(\tau_1,\lambda) = \frac{\int_{T_1}^{T_3} \beta_k(\tau_1,x) \exp\{-\lambda x - \int_T^x \mathbf{v}_f(\xi) d\xi\} dx}{\int_{T_1}^{T_3} \exp\{-\lambda x - \int_T^x \mathbf{v}_f(\xi) d\xi\} dx}.$$

Then integrating Eqs. (4.3) and (4.4) we determine functions v_c and v_n ,

$$v_c(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \sum_{k=1}^n \alpha_k(\tau_1 - \tau_2) q_k(\tau_1 - \tau_2, \lambda) \times \exp\{-\int_0^{\tau_2} (v_c(x + \tau_1 - \tau_2, x) + v_{c0}(x + \tau_1 - \tau_2, x)) dx\},\tag{4.9}$$

$$v_n(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \alpha_n(\tau_1 - \tau_2)(1 - q_n(\tau_1 - \tau_2, \lambda)) \exp\left\{-\int_0^{\tau_2} \tilde{v}_n(x + \tau_1 - \tau_2, x) \, dx\right\}$$
(4.10)

and derive equations for v_k , k = 1, ..., n - 1,

$$v_{k}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2}) = \alpha_{k}(\tau_{1}-\tau_{2})(1-q_{k}(\tau_{1}-\tau_{2},\lambda))$$

$$\times \exp\{-\int_{0}^{\tau_{2}} \tilde{v}_{k}(x+\tau_{1}-\tau_{2},x)dx\} + \int_{0}^{\tau_{2}} \sum_{s=k+1}^{n} (v_{sk}v_{s})(y+\tau_{1}-\tau_{2},y)\exp\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{2}} \tilde{v}_{k}(x+\tau_{1}-\tau_{2},x)dx\}dy$$

$$(4.11)$$

Equation (4.11) can be solved in the recurrent way starting with k = n - 1 and using function (4.10). It is evident that v_c and $v_k \in$ $C^0(\overline{Q}) \cap C^1(Q), k = 1, ..., n.$ Now we solve Eq. (4.6). From (4.6)₁ for $\tau_1 \in [T, T_1]$ it follows that

$$v(\tau_1) = \exp\left\{-\int_T^{\tau_1} v(\xi) d\xi\right\}.$$

To determine v for $\tau_1 \in (T_1, T_2]$ we integrate Eq. (4.6)₂ together with the initial condition $v(T_1) = \exp\{-\int_T^{T_1} v(\xi) d\xi\}$ getting

$$v(\tau_1) = v(T_1) \exp\left\{-\int_{T_1}^{\tau_1} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))d\xi\right\} v(\tau_1) + \int_{T_1}^{\tau_1} \exp\left\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_1} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))d\xi\right\} dy \int_{T_1}^{y} K(y, y - x, \lambda)v(x)dx$$

Then changing the order of integration we reduce it to the Volterra type equation

$$\begin{cases} v(\tau_{1}) = v(T_{1}) \exp\{-\int_{T_{1}}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi)) d\xi\} \\ + \int_{T_{1}}^{\tau_{1}} v(x) dx \int_{x}^{\tau_{1}} K(y, y - x, \lambda) \exp\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi)) d\xi\} dy \end{cases}$$
(4.12)

which has a unique positive solution v for any finite λ .

To determine v in $(T_2, T_3]$ we have to solve Eq. (4.6)₃ with the initial value $v(T_2)$ determined by Eq. (4.12). Because of the retarded structure with delay T we consider this equation going with the step T along the axis τ_1 . For $\tau_1 \in [T_2 + sT, \min(T_2 + (s+1)T, T_3)), s = 0, 1, ...,$ we rewrite it in the form

$$\begin{cases} v(\tau_{1}) = v(T_{2} + sT) \exp\{-\int_{T_{2} + sT}^{\tau_{1}} \left(v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi)\right) d\xi\} \\ + \int_{T_{2} + sT}^{\tau_{1}} \exp\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} \left(v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi)\right) d\xi\} dy \int_{y - T}^{y} K(y, y - x, \lambda) v(x) dx \\ + \int_{T_{2} + sT}^{\tau_{1} - T} \exp\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} \left(v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi)\right) d\xi\} A(x + T, \lambda) v(x) dx. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.13)$$

Since $\{(x, y) : x \in [y - T, y], y \in [T_2 + sT, \tau_1]\} = D_1 \cup D_2 \cup D_3$, where

$$\begin{split} D_1 &= \{(x,y) : x \in [y-T,\tau_1-T], y \in [T_2+sT,\tau_1] \} \\ &= \{(x,y) : x \in [T_2+(s-1)T,\tau_1-T], y \in [T_2+sT,x+T] \}, \\ D_2 &= \{(x,y) : x \in [\tau_1-T,T_2+sT], y \in [T_2+sT,\tau_1] \}, \\ D_3 &= \{(x,y) : x \in [T_2+sT,y], y \in [T_2+sT,\tau_1] \} \\ &= \{(x,y) : x \in [T_2+sT,\tau_1], y \in [x,\tau_1] \}, \end{split}$$

the second term in the right-hand side of Eq. (4.13) can be written as follows:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{T_{2}+sT}^{\tau_{1}} \exp\left\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))d\xi\right\} dy \int_{y-T}^{y} K(y, y - x, \lambda)v(x)dx \\ &= \int_{T_{2}+(s-1)T}^{\tau_{1}-T} v(x)dx \int_{T_{2}+sT}^{x+T} K(y, y - x, \lambda) \exp\left\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))d\xi\right\} dy \\ &+ \int_{\tau_{1}-T}^{T_{2}+sT} v(x)dx \int_{T_{2}+sT}^{\tau_{1}} K(y, y - x, \lambda) \exp\left\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))d\xi\right\} dy \\ &+ \int_{T_{2}+sT}^{\tau_{1}} v(x)dx \int_{x}^{\tau_{1}} K(y, y - x, \lambda) \exp\left\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))d\xi\right\} dy. \end{split}$$

Denote

$$g_{s}(\tau_{1},\lambda) = v(T_{2}+sT) \exp\left\{-\int_{T_{2}+sT}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))d\xi\right\} + \int_{T_{2}+(s-1)T}^{\tau_{1}-T} A(x+T)v(x) \exp\left\{-\int_{x+T}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))\right\}d\xi$$
$$+ \int_{T_{2}+(s-1)T}^{\tau_{1}-T} v(x)dx \int_{T_{2}+sT}^{x+T} K(y,y-x,\lambda) \exp\left\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))d\xi\right\}dy$$
$$+ \int_{\tau_{1}-T}^{T_{2}+sT} v(x)dx \int_{T_{2}+sT}^{\tau_{1}} K(y,y-x,\lambda) \exp\left\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi))d\xi\right\}dy$$

and rewrite Eq. (4.13) in the Volterra form

$$v(\tau_1) = g_s(\tau_1, \lambda) + \int_{T_2 + sT}^{\tau_1} v(x) dx \int_x^{\tau_1} K(y, y - x, \lambda) \exp\left\{-\int_y^{\tau_1} (v(\xi) + \alpha(\xi)) d\xi\right\} dy$$
(4.14)

for $\tau_1 \in [T_2 + sT, \min(T_2 + (s+1)T, T_3)]$.

Starting with s = 0 and using the recurrent way we first determine $g_s(\tau_1, \lambda)$ and then solve Volterra Eq. (4.14) getting $v \in C^0([T_2, T_3])$. It is evident that $v \in C^1(T_2 + sT, \min(T_2 + (s+1)T, T_3))$ for every fixed *s*. Direct calculation shows that v' is continuous at points $T_2 + sT < T_3$ with s > 1.

Then we solve Eq. (4.6)₄ for $\tau_1 \in (T_3, T_4]$ with known the right hand side to get

$$v(\tau_{1}) = v(T_{3}) \exp\left\{-\int_{T_{3}}^{\tau_{1}} v(\xi)d\xi\right\} + \int_{T_{3}}^{\tau_{1}} \exp\left\{-\int_{y}^{\tau_{1}} v(\xi)d\xi\right\} dy \int_{y-T}^{T_{3}} K(y, y - x, \lambda)v(x)dx$$

+
$$\int_{T_{3}-T}^{\tau_{1}-T} \exp\left\{-\int_{y+T}^{\tau_{1}} v(\xi)d\xi\right\} A(y + T, \lambda)v(y)dy.$$

For $\tau_1 > T_4$ we solve Eq. (4.6)₁ to get $v(\tau_1) = v(T_4) \exp\{-\int_{T_4}^{\tau_1} v(\xi) d\xi\}$. From Eqs. (4.5)₂ and (4.9) we get

$$w(T) = \int_{T_1}^{T_3} v(x) \sum_{k=1}^n \alpha_k(x) q_k(x, \lambda) \exp\left\{-\lambda x - \int_0^T (v_c(\xi, \xi) + v_{c0}(\xi, \xi)) d\xi\right\} dx$$

where v is determined by Eqs. (4.12) and (4.14). It is evident that

$$v \in C^0([T,\infty)) \cap C^1((T,\infty) \setminus \{T_1, T_2, T_3, T_4\}).$$

At last, inserting v_k and v determined above into Eq. (4.7) we derive an equation for λ ,

$$L(\lambda) = 1, L(\lambda) := \int_{T_1}^{T_3} e^{-\lambda x} \sum_{k=1}^n k v_k (x+T, T) v(x) dx.$$
(4.15)

If β_k is independent of τ_c , then q_k is independent of λ too. Hence, $q_k = \beta_k(\tau_1)$. Therefore, v, v_k , and v_c do not depend on λ as well. Because of the monotonicity in λ and since $L \to \infty$ as $\lambda \to -\infty$ and $L \to 0$ as $\lambda \to \infty$ Eq. (4.15) has a unique real root λ_0 such that $\lambda_0 < 0$, if L(0) < 1 (in this case cuckoo and host bird populations die), $\lambda_0 = 0$, if L(0) = 1 (both populations die), and $\lambda_0 > 0$, if L(0) > 1 (both populations grow).

In the case where $\partial_{\tau_c} \beta_k \neq 0$, we have

$$0 < \beta_{k*} = \min_{[T_1, T_3] \times [T_1, T_3]} \beta_k < q_k(\tau_1, \lambda) < \max_{[T_1, T_3] \times [T_1, T_3]} \beta_k = \beta_k^* < 1$$

Let $v_c^*(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ and $v_{c*}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ be functions defined by Eq. (4.9) with q_k replaced by β_k^* and β_{k*} , respectively. Let $v_k^*(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ and $v_{k*}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$, k = 1, 2, ..., n, be functions defined by Eqs. (4.10) and (4.11) with q_k replaced by β_{k*} and β_k^* , respectively. Then $v_{c*} < v_c < v_c^*$ and $v_{k*} < v_k < v_k^*$. Hence,

$$\begin{split} &K_*(\tau_1,\tau_2) := \sum_{k=1}^n v_{k0}(\tau_1,\tau_2) v_{k*}(\tau_1,\tau_2) + v_{c0}(\tau_1,\tau_2) v_{c*}(\tau_1,\tau_2) < K(\tau_1,\tau_2,\lambda) \\ &< K^*(\tau_1,\tau_2) := \sum_{k=1}^n v_{k0}(\tau_1,\tau_2) v_k * (\tau_1,\tau_2) + v_{c0}(\tau_1,\tau_2) v_c * (\tau_1,\tau_2), \\ &A_*(\tau_1) := \sum_{k=1}^n v_{k*}(\tau_1,T) + v_{c*}(\tau_1,T) < A(\tau_1,\lambda) \\ &< A^*(\tau_1) := \sum_{k=1}^n v_k * (\tau_1,T) + v_c * (\tau_1,T). \end{split}$$

Then we solve Eqs. (4.12) and (4.14) with $K(\tau_1, \tau_2, \lambda)$, $A(\tau_1, \lambda)$ replaced by $K_*(\tau_1, \tau_2)$, $A_*(\tau_1)$ and $K^*(\tau_1, \tau_2)$, $A^*(\tau_1)$ getting v_* and v^* , respectively, for $\tau_1 \in [T_1, T_3]$. Obviously, $v_* < v < v^*$.

Therefore,

$$L_*(\lambda) := \int_{T_1}^{T_3} e^{-\lambda x} \sum_{k=1}^n k v_{k*}(x+T,T) v_*(x) dx < L(\lambda)$$
$$< L^*(\lambda) := \int_{t_1}^{T_3} e^{-\lambda x} \sum_{k=1}^n k v^{k*}(x+T,T) v^*(x) dx.$$

These equations show that Eq. (4.15) has at least one real root λ . Moreover, $\lambda > 0$, if $L_*(0) > 1$, and $\lambda < 0$, if $L^*(0) < 1$. The proof is complete.

Knowing $v, v_c, v_k, k = 1, ..., n$, we determine densities of cuckoo and host chicks of age $\tau_2 \leq T$ by formulas (3.8),

$$f(t,\tau_2) = U \int_{T_1}^{T_3} v(x) v_c(x+\tau_2,\tau_2) \exp\{\lambda(t-x+T-\tau_2)\} dx,$$

$$u(t,\tau_2) = U \int_{T_1}^{T_3} v(x) \sum_{k=1}^n k v_k (x+\tau_2,\tau_2) \exp\{\lambda(t-x+T-\tau_2)\} dx.$$

5. Conclusions

The rather generic phenomenological model for Common Cuckoo interaction with the other bird species is presented. The model is composed of a system of integro-partial differential equations. All individuals have pre-reproductive, reproductive, and post-reproductive age intervals. Individuals of reproductive age are divided into single and those who care of young offspring. Individuals of pre-reproductive age are divided into young (under maternal care) and juvenile classes. Juveniles can live without maternal care but cannot produce their offspring.

In the case of special initial distributions, the existence of separable solutions of type (4.1) is proved. The conditions for the convergence of separable solutions to a steady-state solution, populations death and growth are given. The solvability of the model for the initial distributions of a general type is an open problem.

References

- T.R. Birkhead, N. Hemmings, C.N. Spottiswoode, O. Mikulica, C. Moskát, M. Ban, K. Schulze-Hagen, Internal incubation and early hatching in brood parasitic birds, Proc. Biol. Sci., vol. 278(1708), pp 1019–1024, 2011.
 R.B. Payne, Avian brood parasitism. In D.H. Clayton and J. Moore (eds.), Host-parasite evolution: General principles and avian models, Oxford University
- R.B. Payne, Avian brood parasitism. In D.H. Clayton and J. Moore (eds.), Host-parasite evolution: General principles and avian models, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 338–369, 1997.
 R.A. Robinson, Cuckoo Cuculus Canorus. BirdFacts: Profiles of Birds Occurring in Britain and Ireland. British Trust for Ornithology. BTO Research
- [4] V. Skakauskas, A one-sex population dynamics model with discrete set of offsprings and child care, Nonlinear Analysis: Modelling and Control, vol. 13,
- [4] V. Skakauskas, A one-sex population dynamics model with discrete set of onsprings and child care, Nonlinear Analysis: Modeling and Control, vol. 15, no. 4, pp 525-552, 2008.

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



Modeling of fiber circumplacement around a hole using a streamline approach

Stefan Hartmann^{a*} and Ali Kheiri Marghzar^a

^aInstitute of Applied Mechanics, Clausthal University of Technology, Adolph-Roemer-Str. 2a, 38678 Clausthal-Zellerfeld, Germany * Stefan Hartmann E-mail: stefan.hartmann@tu-clausthal.de

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords:Borehole,Composite,Streamline,Finite element analysis,Transverse isotropy2010AMS:97Mxx,74Bxx,74E10Received:25 February 2018Accepted:06 March 2018Available online:11 March 2018

The insertion of holes into laminates can be done by producing a fiber reinforced composite plate and, subsequently, drilling the borehole. Alternatively, we can bypass the fibers around the final hole before injecting the matrix material. In the first case, the spatial distribution of the axis of anisotropy, and the structural tensor concerned, are spatially constant. In the second case, i.e. the fiber circumplacement around the hole, a space-dependent anisotropy has to be considered. Instead of the common approach of defining region-wise constant fiber orientations, we propose a continuous formulation of fiber orientations using streamlines. To estimate the final stress and strain state for a unidirectional composite plate, three-dimensional finite element simulations are performed, where spatially constant transverse isotropy is compared to inhomogeneously distributed fiber orientation around the hole. It will turn out that the resulting stress states lead to both reduced stress amplitudes in loading direction as well as compressive strains in lateral direction. A detailed mathematical derivation of the basic equations accompanies the investigations.

1. Introduction

One possibility to produce laminates is to use one fiber direction. In this respect, woven fabrics are out the scope of the subsequent, first investigations. To compute a homogenized stress distribution, it is convenient to draw on linear elasticity for transverse isotropy for such kind of unidirectional laminates, see, for example, [1, 2], and, for a brief overview, [3]. These works go back to the fundamental contribution of [4]. In the field of small deformation, there exist a number of contributions, see, for example, [5, 6, 7, 8, 9]. There is a new area of applications of transverse isotropy, namely the field of biomechanics, since several soft tissues show this kind of anisotropic behavior, [10, 11, 12, 13, 14]. For particular descriptions, see [15, 16, 17]. Since there are only a very few analytical solutions (making sense for code verification purposes), numerical methods have to be chosen. Here, the finite element method is the most common approach. However, there might be also difficulties for low order elements. Regarding numerical difficulties, such as locking effects due to constraints in fiber direction under particular loading conditions, see [18, 19] and the literature cited therein. In our contribution fine meshes and quadratic shape functions are chosen to minimize numerical problems.

Fiber-reinforced plates must be connected to other structural elements, which is sometimes done using skews or rivets. Frequently, holes are drilled into the final plate so that some fibers are cut. To circumvent this, a suitable possibility is given by bypassing fibers around the hole in advance, i.e. during the production process.

Different methods have been developed for defining fiber orientation to investigate different issues of plates with a hole. Regarding stiffening laminates and to achieve variable stiffness in specimens, see [20, 21]. Detailed research is available to optimize the fiber orientation near a hole, path optimization of laminated composite structures, and to find the optimal fiber angle distribution, see [22, 23, 24, 25]. [26, 27] study problems in buckling, failure, and vibration in laminates reinforced by curvilinear fibers. For more studies on stress, strain, fracture, and the influence of the thickness distribution in a ply with variable fiber angles, see [28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34]. Commonly, the works treat fiber orientation defined with piece-wise functions, see [24], or by element-wise formulations, see [27, 23].

In this study, fiber orientation is presented by using streamline function in fluid mechanics to obtain continuously distributed fiber orientations. Thus, we are interested in modeling both approaches using finite elements, where for the bypass approach a fiber orientation model using streamline theory around a circular cylinder is proposed. Finally, the results of the computations with uniform fiber orientation and the bypass-approach are compared.

The article is structured as follows: first, the constitutive model of transverse isotropy for the small strain case is derived from the large strain theory by geometrical linearization. Afterwards, we propose the streamline model to describe how fiber directions lie around a circular hole. Finally, finite element simulations are provided, where the stress and strain states for small strain applications are compared. The notation in use is defined in the following manner: geometrical vectors are symbolized by \vec{a} , second-order tensors **A** by bold-faced Roman letters, and calligraphic letters \mathscr{A} define fourth order tensors. Furthermore, we introduce matrices by bold-faced Roman letters **A**.

2. Constitutive model of transverse isotropy

In the following, we motivate the model of transverse isotropy for linear elasticity and a small strain theory. Afterwards, a model for a fiber orientation around a hole is proposed, which is based on the theory of streamlines.

2.1. Basic equations

Frequently, constitutive equations for transverse isotropy of an elastic material are modeled using a strain-energy function depending on the Green strain tensor $\mathbf{E} = (1/2)(\mathbf{F}^T \mathbf{F} - \mathbf{I})$, or, alternatively, on the right Cauchy-Green tensor $\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{F}^T \mathbf{F}$, and a structural tensor \mathbf{M} containing the information of the fiber orientation

$$\tilde{\mathbf{T}} = \rho_{\mathrm{R}} \frac{\partial \psi(\mathbf{E}, \mathbf{M})}{\partial \mathbf{E}} = 2\rho_{\mathrm{R}} \frac{\partial \overline{\psi}(\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{M})}{\partial \mathbf{C}}.$$
(1)

 $\mathbf{F}(\vec{X},t) = \operatorname{Grad} \vec{\chi}_{R}(\vec{X},t)$ represents the deformation gradient of the motion $\vec{x} = \vec{\chi}_{R}(\vec{X},t)$, where the material point \vec{X} occupies the spatial position \vec{x} at time t. $\mathbf{I} = \delta_{ij}\vec{e}_i \otimes \vec{e}_j$ defines the second order identity tensor. In the case of transverse isotropy the structural tensor reads $\mathbf{M} = \vec{a} \otimes \vec{a}$, where $\vec{a}(\vec{X})$ defines the orientation of the fiber direction with the property $\|\vec{a}\| = 1$. \mathbf{T} symbolizes the second Piola-Kirchhoff stress tensor, which is related to the (true) Cauchy stress tensor \mathbf{T} by $\mathbf{T} = (\det \mathbf{F})\mathbf{F}^{-1}\mathbf{T}\mathbf{F}^{-T}$. ρ_{R} represents the density in reference configuration. The dependence of the strain energy function is not arbitrary but consists of particular number of invariants,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{T}} = \rho_{\mathsf{R}} \frac{\partial \hat{\psi}(\mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{E}}, \mathbf{II}_{\mathsf{E}}, \mathbf{III}_{\mathsf{E}}, \mathbf{IV}_{\mathsf{E}}, \mathbf{V}_{\mathsf{E}})}{\partial \mathbf{E}} = 2\rho_{\mathsf{R}} \frac{\partial \hat{\psi}(\mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{C}}, \mathbf{II}_{\mathsf{C}}, \mathbf{IV}_{\mathsf{C}}, \mathbf{V}_{\mathsf{C}})}{\partial \mathsf{C}},\tag{2}$$

which are defined by

$$\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} = \operatorname{tr} \mathbf{E}, \ \mathbf{II}_{\mathbf{E}} = \operatorname{tr} \mathbf{E}^{2}, \ \mathbf{III}_{\mathbf{E}} = \operatorname{tr} \mathbf{E}^{3}, \ \mathbf{IV}_{\mathbf{E}} = \operatorname{tr} (\mathbf{E}\mathbf{M}) = \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{M}, \ \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} = \operatorname{tr} (\mathbf{E}^{2}\mathbf{M}) = \mathbf{E}^{2} \cdot \mathbf{M},$$
(3)

$$\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{C}} = \operatorname{tr} \mathbf{C}, \\ \mathbf{II}_{\mathbf{C}} = \operatorname{tr} \mathbf{C}^{2}, \\ \mathbf{III}_{\mathbf{C}} = \operatorname{tr} \mathbf{C}^{3}, \\ \mathbf{IV}_{\mathbf{C}} = \operatorname{tr} (\mathbf{C}\mathbf{M}) = \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{M}, \\ \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{C}} = \operatorname{tr} (\mathbf{C}^{2}\mathbf{M}) = \mathbf{C}^{2} \cdot \mathbf{M},$$

$$\tag{4}$$

see [4, 35]. The invariants of the Green strain and right Cauchy-Green tensor are related by

$$\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{C}} = 2\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + 3, \quad \mathbf{II}_{\mathbf{C}} = 4\mathbf{II}_{\mathbf{E}} + 4\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + 3, \quad \mathbf{III}_{\mathbf{C}} = 8\mathbf{III}_{\mathbf{E}} + 8\mathbf{II}_{\mathbf{E}} + 6\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + 3, \quad \mathbf{IV}_{\mathbf{C}} = 2\mathbf{I}\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} + 1, \quad \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{C}} = 4\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} + 4\mathbf{I}\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} + 1, \quad \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{C}} = 4\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + 4\mathbf{I}\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} + 1, \quad \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{C}} = 4\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + 4\mathbf{I}\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} + 1, \quad \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{C}} = 4\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + 4\mathbf{I}\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} + 1, \quad \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{C}} = 4\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + 4\mathbf{I}\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} + 1, \quad \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{C}} = 4\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + 4\mathbf{$$

or vice versa

$$I_{\mathbf{E}} = \frac{1}{2}(I_{\mathbf{C}} - 3), \quad II_{\mathbf{E}} = \frac{1}{4}(II_{\mathbf{C}} - 2I_{\mathbf{C}} + 3), \quad III_{\mathbf{E}} = \frac{1}{8}(III_{\mathbf{C}} - 2II_{\mathbf{C}} + I_{\mathbf{C}}), \quad IV_{\mathbf{E}} = \frac{1}{2}(IV_{\mathbf{C}} - 1), \quad V_{\mathbf{E}} = \frac{1}{4}(V_{\mathbf{C}} - 2IV_{\mathbf{C}} + 1).$$

Since we are interested in formulating a constitutive model for small strains, we draw on the formulation using the Green strain tensor E. Applying the chain rule on Eq.(2)₁ yields

$$\tilde{\mathbf{T}} = \rho_{\mathrm{R}} \left(\frac{\partial \hat{\psi}}{\partial I_{\mathrm{E}}} \mathbf{I} + \frac{\partial \hat{\psi}}{\partial \Pi_{\mathrm{E}}} \mathbf{E} + \frac{\partial \hat{\psi}}{\partial \Pi_{\mathrm{E}}} \mathbf{E}^{2} + \frac{\partial \hat{\psi}}{\partial I_{\mathrm{V}_{\mathrm{E}}}} \mathbf{M} + \frac{\partial \hat{\psi}}{\partial V_{\mathrm{E}}} (\mathbf{E}\mathbf{M} + \mathbf{M}\mathbf{E}) \right).$$
(5)

To obtain a linear elastic, small strain theory, which is fully appropriate in our application, several assumptions are introduced:

1. First, the Green strain tensor has to be linearized in view of the displacement gradient $\mathbf{H} = \text{Grad } \vec{u}(\vec{X},t)$ with $\vec{u}(\vec{X},t) = \vec{\chi}_{\mathbf{R}}(\vec{X},t) - \vec{X}$,

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{H} + \mathbf{H}^T + \mathbf{H}^T \mathbf{H}) = \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{H} + \mathbf{H}^T) + \mathcal{O}(\|\mathbf{H}\|^2),$$
(6)

i.e. the quadratic term is omitted, see [36, 37].

2. Since we are interested in a theory of small displacements, it is assumed that there is no distinction between the spatial coordinates \vec{x} and the coordinates in the reference configuration \vec{X} . Thus, the linearized Green strain tensor reads

$$\mathbf{E}_{\mathrm{L}}(\vec{x},t) = \frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{grad} \vec{u}(\vec{x},t) + \operatorname{grad}^{T} \vec{u}(\vec{x},t)) \approx \mathbf{E},\tag{7}$$

implying that we have small displacements and small strains, i.e. $\vec{x} \approx \vec{X}$, $\vec{u}(\vec{X},t) = \vec{u}(\vec{x},t)$. There is no distinction of the configurations and all material properties are assigned to a spatial point \vec{x} . In the following, we omit the index L for brevity.

3. If we are interested in a linear theory, i.e. the resulting stress state \mathbf{T} depends linearly on the strain state \mathbf{E} , and the strain-energy function (5) must quadratically depend on the strain tensor \mathbf{E} . This is given by

$$\psi(\mathbf{E}, \mathbf{M}) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}}^2 + \mu_T \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + \alpha \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} \mathbf{I} \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} + 2(\mu_L - \mu_T) \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}} + \frac{\beta}{2} \mathbf{I} \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}}^2.$$
(8)

There cannot be a dependence on the third invariant III_E , which automatically leads to a non-linear elastic material, see [4, 1, 2].

4. The stresses have the tendency to become equal for very small strains. Thus, we do not distinct between different stress measures, $\tilde{T} \rightarrow T$. Accordingly, we arrive at the final stress state applying Eq.(2)₁

$$\mathbf{T} = \rho_{\mathbf{R}} \left((\lambda \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + \alpha \mathbf{I} \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}}) \mathbf{I} + 2\mu_{T} \mathbf{E} + (\alpha \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{E}} + \beta \mathbf{I} \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}}) \mathbf{M} + 2(\mu_{L} - \mu_{T}) (\mathbf{E} \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{M} \mathbf{E}) \right).$$
(9)

5. Frequently, the product of the density in the reference configuration with the material parameters is omitted so that the density is not visible in the final expression, i.e. we define

$$\leftarrow \rho_{\mathsf{R}}\lambda, \quad \mu_{T} \leftarrow \rho_{\mathsf{R}}\mu_{T}, \quad \mu_{L} \leftarrow \rho_{\mathsf{R}}\mu_{L}, \quad \alpha \leftarrow \rho_{\mathsf{R}}\alpha, \quad \beta \leftarrow \rho_{\mathsf{R}}\beta. \tag{10}$$

Using all these assumptions lead to a particular expression, where elasticity relation (9) can be expressed by a fourth order elasticity tensor \mathscr{C} . To show this, we need the relations

$$(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{C})\mathbf{A} = (\mathbf{A} \otimes \mathbf{B})\mathbf{C}, \quad \mathbf{A}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{B}^T = [\mathbf{A} \otimes \mathbf{B}]^{T_{23}}\mathbf{C}, \tag{11}$$

see, for example, [38, 39, 35], yielding

λ

$$\mathbf{T} = \mathscr{C}\mathbf{E} \tag{12}$$

with

$$\mathscr{C} = \lambda \mathbf{I} \otimes \mathbf{I} + 2\mu_T \mathscr{I} + \alpha [\mathbf{I} \otimes \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{M} \otimes \mathbf{I}] + \beta \mathbf{M} \otimes \mathbf{M} + 2(\mu_L - \mu_T) [\mathbf{I} \otimes \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{M} \otimes \mathbf{I}]^{T_{23}}.$$
(13)

 $\mathscr{I} = [\mathbf{I} \otimes \mathbf{I}]^{T_{23}} = \delta_{ik} \delta_{jl} \vec{e}_i \otimes \vec{e}_j \otimes \vec{e}_k \otimes \vec{e}_l \text{ is the fourth order identity tensor, } \mathbf{A} = \mathscr{I} \mathbf{A}. \text{ The symbolic } \mathscr{A}^{T_{23}} \text{ implies the transposition of second and third index, i.e. for } \mathscr{A} = a_{ijkl} \vec{e}_i \otimes \vec{e}_j \otimes \vec{e}_k \otimes \vec{e}_l \text{ we obtain } \mathscr{A}^{T_{23}} = a_{ikjl} \vec{e}_i \otimes \vec{e}_j \otimes \vec{e}_k \otimes \vec{e}_l. \text{ For } \vec{a} = \vec{e}_1, \text{ the Voigt notation of Eq.(13) is compiled in Appendix B.}$

2.2. Model of fiber orientation

To obtain a function with continuously distributed fibers, which move around a circular hole in the vicinity of the hole, we lend ideas of streamlines in Fluid Mechanics. In [40] the streamlines are defined by

$$\Psi = U_{\infty} \sin \theta \left(r - \frac{R^2}{r} \right) - k \frac{\log r}{R}.$$
(14)

We set k = 0, $a = \psi/U_{\infty}$, $x = r \cos \theta$, and $y = r \sin \theta$ to arrive at

$$g(x,y,a) = y^3 - ay^2 + (x^2 - R^2)y - ax^2 = 0$$
(15)

representing a cubic polynomial in y. There are three solutions, two conjugate complex and one real. We are only interested in the real solution yielding

$$\hat{y}(x,a) = \frac{1}{6} \left(2^{2/3} \sqrt[3]{2a^3} + \sqrt{\left(2a^3 + 9aR^2 + 18ax^2\right)^2 - 4\left(a^2 + 3(R-x)(R+x)\right)^3} + 9aR^2 + 18ax^2 + \frac{2\left(a^2 + 3(R-x)(R+x)\right)}{\sqrt[3]{a^3} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\left(2a^3 + 9aR^2 + 18ax^2\right)^2 - 4\left(a^2 + 3(R-x)(R+x)\right)^3} + \frac{9aR^2}{2} + 9ax^2} + 2a} \right).$$
(16)

In Fig. 1(b) the orientation lines are shown for different *a*. The arbitrary factor *a* is adapted in such a manner that it has a geometrical meaning, which is discussed in the following. The function (16) should have the value $\hat{y}(x^*, a^*) = y^* \sim a^*$. This constraint is fulfilled for

$$a^* = \frac{(x^{*2} - R^2)y^* + y^{*3}}{x^{*2} + y^{*2}}.$$
(17)

This parameter can be inserted into Eq.(15),

$$f(x,y) := g(x,y,a^*) \tag{18}$$

which can be evaluated, see Fig. 1(b), with $x^* = x$ and $y^* = y$. Thus, continuously distributed orientations are achieved. To obtain the tangent vector at the orientation function, we have to differentiate the position vector

$$\vec{r} = x\vec{e}_x + \hat{y}(x)\vec{e}_y,\tag{19}$$

with respect to the arc-length, which can be chosen in the case of functions equivalent to x. Instead of applying Eq.(16), we apply the chain rule to Eq.(18),

$$f(x,\hat{y}(x)) = 0, \qquad f_{,x} + f_{,y} \hat{y}'(x) = 0 \quad \to \quad \hat{y}'(x) = -f_{,x} / f_{,y}, \tag{20}$$

which is a much simpler expression than using Eq.(16). Here, we draw on the abbreviations $f_{,x} := \partial f(x,y)/\partial x$ and $f_{,y} := \partial f(x,y)/\partial y$. The tangent vector at the orientation function reads

$$\vec{t}(x) = \frac{\partial \vec{r}}{\partial x} = \vec{e}_x + \hat{y}'(x)\vec{e}_y = \vec{e}_x - f_{,x}/f_{,y}\vec{e}_y.$$
(21)



(a) Basic sketch of uniformly distributed fibers, where borehole is applied after production process, and circumplacement of fibers around the hole during the production process

(b) Orientation lines using streamline functions

Figure 1: Orientation distribution of fibers

To obtain a unit vector at a point $x = x^*$ and $y = y^*$

$$\vec{a}(x^*, y^*) = \frac{\vec{t}(x^*)}{|\vec{t}(x^*)|}\Big|_{x=x^*, y=y^*},$$
(22)

with

$$|\vec{t}(x)| = \sqrt{1 + f_{xx}^2 f_{y}^{-2}} = \sqrt{f_{yy}^{-2}} \sqrt{f_{xx}^2 + f_{yy}^2}.$$
(23)

Thus, the final unit tangent vector reads

$$\vec{a} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{,x}^{2} + f_{,y}^{2}}} \left(\sqrt{f_{,y}^{2}} \vec{e}_{x} - f_{,x} \frac{\sqrt{f_{,y}^{2}}}{f_{,y}} \vec{e}_{y} \right),$$
(24)

which has to be evaluated at point $x = x^*$ and $y = y^*$. The superscript * can be omitted leading to the simple expressions

$$f_{,x} = 2x(y-a), \quad f_{,y} = x^2 - R^2 - 2ay + 3y^2$$
(25)

with

$$a = \frac{(x^2 - R^2)y + y^3}{x^2 + y^2}.$$
(26)

3. Finite element studies

In the following, we compare two computations of a plate with a hole having a radius of R = 10 mm. The plate is subjected to a displacement load of $u(100, y) = \overline{u}_x = 0.01$ mm. It is meshed using 20-noded, isoparametric hexahedral elements with $(3 \times 3 \times 3)$ Gauss-points. For the geometry and the mesh, see Fig. 2. Here, only one-eighth of the plate is discretized due to symmetry conditions, see Fig. 2(b). The material parameters are lend from [4], $\lambda = 5.64$ N mm⁻², $\mu_T = 2.46$ N mm⁻², $\alpha = -1.27$ N mm⁻², $\beta = 227.29$ N mm⁻², $\mu_L = 5.66$ N mm⁻². In the first computation, we choose the spatially constant fiber orientation $\vec{a} = \vec{e}_x$ (homogeneous distribution of fiber orientation, in the following called *uni-directional*). In the second example, the fiber orientation of Eq.(24) is used, which is represented by the tangent vectors to the coordinate lines shown in Fig. 1(b). This is called *bypass*. Since this computation has the disadvantage to generate a singularity at point (x, y, z) = (R, 0, z) generating arbitrary stresses close to this point – transition of circle to horizontal line –, we consider an improvement, see Fig. 3. A polynomial of third order is used to distinct a region, where no fibers are (below this polynomial), and the region using fiber orientation of Eq.(24). This computation, where the stiffness in y-direction is essentially weaker, is called *bypass-reduced*. The polynomial starts at point $(x, y) = (3\sqrt{5}, 5)$ and ends at point (x, y) = (15, 0). Its slopes are the same as of the circle on the left, and zero on the right. Inside the small region, we take only the isotropic part of the elasticity relation (13) – first two terms of the elasticity tensor. In the following, we study the stress and strain states in two computations (unidirectional and bypassed-reduced). We evaluate the stresses σ_{xx} at x = 0 and z = 1 (vertical axis), $\sigma_{xx}(0, y, 1)$, see Fig. 4(a), and the stresses in vertical direction at the horizontal symmetry plane,

 $\sigma_{vv}(x,0,1)$, see Fig. 4(b). The plots are generated using GiD, where interpolation schemes transfer Gauss-point information to nodal



Figure 2: Geometry, mesh, and boundary conditions



Figure 3: Region with purely isotropic material (bypass-reduced)

points. Obviously, the highest horizontal stresses are produced by a pure uniformly distributed fiber directions at point (x, y) = (0, R). Very promising results are obtained for the "bypass-reduced"-simulation, where the stresses σ_{xx} do not show such large amplitudes in this region (more than three times smaller).

Similar results are obtained for the strains, see Fig. 5. However, we obtain larger compressive strains ε_{yy} for the bypass-reduced computation compared to the purely unidirectional reinforcement. However, negative strains are not so critical as tensile strains. Thus, promising results are obtained.

In Appendix C the entire stress and strain distributions are assembled.

4. Conclusions

In this paper, we investigate the stress and strain distribution of unidirectional and inhomogeneous fiber directions around a hole, which is of interest in manufacturing processes. The circumplacement of fibers is modeled using streamline function to obtain the inhomogeneous fiber direction, which can be evaluated in finite element simulations of transversely isotropic material. The comparison shows a promising results, namely, that the stresses are essentially reduced around the hole. However, compressive strains, vertical to the loading directions, increase, which can be seen as not so dramatic then tensile strains. Further investigations and comparisons to experimental data have to be followed.

A. Voigt-notation of transversal isotropy

In the following, the tensorial notation is transferred into matrix notation so that no unnecessary computation should be performed. This is connected to the term *Voigt*-notation. Particularly, this is caused by the property of symmetry of the stress and strain tensor. Additionally, the scalar product in the principle of virtual displacements leads to a specific representation of the vector containing the independent strain tensor components leading to a symmetric elasticity matrix.

The (coefficients of the) components of the stress and strain tensor

$$\mathbf{T} = \begin{bmatrix} T_{11} & T_{12} & T_{31} \\ T_{22} & T_{23} \\ \text{sym.} & T_{33} \end{bmatrix} \vec{e}_i \otimes \vec{e}_j, \quad \mathbf{E} = \begin{bmatrix} E_{11} & E_{12} & E_{31} \\ E_{22} & E_{23} \\ \text{sym.} & E_{33} \end{bmatrix} \vec{e}_i \otimes \vec{e}_j$$

are assembled into column vectors

$$\mathbf{T}^{T} = \{T_{11} \ T_{22} \ T_{33} \ T_{12} \ T_{23} \ T_{31}\}, \quad \tilde{\mathbf{E}}^{T} = \{E_{11} \ E_{22} \ E_{33} \ E_{12} \ E_{23} \ E_{31}\}$$



Figure 4: Stresses σ_{xx} and σ_{yy} at the vertical and the horizontal symmetry lines

To describe the influence of incorporating the symmetry properties into matrix formulation, we perform to steps: first, the tensorial quantities are transferred into (9×1) and (9×9) -matrices, respectively. In this context, we treat the product (12) leading to

The symmetry of the stress tensor implies that the last three equations are the same as equations 4 to 6:

$$\begin{cases} T_{11} \\ T_{22} \\ T_{33} \\ T_{12} \\ T_{23} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{312} \\ T_{313} \\ T_{31$$

Now, we incorporate the symmetry of the strain tensor, $E_{12} = E_{21}$, $E_{23} = E_{32}$, $E_{31} = E_{13}$,

$$\begin{cases} T_{11} \\ T_{22} \\ T_{33} \\ T_{12} \\ T_{23} \\ T_{31} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{1111} & C_{1122} & C_{1133} & C_{1112} + C_{1121} & C_{1123} + C_{1132} & C_{113} + C_{1113} \\ C_{2211} & C_{2222} & C_{2233} & C_{2212} + C_{2221} & C_{2223} + C_{2231} \\ C_{3311} & C_{3322} & C_{3333} & C_{3312} + C_{3321} & C_{3323} + C_{3313} \\ C_{1211} & C_{1222} & C_{1233} & C_{1212} + C_{1221} & C_{1223} + C_{1223} & C_{1231} + C_{2131} \\ C_{3311} & C_{3222} & C_{3333} & C_{3112} + C_{321} & C_{3223} + C_{3332} & C_{3331} + C_{313} \\ C_{3111} & C_{3122} & C_{3133} & C_{3112} + C_{3121} & C_{3123} + C_{3132} & C_{3131} + C_{3133} \\ C_{3111} & C_{3122} & C_{3133} & C_{3112} + C_{3122} & C_{3123} + C_{3133} \\ \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} E_{11} \\ E_{22} \\ E_{33} \\ E_{12} \\ E_{23} \\ E_{31} \\ E_{31} \end{pmatrix}$$
(29)

In other words, we obtain the representation $\mathbf{T} = \tilde{\mathbf{C}}\tilde{\mathbf{E}}$, with $\mathbf{T} \in \mathbb{R}^6$, $\tilde{\mathbf{E}} \in \mathbb{R}^6$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{C}} \in \mathbb{R}^{6 \times 6}$. The arrangement of the coefficients of a fourth order tensor into the matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{C}}$ depends on the original calculation. For example, in the elasticity relation (13) we different products. First, we look at a product $\mathscr{C} = \mathbf{A} \otimes \mathbf{B}$, where $\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{A}^T$ and $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{B}^T$ are symmetric tensors. The coefficients of \mathscr{C} are given by $c_{ijkl} = a_{ij}b_{kl}$. In this case, the coefficient matrix (29) has the representation

$$\mathbf{C} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11}b_{11} & a_{11}b_{22} & a_{11}b_{33} & 2a_{11}b_{12} & 2a_{11}b_{23} & 2a_{11}b_{31} \\ a_{22}b_{11} & a_{22}b_{22} & a_{22}b_{33} & 2a_{22}b_{12} & 2a_{22}b_{23} & 2a_{22}b_{31} \\ a_{33}b_{11} & a_{33}b_{22} & a_{33}b_{33} & 2a_{33}b_{12} & 2a_{33}b_{23} & 2a_{33}b_{31} \\ a_{12}b_{11} & a_{12}b_{22} & a_{12}b_{33} & 2a_{12}b_{12} & 2a_{12}b_{23} & 2a_{12}b_{31} \\ a_{23}b_{11} & a_{23}b_{22} & a_{23}b_{33} & 2a_{23}b_{12} & 2a_{23}b_{23} & 2a_{23}b_{31} \\ a_{31}b_{11} & a_{31}b_{22} & a_{31}b_{33} & 2a_{31}b_{12} & 2a_{31}b_{23} & 2a_{31}b_{31} \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(30)$$

A fourth-order tensor having the transposition T_{23} requires a more detailed consideration. We consider the product $T_{ij} = C_{ikjl} E_{kl}$ yielding



(a) Strain \mathcal{E}_{xx} in the vertical axis

(b) Strain ε_{yy} in the vertical axis



the (9×9) -representation

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} T_{11} \\ T_{22} \\ T_{33} \\ T_{12} \\ T_{23} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{13} \\ T_{21} \\ T_{32} \end{array}\right) = \left[\begin{array}{c} C_{1111} & C_{1212} & C_{1313} & C_{1112} & C_{1213} & C_{1311} & C_{1113} & C_{1211} & C_{1312} \\ C_{2121} & C_{2222} & C_{2323} & C_{2223} & C_{2223} & C_{2221} & C_{2322} \\ C_{2131} & C_{2322} & C_{3333} & C_{3132} & C_{3331} & C_{3133} & C_{3331} & C_{3332} \\ C_{1121} & C_{1222} & C_{1323} & C_{1122} & C_{1223} & C_{1233} & C_{1223} & C_{1232} \\ C_{2131} & C_{2222} & C_{2333} & C_{2132} & C_{2233} & C_{2331} & C_{2133} & C_{2132} \\ C_{3111} & C_{3212} & C_{3313} & C_{312} & C_{3213} & C_{2133} & C_{2231} & C_{2332} \\ C_{3111} & C_{3212} & C_{3333} & C_{1122} & C_{1233} & C_{1331} & C_{1133} & C_{2311} & C_{3312} \\ C_{1111} & C_{2212} & C_{2313} & C_{1122} & C_{2213} & C_{2311} & C_{2311} & C_{2312} \\ C_{2111} & C_{2212} & C_{2323} & C_{2121} & C_{2311} & C_{2113} & C_{2211} & C_{2312} \\ C_{2111} & C_{2212} & C_{3323} & C_{3122} & C_{3223} & C_{3221} & C_{3221} \\ C_{3122} & C_{3222} & C_{3323} & C_{3122} & C_{3223} & C_{3221} & C_{3221} \\ C_{322} & C_{3322} & C_{3322} & C_{3223} & C_{322} & C_{3223} \\ C_{3111} & C_{3212} & C_{3222} & C_{3223} & C_{3221} & C_{3212} \\ C_{322} & C_{3222} & C_{3223} & C_{3221} & C_{3222} \\ C_{322} & C_{3223} & C_{322} & C_{3222} \\ C_{322} & C_{322} & C_{322} \\ C_{322} & C_{322} & C_{322} \\ C_{322} & C_{322} & C_{322} \\ C_{322} & C_{322} & C_{322} \\ C_{322} & C_{322} & C_{322} \\ C_{322} & C_{322} & C_{322} \\ C_{322} & C_{322} & C_{322} \\ C_{322} & C_{322} & C_{322} \\ C_{322} &$$

Obviously, in each column the indices 2 and 3 are exchanged, compared to representation (27). If we have the symmetries $T_{12} = T_{21}$, $T_{23} = T_{32}$, and $T_{31} = T_{13}$, the last three rows contain the same information as in rows 4 to 6, and, accordingly, can be neglected. For the symmetries $E_{12} = E_{21}$, $E_{23} = E_{32}$, and $E_{31} = E_{13}$, we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{1111} & C_{1212} & C_{1313} & C_{1112} + C_{1211} & C_{1213} + C_{1312} & C_{1311} + C_{1113} \\ C_{2121} & C_{2222} & C_{2323} & C_{2122} + C_{2221} & C_{2223} + C_{2322} & C_{2321} + C_{2123} \\ C_{3131} & C_{3232} & C_{3333} & C_{3132} + C_{3231} & C_{3233} + C_{3332} & C_{3331} + C_{3133} \\ C_{1121} & C_{1222} & C_{1323} & C_{1122} + C_{1221} & C_{1223} + C_{1322} & C_{1321} + C_{1123} \\ C_{2131} & C_{2232} & C_{2333} & C_{2132} + C_{2231} & C_{2233} + C_{2332} & C_{2331} + C_{2133} \\ C_{3111} & C_{3212} & C_{3313} & C_{3112} + C_{3211} & C_{3213} + C_{3312} & C_{3311} + C_{3113} \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(32)$$

If we apply these ideas to the tensors $I \otimes I$, $M \otimes M$, $I \otimes M + M \otimes I$ and $[I \otimes M + M \otimes I]^{T_{23}}$, we obtain the following representations:

$$\mathbf{I} \otimes \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{M} \otimes \mathbf{I} \longrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} 2m_{11} & m_{11} + m_{22} & m_{11} + m_{33} & 2m_{12} & 2m_{23} & 2m_{31} \\ m_{11} + m_{22} & 2m_{22} & m_{22} + m_{33} & 2m_{12} & 2m_{23} & 2m_{31} \\ m_{11} + m_{33} & m_{22} + m_{33} & 2m_{33} & 2m_{12} & 2m_{23} & 2m_{31} \\ m_{12} & m_{12} & m_{12} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ m_{23} & m_{23} & m_{23} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ m_{31} & m_{31} & m_{31} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(36)

In finite elements, we have the scalar product of the stress tensor with the strain tensor (or with the virtual strain tensor). Since we would like to reduce the amount of function evaluations, we consider this scalar product

$$\mathbf{T} \cdot \mathbf{E} = \{T_{11} \ T_{22} \ T_{33} \ T_{12} \ T_{23} \ T_{31}\} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} E_{11} \\ E_{22} \\ E_{33} \\ E_{12} \\ E_{23} \\ E_{31} \end{array} \right\} + \{T_{12} \ T_{23} \ T_{31}\} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} E_{12} \\ E_{23} \\ E_{31} \end{array} \right\} = \mathbf{T}^T \left\{ \begin{array}{c} E_{11} \\ E_{22} \\ E_{33} \\ 2E_{12} \\ 2E_{23} \\ 2E_{31} \end{array} \right\}$$
$$= \mathbf{T}^T \mathbf{M} \ \tilde{\mathbf{E}} = \mathbf{T}^T \mathbf{E}$$
(37)

with $\mathbf{M} = \text{diag}(1, 1, 1, 2, 2, 2) \in \mathbb{R}^{6 \times 6}$ and $\mathbf{E}^T = \{E_{11} \ E_{22} \ E_{33} \ 2E_{12} \ 2E_{23} \ 2E_{31}\}$, i.e.

$$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{M}\tilde{\mathbf{E}} \implies \tilde{\mathbf{E}} = \mathbf{M}^{-1}\mathbf{E}.$$
(38)

Commonly, the "shear angles" $\gamma_{12} = 2E_{12}$, $\gamma_{23} = 2E_{23}$, $\gamma_{31} = 2E_{31}$ are introduced in Solid Mechanics implying that the product with 2 can be omitted. If we have the product $\mathbf{T} = \mathscr{C}\mathbf{E}$, i.e. $\mathbf{T} = \widetilde{\mathbf{C}\mathbf{E}} = \mathbf{C}\mathbf{E}$, the scalar product (37) reads:

$$\mathscr{C}\mathbf{E}\cdot\mathbf{E} = \{\tilde{\mathbf{C}}\,\tilde{\mathbf{E}}\}^T\mathbf{E} = \left\{\tilde{\mathbf{C}}\mathbf{M}^{-1}\mathbf{E}\right\}^T\mathbf{E} = \{\mathbf{C}\mathbf{E}\}^T\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{E}^T\mathbf{C}\mathbf{E}.$$
(39)

In other words, the last three columns of the coefficient matrices \tilde{C} must be multiplied with a factor 1/2,

$$\mathbf{C} = \tilde{\mathbf{C}} \mathbf{M}^{-1},\tag{40}$$

yielding the side effect that all matrices (33) - (36) become symmetric.

B. Case $\vec{a} = \vec{e}_1$

Frequently, transversely isotropy is connected to the Voigt-notation, i.e. the (6×6) -representation. In this case the orientation of the fibers is connected to one spatial coordinate direction, $\vec{a} = \vec{e}_1$ leading to the structural tensor $\mathbf{M} = \vec{a} \otimes \vec{a} = \vec{e}_1 \otimes \vec{e}_1$, i.e. there is only the component $m_{11} = 1$. All others are zero. In this case the matrix representation degenerates to

$$\begin{cases} T_{11} \\ T_{22} \\ T_{33} \\ T_{12} \\ T_{23} \\ T_{31} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda + 2\alpha + 2\mu_T + 4(\mu_L - \mu_T) + \beta & \lambda + \alpha & \lambda + \alpha & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \lambda + \alpha & \lambda + 2\mu_T & \lambda & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \lambda + \alpha & \lambda & \lambda + 2\mu_T & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \mu_L & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \mu_T & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \mu_L \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} E_{11} \\ E_{22} \\ E_{33} \\ \gamma_{12} \\ \gamma_{23} \\ \gamma_{31} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(41)

C. Stress and strain distributions

In the following, we compile the whole stress and strain distributions in Figs. 6 and 7.

Acknowledgment

We gratefully acknowledge the financial support provided by the government of Lower Saxony, Germany, for P2-project in the doctoral program "Self-organizing multifunctional structures for adaptive high performance light-weight constructions", which is located at the Campus Funktionswerkstoffe of the Clausthal University of Technology. Furthermore, we would like to thank Jithin Mohan for helpful discussions on streamlines and the support in preparing the computations.



Figure 6: Stress distributions



Figure 7: Strain distributions

References

- [1] M. Kaliske. Zur Theorie und Numerik von Strukturen aus Faserverbundmaterial. Mitteilung Nr. 49-99, Universität Hannover, 1999.
- [2] M. Fiolka. *Theorie und Numerik volumetrischer Schalenelemente zur Delaminationsanalyse von Faserverbundlaminaten*. Report no. 2/2008, Institute of Mechanics, University of Kassel, 2008.
- [3] M. Weise and A. Meyer. Grundgleichungen für transversal isotropes Materialverhalten. Preprint CSC/10-03, TU Chemnitz, Fakultät für Mathematik, Chemnitz (Germany), 2003.
- [4] A. J. M. Spencer. Constitutive theory for strongly anisotropic solids. In A. J. M. Spencer, editor, *Continuum theory of the mechanics of fibre-reinforced composites*, number 282 in Courses and lectures International Centre for Mechanical Sciences, pages 1–32. Springer-Verlag, Wien, 1984.
- [5] B.D. Agarwal, L.J. Broutman, and K. Chandrashekhara. Analysis and Performance of Fiber Composites. Wiley, 2006.
- [6] R.F. Gibson. Principles of Composite Material Mechanics, Third Edition. Mechanical Engineering. CRC Press, 2011.
- [7] V.Z. Parton and B.A. Kudryavtsev. Engineering Mechanics of Composite Structures. CRC Press, Inc., 1993.
- [8] J. Aboudi, S.M. Arnold, and B.A. Bednarcyk. *Micromechanics of Composite Materials: A Generalized Multiscale Analysis Approach*. Elsevier Science, 2012.
- [9] J. Aboudi. Mechanics of Composite Materials: A Unified Micromechanical Approach. Studies in Applied Mechanics. Elsevier Science, 2013.
- [10] J. A. Weiss, B. N. Maker, and S. Govindjee. Finite element implementation of incompressible, transversely isotropic hyperelasticity. *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering* 135 (1996), 107–128.
- [11] J. Schröder and P. Neff. Invariant formulation of hyperelasticity transverse isotropy based on polyconvex free energy functions. *International Journal of Solids and Structures* **40** (2003), 401–445.
- [12] J. Schröder, P. Neff, and D. Balzani. A variational approach for materially stable anisotropic hyperelasticity. *International Journal of Solids and Structures* 42 (2005), 4352–4371.
- [13] M. Itskov and N. Aksel. A class of orthotropic and transversely isotropic hyperelastic constitutive models based on a polyconvex strain energy function. *International Journal of Solids and Structures* 41 (2004), 3833–3848.
- [14] D. Balzani, P. Neff, J. Schröder, and G. A. Holzapfel. A polyconvex framework for soft biological tissues. adjustment to experimental data. *International Journal of Solids and Structures* 43 (2006), 6052–6070.
- [15] G. A. Holzapfel, T. C. Gasser, and R. W. Ogden. A new constitutive framework for arterial wall mechanics and a comparative study of material models. *Journal of Elasticity* **61** (2000), 1–48.
- [16] C. Sansour. On the physical assumptions underlying the volumetric-isochoric split and the case of anisotropy. *European Journal of Mechanics A/Solids* 27 (2008), 28–39.
- [17] A. Zdunek, W. Rachowicz, and T. Eriksson. A novel computational formulation for nearly incompressible and nearly inextensible finite hyperelasticity. *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering* 281 (2014), 220–249.
- [18] P. Wriggers, J. Schröder, and F. Auricchio. Finite element formulations for large strain anisotropic material with inextensible fibers. Advanced Modeling and Simulation in Engineering Sciences, 3 (2016), 1–18.
- [19] O. Sepahia, L. Radtke, S.E. Debus, and A. Düster. Anisotropic hierarchic solid finite elements for the simulation of passive-active arterial wall models. *Computers & Mathematics with Applications* **74** (2017) 3058–3079.
- [20] Gustavo Gonzalez Lozano, Ashutosh Tiwari, Christopher Turner, and Simon Astwood. A review on design for manufacture of variable stiffness composite laminates. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture* 230(6) (2016), 981–992.
- [21] X. J. Niu, T. Yang, Y. Du, and Z. Q. Xue. Tensile properties of variable stiffness composite laminates with circular holes based on potential flow functions. Archive of Applied Mechanics 86(9) (2016), 1551–1563.
- [22] D. M. J. Peeters, S. Hesse, and M. M. Abdalla. Stacking sequence optimisation of variable stiffness laminates with manufacturing constraints. *Composite Structures* 125 (2015), 596–604.
- [23] J. Huang and R. T. Haftka. Optimization of fiber orientations near a hole for increased load-carrying capacity of composite laminates. *Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization* **30**(5) (2005), 335–341.
- [24] Yingdan Zhu, Jiancai Liu, Dong Liu, Haibing Xu, Chun Yan, Bin Huang, and David Hui. Fiber path optimization based on a family of curves in composite laminate with a center hole. *Composites Part B: Engineering* **111** (2017), 91–102.
- [25] M. W. Hyer and R. F. Charette. Use of curvilinear fiber format in composite structure design. AIAA 125 (1991), 1011–1015.

- [26] Pedro Ribeiro, Hamed Akhavan, Andrzej Teter, and Jerzy Warmiński. A review on the mechanical behaviour of curvilinear fibre composite laminated panels. *Journal of Composite Materials* 48(22) (2014), 2761–2777.
- [27] M.W. Hyer and H.H. Lee. The use of curvilinear fiber format to improve buckling resistance of composite plates with central circular holes. *Composite Structures* 18(3) (1991), 239–261.
- [28] R. E. Rowlands, I. M. Daniel, and J. B. Whiteside. Stress and failure analysis of a glass-epoxy composite plate with a circular hole. *Experimental Mechanics* **13**(1) (1973), 31–37.
- [29] A. W. Blom, M. M. Abdalla, and Z. Gürdal. Optimization of course locations in fiber-placed panels for general fiber angle distributions. *Composites Science and Technology* **70**(4) (2010), 564–570.
- [30] Lotfi Toubal, Moussa Karama, and Bernard Lorrain. Stress concentration in a circular hole in composite plate. *Composite Structures* 68(1) (2005), 31–36.
- [31] A. V. Malakhov and A. N. Polilov. Construction of trajectories of the fibers which bypass a hole and their comparison with the structure of wood in the vicinity of a knot. *Journal of Machinery Manufacture and Reliability* **42**(4) (2013), 306–311.
- [32] A. V. Malakhov and A. N. Polilov. Design of composite structures reinforced curvilinear fibres using FEM. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing* **87** (2016), 23–28.
- [33] A. Skordos, P. H. Chan, J. F. V. Vincent, and G. Jeronimidis. A novel strain sensor based on the campaniform sensillum of insects. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 360, (2002), 239–253.
- [34] E. G. Koricho, A. Khomenko, T. Fristedt, and M. Haq. Innovative tailored fiber placement technique for enhanced damage resistance in notched composite laminate. *Composite Structures* 120 (2015), 378–385.
- [35] M. Itskov. Tensor algebra and tensor analysis for engineers. Springer, Berlin, 2007.
- [36] J. Casey. Approximate kinematical relations in plasticity. International Journal of Solids and Structures 21 (1985), 671-682.
- [37] P. Haupt. Continuum Mechanics and Theory of Materials. Springer, Berlin, 2 edition, 2002.
- [38] R. de Boer. Vektor- und Tensorrechnung für Ingenieure. Springer, Berlin, 1st edition, 1982.
- [39] S. Hartmann. Finite-Elemente Berechnung inelastischer Kontinua. Interpretation als Algebro-Differentialgleichungssysteme. Habilitation, University of Kassel, Institute of Mechanics, 2003. Report No. 1/2003.
- [40] F. M. White. Fluid Mechanics. McGraw-Hill, 2009.

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



An algorithm for constructing S-boxes for block symmetric encryption

Bakhtiyor Fayzievich Abdurakhimov^a and Sattarov Alijon Bozorbayevich^{a*}

^aDepartment of Applied Mathematics and Computer Analysis, National University of Uzbekistan, Uzbekistan ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: asb2602@mail.ru

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: S-box, algebraic cryptanal- ysis, algebraic immunity, nonlinearity 2010 AMS: 94A60, 68P25, 11T71, 14G50 Received: 10 February 2018 Accepted: 27 February 2018 Available online: 11 March 2018	This article presents an algorithm for the generation of S-boxes with the maximum algebraic immunity and high nonlinearity. The algorithm is founded method of the permutation of output element of S-box. On basis of the proposed method, $S(8 \times 8)$ -box created, with the algebraic immunity 3 (441) and nonlinearity 104. The algorithm given in this article can be used for oscillation of $S(8 \times 8)$)-boxes with the increased resistance to algebraic, linear, differential and linear and differential methods of a cryptanalysis, for block symmetric algorithms of encryption.

1. Introduction

It is known that for determining the reliability of (cryptographic stability) encryption algorithms is required to assess their well-known modern methods of cryptanalysis. This shows that the emergence of a new method of cryptanalysis or development of existing methods of cryptanalysis can affect the cryptographic stability of the encryption algorithms used in practice. Today, algebraic method of cryptanalysis based on solving systems of equations over finite fields, is a modern and rapidly developing methods of cryptanalysis for block symmetric encryption algorithms [4]. As a result of research, experts, it has been proposed option "algebraic immunity" encryption algorithms that allows you to determine the stability (instability) it to the algebraic methods of cryptanalysis. Therefore, the use of encryption algorithms convert with high algebraic immunity, will serve as a basis for ensuring the reliability of its methods to algebraic cryptanalysis. After the introduction of the parameter has become an urgent task for research aimed at creating change, with the maximum algebraic immunity. In developing the new block symmetric encryption algorithms take into account the use of these transformations, with the maximum algebraic immunity, that is, its cryptographic stability to methods of algebraic cryptanalysis. For example, in algorithms of standard STB 34.101.31-2011, GOST R 34.11-2012 and GOST R 34.12-2015 used S-boxes with the maximum algebraic immunity. This article describes the algorithms for generating S-boxes, the maximum algebraic immunity and high degree of nonlinearity.

2. Generation of S-boxes

It should be noted that as a part of round function the modern block symmetric algorithms of enciphering two following main transformations are used: substitution (S-box) and permutation (P-box) [3, 5]. The main the purpose of the S-box is "hashing of bits" and their use as the main non-linear transformation in round function. P-box to serve "a dispelling of bits" and is the linear transformation.

Each S-box transformation is defined over some finite field. S-box represent a $S(n \times m)$ wherein the input bit length (n) and output bit length (m).

Below is a sample $S(4 \times 4)$ -box.

1	$x = \{ 0 \}$	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15} `)
$S = \langle$	\$	\uparrow	\$	\updownarrow	\updownarrow	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\updownarrow	\$	(2.1)
	$y = \{15$	14	13	11	6	12	9	2	5	10	4	8	0	1	3	7})

where: x - the input sequence in $S(4 \times 4)$ -box, y - output sequence with x respectively. For example: S(6) = 9, S(14) = 3.

Determination of [1, 6]. Let the following system of Boolean equations satisfies $S(n \times m)$ -box:

$$G = \begin{cases} g_1(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, y_1, y_1, \dots, y_m) = 0; \\ g_2(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, y_1, y_1, \dots, y_m) = 0; \\ \dots \\ g_r(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, y_1, y_1, \dots, y_m) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

Minimum degree algebraic equation $(\deg(g))$ in the system (2.2) is called an algebraic immunity $S(n \times m)$ -box (AI(S)). That is, it can be formally written as follows:

$$AI(S) = \min\{ \deg(g) | g \in G \}$$

$$(2.3)$$

From this it follows that the high value of the parameter AI to S-box provides a high degree algebraic equation system.

After introducing the concept of the *AI*, it has become an urgent task of evaluating the maximum possible value of this parameter for the S-box of fixed length and a minimum number (N_{TS}) of possible equations in the system. As a result of investigations for solving this problem has been created in the following table indicating the maximum value of the *AI* and the minimum value of the N_{TS} , depending on the size of $S(n \times n)$ -box.

n	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
AI	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	4
N _{TS}	14	21	24	15	342	441	476	327	7061	8855	9710	7774

Table 1: Optimal values of *AI* and N_{TS} for $S(n \times n)$ -box

In general it should be noted that if the values AI S-box is less than the possible maximum value or value N_{TS} is greater than the minimum possible value, the S-box does not provide maximum resistance to algebraic techniques of cryptanalysis.

It is known that the linear and differential methods of a cryptanalysis are also the modern methods of a cryptanalysis, for block symmetric algorithms of encryption. For ensuring resistance of an algorithm to the linear cryptanalysis, it is required to use S-boxes with the maximal value of nonlinearity (N(S)), and for ensuring resistance of algorithms to a differential cryptanalysis, it is required to use S-boxes in which the maximal value (δ) in a matrix of differences is less. Therefore, in algorithms of encryption it is necessary to use those S-boxes in which not only *AI* value is maximal, but also N(S) value is also maximal, and value δ minimum.

There are several methods of creation of the S-boxes having the maximal value of nonlinearity [2]. However, because of the made experiments it became of known that AI(S) and N(S) value for S-boxes would not be at the same time maximum (that is maximality of these values is mutually excluded). This condition demands to solve the following problem:

At what maximal values of the N(S) parameter value of the AI and N_{TS} parameters will be optimum?

Solution of this task nonlinearity demands to construct several S-boxes having some high (that is, smaller maximal) nonlinearity and to make the corresponding experiments with them. Because of the carried-out analysis, the following statement are more efficient approach for creation of S-boxes with high values of nonlinearity.

Statement [7]. Let, the following equalities for $S_1(nxm)$ and $S_2(nxm)$ of boxes are carried out.

$$\begin{cases} S_2(p_1) = S_1(p_2), \ p_1 \neq p_2; \\ S_2(p_2) = S_1(p_1); \\ S_2(x) = S_1(x), \ x \neq p_1, p_2. \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

Then truly following expression.

$$N(S_1) - 2 \le N(S_2) \le N(S_1) + 2 \tag{2.5}$$

It means, according to statements, as a result of permutation among themselves of two elements of the S-box of its value of nonlinearity either decreases on 2 or increases on 2 or does not change. At the same time the statement also follows from this statement the following: *if as a result of permutation between itself two different elements* S_1 -*box having general degree nonlinearity* $N(S_1)=a$, *is present probability of the creation* S_2 -*box with the common degree nonlinearity equal* $N(S_2)=a-2$, *that as a result of permutation different 4 elements* S_1 -*box created* S_3 -*box can have importance with the general degree nonlinearity equal* $N(S_3)=a-4$. This statement will be a basis for oscillation of S-boxes with different values of nonlinearity. That is, increasing quantity of mutually rearranged elements of the S-box it is possible to reduce value of nonlinearity sequentially. Put into practice experiments with S(8x8)-box it was revealed that at N(S)=104 values, $\delta=8$ the *AI* and N_{TS} parameters can have optimum degree.

Generally, the algorithm of creation of the S-boxes having such properties has the following sequence of steps:

Input: Certain $S(8 \times 8)_{max}$ - box having maximal (that is: N(S)=112) nonlinearity.

Output: $S(8 \times 8)$ – box satisfying to values: N(S)=104, $\delta=8$, AI(S)=3 and $N_{TS}=441$.

- 2. Permutation mutually 39 elements of the S(8x8)-box.
- 3. Determine value of the N(S) and δ parameters of the $S(8 \times 8)$ -box, created in 2 step.
- 4. If N(S) < 104 or $\delta > 8$ that return to 1 step.
- 5. Define values of the AI(S) and N_{TS} parameters of the $S(8 \times 8)$ -box, created 2 step.
- 6. If AI (S) \neq 3 or $N_{TS} \neq$ 441 that return to 1 step.

^{1.} $S(8 \times 8)=S(8 \times 8) \max$.

8. End.

Below the example of model $S(8 \times 8)$ -box created by means of the algorithm developed by the software is given (the output elements of the $S(8 \times 8)$ -box):

 $S(8 \times 8)_{example} = \{173, 175, 17, 133, 114, 99, 57, 231, 126, 42, 247, 209, 230, 68, 181, 109, 248, 236, 115, 48, 188, 125, 18, 120, 53, 105, 4, 239, 32, 121, 76, 246, 6, 155, 13, 221, 254, 180, 226, 224, 36, 143, 196, 219, 78, 146, 227, 31, 96, 118, 92, 22, 249, 217, 49, 79, 67, 138, 198, 251, 93, 215, 60, 24, 69, 88, 50, 154, 253, 140, 206, 123, 184, 81, 160, 229, 98, 159, 139, 113, 233, 223, 238, 204, 153, 237, 107, 234, 225, 242, 14, 7, 183, 178, 72, 128, 203, 94, 124, 191, 84, 170, 205, 116, 29, 190, 150, 131, 103, 207, 97, 164, 51, 194, 65, 21, 37, 106, 58, 145, 212, 213, 172, 101, 100, 168, 163, 136, 9, 55, 86, 102, 195, 199, 15, 80, 132, 127, 61, 83, 176, 20, 122, 241, 38, 255, 82, 161, 171, 19, 89, 148, 220, 110, 8, 43, 3, 85, 66, 56, 142, 250, 40, 2, 59, 162, 134, 240, 182, 228, 141, 129, 211, 185, 179, 74, 11, 34, 62, 210, 193, 167, 197, 33, 156, 108, 30, 117, 95, 214, 187, 245, 35, 26, 27, 0, 252, 104, 202, 44, 208, 158, 147, 64, 157, 52, 192, 77, 5, 25, 152, 41, 12, 232, 87, 149, 119, 216, 165, 46, 75, 235, 169, 135, 222, 200, 39, 70, 91, 174, 112, 166, 54, 189, 243, 177, 218, 28, 10, 137, 144, 244, 16, 130, 45, 90, 73, 23, 201, 111, 47, 71, 151, 1, 63, 186\}.$

It is known that today in many algorithms of encryption $S(8 \times 8)$ -box is used. For comparison of the $S(8x8)_{example}$ -box with some $S(8 \times 8)$ -boxes, created the table of assessment (Table 2).

Encrypting algorithm	N(S)	δ	$AI(N_{TS})$	IGS
AES	112	4	2 (39)	0,886285
Camellia	112	4	2 (39)	0,886285
SQUARE	112	4	2 (39)	0,886285
UzDSt 1105:2009	112	4	2 (39)	0,886285
STB 34.101.31-2011	102	8	3 (441)	0,962426
GOST P 34.12-2015	100	8	3 (441)	0,956473
S(8x8) _{example}	104	8	3(441)	0,968378

Table 2: Comparative properties in algorithms of encryption $S(8 \times 8)$ -boxes.

Values of the IGS parameter (the Index of the General Stability, $0 \le IGS \le 1$) specified in this table it is calculated by means of (2.6) formula, considering an indicator of resistance to the linear, differential and algebraic cryptanalysis of $S(8 \times 8)$ -box.

$$IGS = \frac{\frac{N(S)}{112} + \frac{AI}{3} + \frac{258 - \delta}{256}}{3}$$
(2.6)

Follows from this expression that for some $S(8 \times 8)$ -box there correspond the N(S)=112, $\delta=2$ and AI=3 parameters, IGS values of this $S(8 \times 8)$ -box it will be maximal, that is IGS=1. Besides, the IGS value of the $S(8 \times 8)$ example-box is higher than other $S(8 \times 8)$ -boxes given in the table.

In Figure 2.1 the comparative schedule on IGS value of the specified S-boxes is represented.



Figure 2.1: The comparative schedule on IGS value of the specified S-blocks.

3. Conclusions

The proposed method is based method of permutation of output element of S-box. It allows to find S-box with desired properties. Such S-box can be used in modern symmetric algorithms that demand high level of robustness against various types of attacks.

References

 A. Eilertsen, K. Kazymyrov, V. Kazymyrova, M. Storetvedt, A Sage Library For Analysis Of Nonlinear Binary Mappings, Selmer Center, Department of Informatics, University of Bergen, Norway. CECC'14, May 21, 2014.
- [2] A. Sokolov, New methods of synthesis of non-linear transformations of the modern encryptions, LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing house (Saarbrucken, Germany), 2015. ISBN: 978-3-659-67440-2.
- (Saarbrucken, Germany), 2015. ISBN: 978-3-659-67440-2.
 [3] J. Daemen, *The design of Rijidael: AES-the advanced encryption standard*, Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer, 2002.
 [4] N. Courtois, J. Pieprzyk, *Cryptanalysis of block ciphers with overdefined systems of equations*, ASIACRYPT, 2002. P. 267-287.
 [5] O. A. Logachev, A. A. Salnikov, V. V. Yashchenko, S. Smyshlyaev, *Boolean functions in the theory of coding and cryptology*, Institute of problems of an inform.security of MSU. 2nd prod., additional M.: MTsNMO, 2012. 583 pages.
 [6] S. Fischer and W. Meier, *Algebraic Immunity of S-boxes and Augmented Functions*, FHNW, CH-5210 Windisch, Switzerland.
 [7] Y. Yu, *Constructing Differentially 4 Uniform Permutations from Known Ones*, Chinese Journal of Electronics. 2013. Vol. 22, No. 3. River 495–499.

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



On ψ -Hilfer fractional differential equation with complex order

Harikrishnan Sugumaran^{a*}, Rabha W. Ibrahim^b and Kuppusamy Kanagarajan^a

^aDepartment of Mathematics, , Sri Ramakrishna Mission Vidyalaya College of Arts and Science, Coimbatore-641020, India ^bModern College of Business & Science, 133, Muscat, Oman ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: hkkhari1@gmail.com

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Fractional derivative, Existence, Ulam-Hyers-Rassias stability, Complex order 2010 AMS: 26A33, 34C07, 03C45, 32G34 Received: 17 February 2018 Accepted: 1 March 2018 Available online: 11 March 2018

The objectives of this paper is to investigate some adequate results for the existence of solution to a ψ -Hilfer fractional derivatives (HFDEs) involving complex order. Appropriate conditions for the existence of at least one solution are developed by using Schauder fixed point theorem (SFPT) to the consider problem. Moreover, we also investigate the Ulam-Hyers stability for the proposed problem.

1. Introduction

Fractional calculus deals with the study of fractional order integral and derivative operators over real or complex domains and some of their applications are in the area of fluid flow, control theory of dynamical systems, diffusive transport akin to diffusion, electrical networks, probability and statistics, viscoelasticity, electrochemistry of corrosion, dynamical processes in self-similar and porous structures, optics and rheology etc. There has been significant development in fractional differential equations in recent year (see [1]-[6])

The generalization of Riemann-Liouville and Caputo fractional derivatives was introduced by R. Hilfer [1] in 1999. A significant development and interest has been shown by many researchers. Vanterler et al. interpolated HFD and ψ -fractional derivative is called as ψ -HFD [7]. This fractional derivative is different from the other classical fractional derivative because the kernel is in terms of function. The study on ψ -HFD with classical properties and interpolation of many fractional derivatives.

Alternatively, the stability problem of functional equations initiated form a question of Ulam, created in 1940, relating to the stability of group homomorphism. In the next year, Hyers gave a partial affirmative respond to the question of Ulam in the background of Banach spaces that was the opening momentous breakthrough and a step towards more solutions in this area. In view of the fact that a large number of papers have been published in connections with various generalizations appeared devoted to the data dependence in the theory of fractional differential equations [8]-[11].

Inspired by the above discussion, we introduce complex order to ψ -HFD and we establish the existence, uniqueness and stability of solutions. Consider the differential equations with ψ -HFD with complex order of the form

$$\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\Psi}\mathfrak{h}(t) = \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{h}(t)), \ t \in J := (a,b],$$
(1.1)

$$\mathfrak{I}^{1-\theta;\Psi}\mathfrak{h}(t)|_{t=a} = \mathfrak{h}_{a}, \theta = \theta_{1} + \theta_{2} - \theta_{1}\theta_{2}, \tag{1.2}$$

where $D^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\psi}(\theta_1,\theta_2 \in \mathbb{C})$ is ψ -HFD of order $\theta_1 = \alpha + i\beta$ and type $\theta_2 = \gamma + i\eta$. Here, $0 < \Re(\theta_1) < 1$ and $0 \le \Re(\theta_2) \le 1$, with α, β, γ and η are constants. Consider a Banach space R and $\mathfrak{g}: J \times R \to R$ be a continuous function.

The paper is organised as follows. In Section 2, we give some basic definitions and results concerning with the ψ -HFD. In Section 3, we present existence results based on SFPT and further stability result is also discussed. Finally, an example is included to check the theoretical results.

Email addresses: hkkhari1@gmail.com (H. Sugumaran) rabhaibrahim@yahoo.com (R. W. Ibrahim) kanagarajank@gmail.com (K. Kanagarajan)

2. Preliminaries

For the ease of the readers, we discuss some basic definitions and lemmas. The ideas are adopted from [12, 13]. Next, consider the following spaces, let C(J) a space of continuous functions from J into R with the norm

$$||x||_C = \max\{|x(t)|: t \in J\}.$$

The weighted space $C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ of functions \mathfrak{g} on J is defined by

with the norm

$$\left\|\mathfrak{g}\right\|_{C_{1-\xi,\psi}} = \left\| (\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{1-\xi} \mathfrak{g}(t) \right\|_{C[a,b]} = \max_{t \in J} \left| (\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{1-\xi} \mathfrak{g}(t) \right|.$$

Definition 2.1. *The* ψ *-Riemann Liouville (RL) fractional integral of order* $\theta \in \mathbb{C}$, $(\Re(\theta) > 0)$ *of a function* \mathfrak{g} *is defined by,*

$$\mathfrak{I}^{\boldsymbol{\theta};\boldsymbol{\Psi}}\mathfrak{g}(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\boldsymbol{\theta})} \int_0^t \boldsymbol{\psi}'(s) \left(\boldsymbol{\psi}(t) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(s)\right)^{\boldsymbol{\theta}-1} \mathfrak{g}(s) ds, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Definition 2.2. The ψ -RL fractional derivative of order $\theta \in \mathbb{C}$, $(\Re(\theta) > 0)$ of a function \mathfrak{g} is defined by,

$$\mathfrak{D}^{\theta;\psi}\mathfrak{g}(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\theta)} \left(\frac{1}{\psi'(t)} \frac{d}{dt}\right)^n \int_0^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s)\right)^{n-\theta-1} \mathfrak{g}(s) ds, \quad t \ge 0,$$

where $n = [\Re(\theta)] + 1$.

Definition 2.3. The ψ -Caputo fractional derivative of order $\theta \in \mathbb{C}$, $(\Re(\theta) > 0)$ of function \mathfrak{g} is defined by,

$$\mathfrak{D}^{\theta;\psi}\mathfrak{g}(t) = \mathfrak{I}^{n-\theta;\psi}\left(\frac{1}{\psi'(t)}\frac{d}{dt}\right)^n \mathfrak{g}(t) \quad t \ge 0$$

where $n = [\Re(\theta)] + 1$ *.*

Definition 2.4. The ψ -*HFD of order* $0 < \theta_1 < 1$ and $0 \le \theta_2 \le 1$ of function $\mathfrak{g}(t)$ is defined by

$$\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\Psi}\mathfrak{g}(t) = \mathfrak{I}^{\theta_2(1-\theta_1);\Psi}\left(\frac{1}{\psi'(t)}\frac{d}{dt}\right)\mathfrak{I}^{(1-\theta_2)(1-\theta_1);\Psi}\mathfrak{g}(t).$$
(2.1)

The ψ -HFD as above defined, can be written in the following

$$\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\psi}\mathfrak{g}(t) = \mathfrak{I}^{\theta-\theta_1;\psi}\mathfrak{D}^{\theta;\psi}\mathfrak{g}(t).$$

Remark 2.5. (a) If $\theta_2 = 0(\gamma = 0, \eta = 0)$, then $\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1, \theta_2; \psi} = \mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1, 0; \psi}$ is called the *RL* fractional derivative of complex order. (b) If $\theta_2 = 1(\gamma = 1, \eta = 0)$, then $\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1, \theta_2; \psi} = \mathfrak{I}^{1-\theta_1; \psi} \mathfrak{D}^{1; \psi}$ is called the Caputo fractional derivative of complex order.

Definition 2.6. *The Stirling asymptotic formula of gamma function for* $z \in \mathbb{C}$ *is following*

$$\Gamma(z) = (2\pi)^{1/2} z^{z-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-z} \left[1 + O\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) \right] \quad (|\arg(z)| < \pi; |z| \to \infty),$$

and its result for $|\Gamma(a+ib)|$, $(a, b \in R)$ is

$$|\Gamma(a+ib)| = (2\pi)^{1/2} |b|^{a-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-a-\frac{\pi|b|}{2}} \left[1+O\left(\frac{1}{z}\right)\right] \quad (b \to \infty)$$

Here, we shall give the definitions of Ulam-Hyers(U-H) stability and Ulam-Hyers-Rassias(U-H-R) stability for ψ -HFDEs of complex order. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be a positive real number and $\varphi : J \to R^+$ be a continuous function. We consider the following inequalities:

$$\left|\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\Psi}\mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{v}(t))\right| \le \varepsilon, \quad t \in J,$$
(2.2)

$$\left|\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\Psi}\mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{v}(t))\right| \le \varepsilon \varphi(t), \quad t \in J,$$
(2.3)

$$\left|\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\Psi}\mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{v}(t))\right| \le \varphi(t), \quad t \in J.$$
(2.4)

Definition 2.7. *Eq.* (1.1) *is U-H stable if there exists a real number* $C_f > 0$ *such that for each* $\varepsilon > 0$ *and for each solution* $v \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *of the inequality* (2.2) *there exists a solution* $\mathfrak{h} \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *of Eq.* (1.1) *with*

$$|\mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{h}(t)| \leq C_f \, \varepsilon, \quad t \in J.$$

Definition 2.8. *Eq.* (1.1) *is generalized U-H stable if there exist* $\varphi \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$, $\varphi_f(0) = 0$ *such that for each solution* $\mathfrak{v} \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *of the inequality* (2.2) *there exists a solution* $\mathfrak{h} \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *of Eq.* (1.1) *with*

$$|\mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{h}(t)| \leq \varphi_f \, \varepsilon, \quad t \in J.$$

Definition 2.9. *Eq.* (1.1) *is U-H-R stable with respect to* $\varphi \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *if there exists a real number* $C_{f,\varphi} > 0$ *such that for each* $\varepsilon > 0$ *and for each solution* $v \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *of the inequality* (2.3) *there exists a solution* $\mathfrak{h} \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *of Eq.* (1.1) *with*

 $|\mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{h}(t)| \leq C_{f,\varphi} \ \varepsilon \varphi(t), \quad t \in J.$

Definition 2.10. *Eq.* (1.1) *is generalized U-H-R stable with respect to* $\varphi \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *if there exists a real number* $C_{f,\varphi} > 0$ *such that for each solution* $v \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *of the inequality* (2.4) *there exists a solution* $\mathfrak{h} \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *of Eq.* (1.1) *with*

 $|\mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{h}(t)| \leq C_{f,\varphi}\varphi(t), \quad t \in J.$

Remark 2.11. A function $v \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ is a solution of the inequality

$$\left|\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\psi}\mathfrak{v}(t)-\mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{v}(t))\right|\leq\varepsilon,\ t\in J,$$

iff there exist a function $g \in C_{1-\xi,\psi}(J)$ *such that*

- (i) $|g(t)| \leq \varepsilon, t \in J$.
- (ii) $\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\Psi}\mathfrak{v}(t) = \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{v}(t)) + g(t), t \in J.$

(iii) If v is solution of the inequality (2.2), then z is a solution of the following integral inequality

$$\left|\mathfrak{v}(t) - \frac{\mathfrak{v}_a}{\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\Psi(t) - \Psi(a) \right)^{\theta-1} - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\Psi(t) - \Psi(s) \right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{v}(s)) ds \right| \leq \frac{(\Psi(b) - \Psi(a))^{\alpha}}{\alpha \left| \Gamma(\theta_1) \right|} \varepsilon.$$

Lemma 2.12. Suppose $\alpha(= \Re(\theta)) > 0$, a(t) is a nonnegative function locally integrable on $a \le t < b$ (some $b \le \infty$), and let g(t) be a nonnegative, nondecreasing continuous function defined on $a \le t < b$, such that $g(t) \le K$ for some constant K. Further let $\mathfrak{h}(t)$ be a nonnegative locally integrable on $a \le t < b$ function with

$$|\mathfrak{h}(t)| \le a(t) + g(t) \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha - 1} \mathfrak{h}(s) ds, \ t \in J$$

with some $\alpha > 0$. Then

$$|\mathfrak{h}(t)| \leq a(t) + \int_a^t \left[\sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{(g(t)\Gamma(\alpha))^n}{\Gamma(n\alpha)} \psi^{'}(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{n\alpha - 1} \right] a(s) ds, \ a \leq t < b.$$

Theorem 2.13. (*SFPT*) Let *E* be a Banach space and *Q* be a nonempty bounded convex and closed subset of *E* and $N : Q \to Q$ is compact, and continuous map. Then *N* has at least one fixed point in *Q*.

Lemma 2.14. A function \mathfrak{h} is the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\Psi}\mathfrak{h}(t) = \mathfrak{g}(t), \ t \in J, \\ \mathfrak{I}^{1-\theta;\Psi}\mathfrak{h}(t)|_{t=a} = \mathfrak{h}_a, \ \theta = \theta_1 + \theta_2 - \theta_1\theta_2, \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

equivalent to the solution of integral equation:

$$\mathfrak{h}(t) = \frac{\mathfrak{h}_a}{\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\Psi(t) - \Psi(a) \right)^{\theta - 1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^t \Psi'(s) \left(\Psi(t) - \Psi(s) \right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s) ds.$$
(2.6)

3. Main results

Consider the following assumptions in order to solve the problem (1.1)-(1.2).

(H1) Let $\mathfrak{g}: J \times R \to R$ be continuous. For $\mathfrak{h}, \mathfrak{v} \in R$, there exists a positive constant L > 0 such that

$$|\mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{h}) - \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{v})| \leq L|\mathfrak{h} - \mathfrak{v}|, \quad t \in J.$$

(H2) The constant

$$ho = rac{L}{|\Gamma(heta_1)|} \left(\psi(b) - \psi(a)
ight)^{lpha} B(\xi, lpha) < 1.$$

(H3) Let $\mathfrak{g}: J \times R \to R$ be continuous. For $\mathfrak{h} \in R$, there exists $M \ge 0$ and N > 0 such that

$$|\mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{h})| \leq M |\mathfrak{h}| + N.$$

(H4) Suppose that there exists $\lambda_{\varphi} > 0$ such that

$$\mathfrak{I}^{\theta_1;\psi} \varphi(t) \leq \lambda_{\varphi} \varphi(t).$$

Theorem 3.1. If assumptions (H1) and (H2) are satisfied. Then, the Eq. (1.1)-(1.2) has a unique solution.

Proof. Consider the operator $N: C_{1-\xi;\psi}(J) \to C_{1-\xi;\psi}(J)$ given by

$$(N\mathfrak{h})(t) = \frac{\mathfrak{h}_{a}}{\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\theta - 1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_{1})} \int_{a}^{t} \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_{1} - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{h}(s)) ds.$$
(3.1)

Define a ball $B_r = \left\{ \mathfrak{h} \in C_{1-\xi;\psi}(J) : \|\mathfrak{h}\| \leq r \right\}$. First, we show $N(B_r) \subset B_r$, for $\mathfrak{h} \in B_r$

$$\begin{split} |(N\mathfrak{h})(t)| &= \left| \frac{\mathfrak{h}_a}{\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\theta - 1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{h}(s)) ds \right| \\ &\leq \frac{|\mathfrak{h}_a|}{|\Gamma(\theta)|} \left| \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\theta - 1} \right| + \frac{1}{|\Gamma(\theta_1)|} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left| \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \right| |\mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{h}(s))| ds \\ &\leq \frac{|\mathfrak{h}_a|}{|\Gamma(\theta)|} \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\xi - 1} + \frac{1}{|\Gamma(\theta_1)|} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha - 1} |\mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{h}(s)) - \mathfrak{g}(s, 0)| ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{|\Gamma(\theta_1)|} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha - 1} |\mathfrak{g}(s, 0)| ds. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \|(N\mathfrak{h})(t)\|_{C_{1-\xi;\psi}} &\leq \frac{|\mathfrak{h}_{a}|}{|\Gamma(\theta)|} + \frac{(\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{1-\xi}}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \int_{a}^{t} \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha-1} L|\mathfrak{h}(s)| \, ds \\ &+ \frac{(\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{1-\xi}}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \int_{a}^{t} \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha-1} |\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(s)| \, ds \\ &\leq \frac{|\mathfrak{h}_{a}|}{|\Gamma(\theta)|} + \frac{(\psi(b) - \psi(a))^{\alpha}}{\alpha |\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} B(\xi, \alpha) \left(L \|\mathfrak{h}\|_{C_{1-\xi;\psi}} + \|\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}\|_{C_{1-\xi;\psi}}\right) \\ &:= r. \end{split}$$

Let $\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{v}\in C_{1-\xi;\psi}(J)$ and for $t\in J,$ we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \left((N\mathfrak{h})(t) - (N\mathfrak{v})(t) \right) (\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{1-\xi} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{(\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{1-\xi}}{|\Gamma(\theta_1)|} \int_a^t \psi'(s) (\psi(t) - \psi(s))^{\alpha-1} L |\mathfrak{h}(s) - \mathfrak{v}(s)| \, ds \\ &\leq \frac{L (\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{1-\xi}}{|\Gamma(\theta_1)|} (\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{\alpha+\xi-1} B(\xi, \alpha) \, \|\mathfrak{h} - \mathfrak{v}\|_{C_{1-\xi;\psi}} \\ &\leq \frac{L}{|\Gamma(\theta_1)|} (\psi(b) - \psi(a))^{\alpha} B(\xi, \alpha) \, \|\mathfrak{h} - \mathfrak{v}\|_{C_{1-\xi;\psi}} \\ &\leq \|\mathfrak{h} - \mathfrak{v}\|_{C_{1-\xi;\psi}} \, . \end{split}$$

Theorem 3.2. Assume that [H3] is satisfied. Then, Eq.(1.1)-(1.2) has at least one solution.

Proof. Consider the operator *N*, we check $N(B_r) \subset B_r$. For $\mathfrak{h} \in C_{1-\xi;\psi}(J)$ and $\|\mathfrak{h}\|_{C_{1-\xi;\psi}} < r'$. By using assumption [H3], we can obtain

$$\begin{split} |(N\mathfrak{h})(t)| &= \left| \frac{\mathfrak{h}_{a}}{\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\theta-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_{1})} \int_{a}^{t} \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_{1}-1} \mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{h}(s)) ds \right| \\ &\leq \frac{|\mathfrak{h}_{a}|}{|\Gamma(\theta)|} \left| \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\theta-1} \right| + \frac{1}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \int_{a}^{t} \psi'(s) \left| \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_{1}-1} \right| |\mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{h}(s))| ds \\ &\leq \frac{|\mathfrak{h}_{a}|}{|\Gamma(\theta)|} \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\xi-1} + \frac{1}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \int_{a}^{t} \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} \left(M |\mathfrak{h}| + N \right) ds \\ \| (N\mathfrak{h})(t) \|_{C_{1-\xi;\Psi}} &\leq \frac{|\mathfrak{h}_{a}|}{|\Gamma(\theta)|} + \frac{(\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{1-\xi}}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \int_{a}^{t} \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} M |\mathfrak{h}| ds \\ &+ \frac{(\psi(t) - \psi(a))^{1-\xi}}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \int_{a}^{t} \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} N ds \\ &\leq \frac{|\mathfrak{h}_{a}|}{|\Gamma(\theta)|} + M \frac{(\psi(b) - \psi(a))^{\alpha}}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} B(\xi, \alpha) \| \mathfrak{h} \|_{C_{1-\xi;\Psi}} + N \frac{(\psi(b) - \psi(a))^{\alpha-\xi+1}}{\alpha |\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \\ &:= r'. \end{split}$$

Now we show that $N: B_r \to B_r$ is continuous. Let \mathfrak{h}_n be a sequence such that $\mathfrak{h}_n \to \mathfrak{h}$ in B_r . Then for each $t \in J$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(N\mathfrak{h}_{n}(t) - N\mathfrak{h}(t) \right) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{1-\xi} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{\left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{1-\xi}}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \int_{0}^{t} \psi'(s) \left| \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_{1}-1} \right| |\mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{h}_{n}(t)) - \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{h}(t))| \, ds \\ &\leq \frac{\left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{1-\xi}}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \int_{0}^{t} \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} |\mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{h}_{n}(t)) - \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{h}(t))| \, ds \\ &\leq \frac{\left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{1-\xi}}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\alpha+\xi-1} B(\xi,\alpha) \left\| \mathfrak{g}(\cdot,\mathfrak{h}_{n}(\cdot)) - \mathfrak{g}(\cdot,\mathfrak{h}(\cdot)) \right\|_{C_{1-\xi,\psi}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{|\Gamma(\theta_{1})|} \left(\psi(b) - \psi(a) \right)^{\alpha} B(\xi,\alpha) \left\| \mathfrak{g}(\cdot,\mathfrak{h}_{n}(\cdot)) - \mathfrak{g}(\cdot,\mathfrak{h}(\cdot)) \right\|_{C_{1-\xi,\psi}}. \end{split}$$

Since g is continuous, then by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem which implies

$$\|(N\mathfrak{h}_n)(t) - (N\mathfrak{h})(t)\|_{C_{1-\xi,\psi}} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Thus $N(B_r)$ is uniformly bounded. It is clear that $N(B_r) \subset B_r$ is bounded. Next we show that $N(B_r)$ is equicontinuous. Let $t_1, t_2 \in J$, such that $t_1 < t_2$, we get

$$\begin{split} \left| (\boldsymbol{\psi}(t_2) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(a))^{1-\xi} (N\mathfrak{h})(t_2) - (\boldsymbol{\psi}(t_1) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(a))^{1-\xi} (N\mathfrak{h})(t_1) \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{(\boldsymbol{\psi}(t_2) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(a))^{1-\xi}}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^{t_2} \boldsymbol{\psi}'(s) \left(\boldsymbol{\psi}(t_2) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(s)\right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{h}(s)) ds \\ &+ \frac{(\boldsymbol{\psi}(t_1) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(a))^{1-\xi}}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^{t_1} \boldsymbol{\psi}'(s) \left(\boldsymbol{\psi}(t_1) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(s)\right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{h}(s)) ds \\ &\leq \frac{\|\mathfrak{g}\|_{C_{1-\xi, \psi}}}{|\Gamma(\theta_1)|} B(\xi, \alpha) \left| (\boldsymbol{\psi}(t_2) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(a))^{\alpha} + (\boldsymbol{\psi}(t_1) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(a))^{\alpha} \right|. \end{split}$$

Thus from Steps 1 to 3 with the Arzel \ddot{a} -Ascoli theorem, the operator *N* is continuous and compact. From Theorem 2.13 the operator *N* has a fixed point \mathfrak{h} which is a solution of the problem Eq.(2.5).

Theorem 3.3. The assumptions [H1] and [H4] hold. Then Eq.(1.1)-(1.2) is generalised U-H-R stable.

Proof. Let v be solution of 2.4 and by Theorem 3.1 there h is unique solution of the problem

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\psi}\mathfrak{h}(t) &= \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{h}(t)),\\ \mathfrak{I}^{1-\theta;\psi}\mathfrak{h}(t)|_{t=a} &= \mathfrak{I}^{1-\theta;\psi}\mathfrak{v}(t)|_{t=a} = \mathfrak{h}_a. \end{split}$$

Then we have

.

$$\mathfrak{h}(t) = \frac{\mathfrak{v}_a}{\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\Psi(t) - \Psi(a) \right)^{\theta - 1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\Psi(t) - \Psi(s) \right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{h}(s)) ds.$$

By differentiating inequality (2.4), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathfrak{v}(t) - \frac{\mathfrak{v}_a}{\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\theta - 1} - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{v}(s)) ds \right| \\ \leq \left| \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \varphi(s) ds \right| \\ \leq \lambda_{\varphi} \varphi(t). \end{aligned}$$

Hence it follows that,

$$\begin{split} &|\mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{h}(t)| \\ &\leq \left| \mathfrak{v}(t) - \frac{\mathfrak{v}_a}{\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\theta - 1} - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{h}(s)) ds \right| \\ &\leq \left| \mathfrak{v}(t) - \frac{\mathfrak{v}_a}{\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\psi(t) - \psi(a) \right)^{\theta - 1} - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\theta_1)} \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\theta_1 - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{v}(s)) ds \right| \\ &+ \int_a^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(t) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha - 1} |\mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{v}(s)) - \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{h}(s))| ds \\ &\leq \lambda_{\varphi} \varphi(t) + \frac{L(\psi(b) - \psi(a))^{\alpha}}{\alpha \left| \Gamma(\theta_1) \right|} \left| \mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{h}(t) \right| \end{split}$$

By Lemma 2.12, there exists a constant $K^* > 0$ independent of $\lambda_{\varphi} \varphi(t)$ such that

$$|\mathfrak{v}(t) - \mathfrak{h}(t)| \leq K^* \varphi(t) := C_{f,\varphi} \varphi(t).$$

4. An example

In this section, here we consider the following Cauchy problem in order to verify our results.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\Psi}\mathfrak{h}(t) &= \frac{1}{20}(\Psi(t) - \Psi(a))\cos(t)\mathfrak{h}(t), \ t \in J := (a,b], \\ \mathfrak{I}^{1-\theta;\Psi}\mathfrak{h}(t)|_{t=a} &= \mathfrak{h}_a, \theta = \theta_1 + \theta_2 - \theta_1\theta_2, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.1)$$

By taking $\psi(t) = \ln t$, a = 1, b = e, $\theta_1 = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3}i$, $\theta_2 = \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{2}i$, then we get a particular case of the proposed problem (4.1) using the Hadamard fractional derivative.

$$\mathfrak{D}^{\theta_1,\theta_2;\ln t}\mathfrak{h}(t) = \frac{1}{20}\ln t^{1/2}\cos(t)\mathfrak{h}(t), \ t \in (1,e],$$
(4.2)

$$\mathfrak{I}^{1-\theta;\ln t}\mathfrak{h}(1) = 1.$$
(4.3)

Here the function g is continuous. Then, for all $\mathfrak{h}, \mathfrak{v} \in R$, and $t \in (1, e]$, we have

$$|\mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{h}) - \mathfrak{g}(t,\mathfrak{v})| \leq \frac{1}{20} |\mathfrak{h} - \mathfrak{v}|$$

Thus condition (H2) is satisfied with $L = \frac{1}{20}$. Then, for $\lambda_{\varphi} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}}\varphi(t) = \ln t^{1/2}$, condition (H4) is satisfied. Hence, by Theorem 3.1 and Theorem 3.3, the problem has a unique solution and it is U-H-R stability.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like thank the reviewers for their useful comments.

References

- [1] R. Hilfer, Applications of fractional Calculus in Physics, World scientific, Singapore, 1999.
- [2] A. A. Kilbas, H. M. Srivastava, J. J. Trujillo, Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations, Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 2006.
 [3] X.-Jun. Yang, Local Fractional Functional Analysis and Its Applications, Asian Academic Publisher Limited, Hong Kong, 2011.
 [4] Jumarie, G. Maximum Entropy, Information Without Probability and Complex Fractals: Classical and Quantum Approach, 112, Springer Science &
- [5]
- Business Media 2013. X-Jun Yang, D. Baleanu and H. M. Srivastava, Local Fractional Integral Transforms and Their Applications, Published by Elsevier Ltd (2016). R. W. Ibrahim, Fractional calculus of Multi-objective functions & Multi-agent systems. LAMBERT Academic Publishing, Saarbrcken, Germany **2017**. J. Vanterler da C. Sousa, E. Capelas de Oliveira, On the ψ -Hilfer fractional derivative, *Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul.*. In Press, Accepted [6]
- [7] Manuscript-2018.
- R.W. Ibrahim, Generalized Ulam-Hyers stability for fractional differential equations." International Journal of Mathematics 23.05 (2012) 1250056.
- [9] R.W. Ibrahim, Ulam stability for fractional differential equation in complex domain, Abstract and Applied Analysis. Vol. 2012. Hindawi, 2012.
 [10] R.W. Ibrahim, Ulam-Hyers stability for Cauchy fractional differential equation in the unit disk, Abstract and Applied Analysis. Vol. 2012. Hindawi,
- 2012. [11] R.W. Ibrahim and H. A. Jalab, Existence of Ulam stability for iterative fractional differential equations based on fractional entropy. Entropy 17.5 (2015)
- [12]
- J. Vivek, K. Kanagarajan and S. Sivasundaram, Theory and analysis of nonlinear neutral pantograph equations via Hilfer fractional derivative, *Nonlinear Stud.* 24(3) (2017),699-712.
 J. Wang and Y. Zhang, Nonlocal initial value problem for differential equations with Hilfer fractional derivative, *Appl. Math. Comput.* 266 2015, 850-859. [13]

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



Positive solutions for nonlinear fractional differential equation with nonlocal boundary conditions

Noureddine Bouteraa^{a*}, Slimane Benaicha^a and Habib Djourdem^a

^aLaboratory of Fundamental and Applied Mathematics of Oran (LMFAO), University of Oran1, Ahmed Benbella, Algeria ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: bouteraa-27@hotmail.fr

Article Info	Abstract					
Keywords: Positive Solution, Iterative sequence, Green's function 2010 AMS: Primary 34B18, Secondary 34A08, 26A33 Received: 18 February 2018 Accepted: 1 March 2018 Available online: 11 March 2018	In this paper, we study the boundary value problem of a class of fractional differential equations involving the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative with nonlocal integral boundary conditions. To establish the existence results for the given problems, we use the properties of the Green's function and the monotone iteration technique, one shows the existence of positive solutions and constructs two successively iterative sequences to approximate the solutions. The results are illustrated with an example.					

1. Introduction

In this paper, we are interested in the existence of solutions for the nonlinear fractional differential equation

$$D_{0+}^{\alpha}u(t) + f(t,u(t)) = 0, \quad t \in (0,1),$$
(1.1)

subject to the boundary conditions

$$u^{(i)}(0) = 0, \ 0 \le i \le 2, \ D_{0^+}^{\beta} u(1) = \lambda I_{0^+}^{\beta} u(\eta),$$
(1.2)

where $D_{0^+}^{\alpha}$, $D_{0^+}^{\beta}$ are the standard Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative of order $\alpha \in (3,4]$, $\beta \in (0,2]$, I_{0+}^{β} is the standard Riemann-Liouville fractional integral of order $\beta \in (0,2]$ and $0 \le \frac{\lambda \Gamma(\alpha - \beta) \eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)} < 1$.

The first definition of fractional derivative was introduced at the end of the nineteenth century by Liouville and Riemann, but the concept of non-integer derivative and integral, as a generalization of the traditional integer order differential and integral calculus, was mentioned already in 1695 by Leibniz and L'Hospital. In fact, fractional derivatives provide an excellent tool for the description of memory and hereditary properties of various materials and processes. The mathematical modelling of systems and processes in the fields of physics, chemistry, aerodynamics, electrodynamics of complex medium, polymer rheology, Bode's analysis of feedback amplifiers, capacitor theory, electrical circuits, electro-analytical chemistry, biology, control theory, fitting of experimental data, involves derivatives (or q-derivatives) of fractional order see for example [5, 6]. For more details we refer the reader to [2, 11] and the references cited therein.

Many mathematicians show strong interest in fractional differential equations and many wonderful results have been obtained. The techniques of nonlinear analysis, as the main method to deal with the problems of nonlinear fractional differential equations, plays an essential role in the research of this field, such as establishing the existence and the uniqueness or the multiplicity of solutions to nonlinear fractional differential equations boundary value problems, see [4, 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19] and the references therein. In [3], the authors studied the boundary value problems of the fractional order differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} D_{0^+}^{\alpha} u(t) + f(t, u(t)) = 0, \quad t \in (0, 1), \\ u(0) = 0, D_{0^+}^{\beta} u(1) = a D_{0^+}^{\beta} u(\eta), \end{cases}$$

Email addresses: bouteraa-27@hotmail.fr (N. Bouteraa), slimanebenaicha@yahoo.fr (S. Benaicha), djourdem.habib7@gmail.com (H. Djourdem)

where $1 < \alpha \le 2$, $0 < \eta < 1$, $0 < a, \beta < 1$, $f \in C([0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R})$ and $D_{0^+}^{\alpha}$, $D_{0^+}^{\beta}$ are the standard Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative of order α , β respectively. They obtained the multiple positive solutions by the Leray-Schauder nonlinear alternative and the fixed point theorem on cones.

The monotone iteration scheme is an interesting and effective way to investigate the existence of solutions to nonlinear fractional problem (see for example [8, 13, 14]). Inspired and motivated by the works mentioned above, we focus on the existence of positive solutions for the nonlocal boundary value problem (1.1) - (1.2) by using the fixed point theorem for increasing operators on the order intervals, we also establish two iterative sequences to approximate the solutions. The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we recall some preliminary facts that we need in the sequel, for more details; see [1]. The existence of the positive solutions to the problem (1.1) - (1.2), is proved and two successively iterative sequences to approximate the solutions are constructed and we give an example to illustrate our results in Section 3.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we recall some definitions and facts which will be used in the later analysis.

Definition 2.1. Let *E* be a real Banach space. A nonempty closed set $K \subset E$ is said to be a cone provided that (*i*) $c_1u + c_2v \in K$ for all $c_1 \ge 0$, $c_2 \ge 0$, and (*ii*) $u \in K$, $-u \in K$ implies u = 0.

Every cone K induces an ordering in E given by $u \le v$ if and only if $v - u \in K$.

Definition 2.2. The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral of order $\alpha > 0$ of a function $u : (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by

$$I_{0+}^{\alpha}u(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} u(s) \, ds, \quad t > 0,$$

where $\Gamma(\cdot)$ is the Euler Gamma function, provided that the right side is pointwise defined on $(0,\infty)$.

Definition 2.3. [1]. The Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative order $\alpha > 0$ of a continuous function $u : (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined by

$$D_{0^{+}}^{\alpha}u(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{n-\alpha-1} u(s) \, ds, \quad t > 0,$$

where $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil + 1$, $\lceil \alpha \rceil$ denotes the integer part of number α , provided that the right side is pointwise defined on $(0, \infty)$.

Lemma 2.4. [1] (i) If $u \in L^{p}(0,1)$, $1 \le p \le +\infty$, $\beta > \alpha > 0$, then $D_{0^{+}}^{\alpha} I_{0^{+}}^{\beta} u(t) = I_{0^{+}}^{\beta - \alpha} u(t)$, $D_{0^{+}}^{\alpha} I_{0^{+}}^{\alpha} u(t) = u(t)$, $I_{0^{+}}^{\alpha} I_{0^{+}}^{\beta} u(t) = I_{0^{+}}^{\alpha + \beta} u(t)$. (ii) If $\beta > \alpha > 0$, then $D^{\alpha} t^{\beta - 1} = \frac{\Gamma(\beta) t^{\beta - \alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\beta - \alpha)}$.

(iii) If $\alpha > 0$ and $\gamma \in (-1, +\infty)$, then $I_{0^+}^{\alpha} t^{\gamma} = \frac{\Gamma(\gamma+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha+\gamma+1)} t^{\alpha+\gamma}$.

Lemma 2.5. [1] Let $\alpha > 0$ and for any $y \in L^1(0,1)$. Then, the general solution of the fractional differential equation $D_{0^+}^{\alpha}u(t) + y(t) = 0, 0 < t < 1$ is given by

$$u(t) = -\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} y(s) ds + c_{1}t^{\alpha-1} + c_{2}t^{\alpha-2} + \dots + c_{n}t^{\alpha-n}$$

where $c_0, c_1, ..., c_{n-1}$ are real constants and $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil + 1$.

Lemma 2.6. Let $y \in C[0,1]$. Then the solution of the fractional boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} D_{0^+}^{\alpha}u(t) + y(t) = 0, \\ u^{(i)}(0) = 0, \ 0 \le i \le 2, \\ D_{0^+}^{\beta}u(1) = \lambda I_{0^+}^{\beta}u(\eta), \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

is given by

$$u(t) = \int_{0}^{1} G(t,s) y(s) ds,$$
(2.2)

where

$$G(t,s) = \begin{cases} \frac{-P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-1}+\Delta}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)}, & 0 \le s \le t \le 1, \ s \le \eta, \\ \frac{\Delta}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)}, & 0 \le t \le s \le \eta \le 1, \\ \frac{-P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-1}+\Lambda}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)}, & 0 \le \eta \le s \le t \le 1, \\ \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)}, & 0 \le t \le s \le 1, \ s \ge \eta, \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

where
$$\Delta = t^{\alpha-1} \left[\Gamma(\alpha) \Gamma(\alpha+\beta) (1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} - \lambda \Gamma(\alpha) \Gamma(\alpha-\beta) (\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} \right],$$

 $\Lambda = \Gamma(\alpha+\beta) \Gamma(\alpha) (1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} t^{\alpha-1}.$
and $P = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} - \frac{\lambda \Gamma(\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)} \eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}.$

+

Proof. In view of Lemma 2.5, the general solution for the above equation is

$$u(t) = -\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} y(s) ds + c_{1}t^{\alpha-1} + c_{2}t^{\alpha-2} + c_{3}t^{\alpha-3} + C_{4}t^{\alpha-4},$$

where $c_1, c_2, c_3, c_4 \in \mathbb{R}$.

The boundary conditions u(0) = u'(0) = u''(0) = 0, implies that $c_2 = c_3 = c_4 = 0$. Thus

$$u(t) = -\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} y(s) ds + c_1 t^{\alpha-1}.$$
(2.4)

By (2.4) and Lemma 2.4, we get

$$D_{0^+}^{\beta}u(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \left[c_1 \Gamma(\alpha) t^{\alpha-\beta-1} - \int_0^t (t-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} y(s) ds \right].$$

In view of boundary condition $D^{\beta}_{0^+}u(1) = \lambda I^{\beta}_{0^+}u(\eta)$, we conclude that

$$c_1 = \frac{1}{P} \left[\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \int_0^1 (1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} y(s) ds - \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)} \int_0^\eta (\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} y(s) ds \right].$$

Therefore, the unique solution of the problem (2.1) is given by

$$u(t) = \frac{t^{\alpha-1}}{P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \int_{0}^{1} (1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} y(s) ds - \frac{\lambda t^{\alpha-1}}{P\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)} \int_{0}^{\eta} (\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} y(s) ds$$
$$-\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} y(s) ds.$$

For $t \leq \eta$, one has

$$\begin{split} u(t) &= \frac{t^{\alpha-1}}{P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \left[\int_{0}^{t} (1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} y(s) ds + \int_{t}^{\eta} (1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} y(s) ds + \int_{\eta}^{1} (1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} y(s) ds \right] \\ &- \frac{\lambda t^{\alpha-1}}{P\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)} \left[\int_{0}^{t} (\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} y(s) ds + \int_{t}^{\eta} (\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} y(s) ds \right] - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} y(s) ds \\ &= \int_{0}^{t} \frac{-P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-1} + \Delta}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} y(s) ds + \int_{t}^{\eta} \frac{\Delta}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} y(s) ds \\ &+ \int_{\eta}^{1} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} t^{\alpha-1}}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} y(s) ds, \end{split}$$

For $t \ge \eta$, one has

$$\begin{split} & u(t) = \int_{0}^{\eta} \frac{-P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-1} + \Delta}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} y(s) ds \\ & + \int_{\eta}^{t} \frac{-P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-1} + \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} y(s) ds \\ & + \int_{t}^{1} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}}{P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} y(s) ds, \\ & = \int_{0}^{1} G(t,s)y(s) ds. \end{split}$$

The proof is complete.

•••

We need some properties of function G(t,s) to establish the existence of positive solutions.

Lemma 2.7. The Green's function G(t,s) has the following properties: (i) The function G(t,s) is continuous and G(t,s) > 0 for all $t, s \in (0,1)$. (ii) For all $t, s \in (0,1)$, we have

$$t^{\alpha-1}w_2(s) \le G(t,s) \le t^{\alpha-1}w_1(s), \tag{2.5}$$

where

$$w_{1}(s) = \frac{\lambda \eta^{\alpha+\beta-1} \left[(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} - (1-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} \right]}{P\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)},$$

and

$$w_2(s) = \frac{(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}}{P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)}.$$

Proof. It is easy to prove (*i*). Now, we prove (*ii*), assume that $0 \le \frac{\lambda \Gamma(\alpha - \beta) \eta^{\alpha + \beta - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha + \beta)} < 1$, then for $0 \le s \le t \le 1$, $s \le \eta$, we get

$$\begin{split} P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)G(t,s) &= -P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} \\ &+ \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1} - \lambda\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)(\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}, \\ &= \lambda\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\left\{\eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}(t-s)^{\alpha-1} - (\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}\right\} \\ &+ \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\left\{-(t-s)^{\alpha-1} + (1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}\right\}, \\ &\geq \lambda\eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)t^{\alpha-1}\left[(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} - (1-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1}\right], \end{split}$$

and

$$P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)G(t,s) = \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1} - \lambda\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)(\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1},$$

$$\leq \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}.$$

For $0 \le \eta \le s \le t \le 1$, we have

$$\begin{split} P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)G(t,s) &= -P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-1} + \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}, \\ &= -\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-1} + \lambda\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}(t-s)^{\alpha-1} \\ &+ \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}, \\ &\geq \lambda\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}(t-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} - \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}(t-s)^{\alpha-1} \\ &+ \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}, \\ &\geq \lambda\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}\left[(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} - (1-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1}\right], \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)G(t,s) &= -P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-1}+\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1},\\ &= -\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(t-s)^{\alpha-1}t^{\alpha-1}+\lambda\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}(t-s)^{\alpha-1}+\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1},\\ &+\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1},\\ &\leq \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}. \end{split}$$

For $0 \le t \le s \le 1$, $s \ge \eta$, we get

$$P\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)G(t,s) = \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1},$$

$$\geq \lambda\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\eta^{\alpha+\beta-1}t^{\alpha-1}\left[(1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1}-(1-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1}\right].$$

3. Existence results

We shall consider the Banach space E = C[0,1] equipped with the norm $||u|| = \max_{0 \le t \le 1} |u(t)|$ and let a closed cone $K \subset E$ by $K = \{u \in E : u \ge 0\}$ where 0 is the the zero function. Then K is normal.

Set $K_a = \{u \in E : ||u|| \le a\}$. Define the operator $T : K_a \to E$ as

$$(Tu)(t) = \int_{0}^{1} G(t,s) f(s,u(s)) ds, \quad t \in [0,1],$$
(3.1)

where G(t,s) is given by (2.3). It is not hard to see that fixed points of operator T coincide with the solutions to the problem (1.1) - (1.2).

Lemma 3.1. [9] Let *E* be a Banach space ordered by a normal cone $K \subset E$. Assume that $T : [x_1, x_2] \to E$ is completely continuous operator such that $x_1 \leq Tx_2, x_2 \geq Tx_2$. Then *T* has a minimal fixed point x_* and a maximal fixed point x^* such that $x_1 \leq x_* \leq x^* \leq x_2$. Moreover, $x_* = \lim_{n \to \infty} T^n x_1, \quad x^* = T^n x_2$, where $\{T^n x_1\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is an increasing sequence and $\{T^n x_2\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a decreasing sequence.

First, for the existence results of problem (1.1) - (1.2), we need the following assumptions. $(A_1) f : [0,1] \times [0,a] \rightarrow [0,\infty)$ is continuous and $f(t,0) \neq 0$, (A_2) There exists a nonnegative function $q \in C[0,1] \subseteq L^1[0,1]$ such that $|f(t,u)| \leq q(t)$, $(t,u) \in [0,1] \times [0,a]$, $(A_3) f(t,\underline{u}) \leq f(t,\overline{u})$, $t \in [0,1]$, $0 \leq \underline{u} \leq \overline{u} \leq a$.

Lemma 3.2. Assume that $(A_1) - (A_3)$ hold. Then the operator T defined in (3.1) is a completely continuous increasing operator.

Proof. Firstly, the operator T is continuous in view of the continuity of functions f(t, u(t)) and G(t, s). Secondly, we will show that $T(K_a)$ is bounded. Let

$$L = \int_{0}^{1} q(t) dt < \infty.$$

Then, for any $u \in K_a$, we have

$$\|(Tu)(t)\| = \max_{t \in [0,1]} \int_{0}^{1} G(t,s) |f(s,u(s))| ds \le \frac{L}{P\Gamma(\alpha - \beta)}, \quad t \in [0,1].$$

For each $u \in K_a$, one can show that

$$\begin{split} \left| (Tu)'(t) \right| &= \left| \frac{(\alpha-1)t^{\alpha-2}}{P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \int_{0}^{1} (1-s)^{\alpha-\beta-1} f(s,u(s)) ds \right| \\ &- \frac{\lambda (\alpha-1)t^{\alpha-2}}{P\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)} \int_{0}^{\eta} (\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} f(s,u(s)) ds - \frac{\alpha-1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-2} f(s,u(s)) ds \right|, \\ &= \left| \frac{(\alpha-1)t^{\alpha-2}}{P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \int_{0}^{1} (1-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} f(s,u(s)) ds - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha-1)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-2} f(s,u(s)) ds \right|, \\ &\leq \frac{(\alpha-1)t^{\alpha-2}}{P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \int_{0}^{\eta} (\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} |f(s,u(s))| ds - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha-1)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-2} f(s,u(s)) ds \Big|, \\ &\leq \frac{(\alpha-1)t^{\alpha-2}}{P\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)} \int_{0}^{\eta} (\eta-s)^{\alpha+\beta-1} |f(s,u(s))| ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha-1)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-2} |f(s,u(s))| ds, \\ &\leq \frac{(\alpha-1)L}{P\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} + \frac{\lambda(\alpha-1)L}{P\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)} + \frac{L}{\Gamma(\alpha-1)} = \bar{L}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, for any $t_1, t_2 \in [t_1, t_2] \leq \overline{L}(t_2 - t_1)$. with $t_1 < t_2$, we have

$$|(Tu)(t_1) - (Tu)(t_2)| \le \int_{t_1}^{t_2} |(Tu)'(s)| \, ds \le \overline{L}(t_2 - t_1) \to 0 \, as \, t_2 \to t_1,$$

The Arzela-Ascoli theorem implies that the operator $T : K_a \to E$ is completely continuous. The assumption (A_3) provides that the operator $T : K_a \to E$ is an increasing operator. The proof is completed.

Theorem 3.3. Assume that $(A_1) - (A_3)$ hold, and

$$\int_{0}^{1} w_{1}(s) f(s,0) ds \ge 0, \qquad \int_{0}^{1} w_{2}(s) f(a, as^{\alpha - 1}) \le a, \quad s \in [0, 1].$$
(3.2)

Then the problem (1.1) - (1.2) has two positive solutions u^* , v^* satisfying $0 < u^* \le v^* \le a$. Moreover, there exist a non-decreasing iterative sequence $\{u_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ with

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} u_n = u^*, \quad u_0 = 0, \quad u_{n+1} = T u_n, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$
(3.3)

and a non-decreasing iterative sequence $\{v_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ with

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} v_n = u^*, \quad v_0 = at^{\alpha - 1}, \quad v_{n+1} = Tv_n, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(3.4)

Proof. We only need to prove that $Tu_0 \ge u_0$ and $Tv_0 \le u_0$.

$$(Tu_0)(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s) f(s,u_0) ds = \int_0^1 G(t,s) f(s,0) ds,$$

$$\geq t^{\alpha-1} \int_0^1 w_1(s) f(s,0) ds \geq 0 = u_0, \quad t \in [0,1],$$
(3.5)

this implies $u_1 \ge u_0$, wich combined with (A_3) gives

$$u_{2} = (Tu_{1})(t) = \int_{0}^{1} G(t,s) f(s,u_{1}(t)) ds \ge u_{1}, \quad t \in [0,1]$$

Similarly, we have

$$v_{1} = Tv_{0} = \int_{0}^{1} G(t,s) f(s,v_{0}) ds,$$

$$\leq t^{\alpha-1} \int_{0}^{1} w_{2}(s) f(s,at^{\alpha-1}) ds,$$

$$\leq at^{\alpha-1} = v_{0}, \quad t \in [0,1]$$
(3.6)

Then, by (3.5) - (3.6) and induction, the iterative sequences $\{u_n\}, \{v_n\}$ satisfy

 $u_{0}(t) \leq u_{1}(t) \leq \ldots \leq u_{n}(t) \leq \ldots \leq v_{n}(t) \leq \ldots \leq v_{1}(t) \leq v_{0}(t), \forall t \in [0,1].$

By induction, one can prove that $u_{n+1} \ge u_n$ and $v_{n+1} \le v_n$.

Lemma 3.1 shows that the operator *T* has a minimal fixed point u^* and a maximal fixed point v^* satisfying $0 \le u^* \le v^* \le a$. From (A_1) we find that the zero function is not the solution to the problem (1.1) - (1.2). Thus $0 < u^* \le v^* \le a$. The proof is complete.

We construct an example to illustrate the applicability of the results presented.

Example 3.4. Consider the following boundary value problem

$$D_{0^+}^{\frac{7}{2}}u(t) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}\left(t + u^{\frac{1}{3}}(t) \tanh(u(t)) + u^{\frac{1}{3}}(t)\right) = 0, t \in (0,1),$$

$$u(0) = u'(0) = u''(0) = 0, D^{\frac{5}{2}}u(1) = \frac{1}{2}I_{0^+}^{\frac{5}{2}}u\left(\frac{1}{2}\right),$$

where $\alpha = \frac{7}{2}, \beta = \frac{5}{2}, \lambda = \frac{1}{2}, \eta = \frac{1}{2}$ and $f(t, u(t)) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \left(t + u^{\frac{1}{3}}(t) tanh(u(t)) + u^{\frac{1}{3}}(t) \right)$. We take a = 10. By simple calculation we have $P = 3,3229182, \quad f(t,0) = \frac{t}{\sqrt{t}} \text{ and } f\left(t,10t^{\frac{5}{2}}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \left(t + (10)^{\frac{1}{3}}t^{\frac{5}{6}} + t^{\frac{5}{6}}\right)$. A simple calculation leads to

$$\int_{0}^{1} w_{1}(s) f(s,0) ds \simeq 0,0000239 \ge 0,$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{1} w_2(s) f\left(s, 10s^{\frac{5}{2}}\right) ds \simeq 0,9124781 \le 10.$$

Hence, all the assumptions of Theorem 3.3 are satisfied. Which implies that the boundary value (1.1) - (2.1) has two nontrivial solutions u^* , v^* with $0 \le u^* \le v^* \le 10$, and the two monotone iterative sequences $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ can be taken as

$$u_0 = 0$$
, $u_{n+1} = Tu_n$, $v_0 = 10t^{\alpha - 1}$, $v_{n+1} = Tv_n$, $n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$

Acknowledgments

The authors want to thank the anonymous referee for the throughout reading of the manuscript and several suggestions that help us improve the presentation of the paper.

References

- [1] A. A. Kilbas, H. M. Srivastava, J. J. Trijullo, Theory and applications of fractional differential equations, Elsevier Science b. V, Amsterdam, (2006). 1. [2] A. Cabada, G. Wang, positive solutions of nonlinear fractional differential equations with integral boundary conditions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 389(1),
- (2012), 403-411. [3] C. F. Li, X. N. Luo and Y. Zhou, Existence of positive solutions of the boundary value problem for nonlinear fractional differential equations. Comput. Math. Appl. 59 (2010), 1363-1375.
- [4] F. Liu, K. Burrage, Novel techniques in parameter estimation for fractional dynamycal models arising from biological systems Comput. Math. Appl. 62(3), (2011), 822-833.
- [5] J. R. Graef, L. Kong, Q. Kong and M. Wang, Uniqueness of positive solutions of fractional boundary value problems with non-homogeneous integral boundary conditions, Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 15 (2012), 509-528.
 [6] J. R. Graef, L. Kong, Q. Kong, Positive solution for a class of higher-order boundary value problems with fractional q-derivatives. Appl. Math. Comput. (2012), 602-6709.
- 218 (2012), 9682-9689.
- [7] J. R. Graef, L. Kong, Q. Kong, and M. Wang, Existence and uniqueness of solutions for a fractional boundary value problem with Dirichlet boundary condition, Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ. 2013 No.55,11 pp.
- M. Al-Refai, M. Hadjji, Monotone iterative sequences for nonlinear boundary value problems of fractional order. Nonlinear Anal, 74 (2011), 3531-3539. Ì9Ì J. Tan and C. Cheng, Fractional boundary value problems with Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives. Bound. Value Probl. Doi: 13662-015-0413-y, (2015), 14 pages.
- [10] N. Bouteraa and S. Benaicha, Existence of solutions for three-point boundary value problem for nonlinear fractional differential equations, An. Univ. Oradea, fasc. Math. Volume 25 (2018), nr. 1. to appear. S. Miller, B. Ross, An introduction to the fractional calculus and fractional differential equations, John Wiley and Sons, Inc.; New York, (1993). 1, 1.3, 1
- [11]
- S. G. Samko, A. A. Kilbas and O. I. Marichev, Fractional Integrals and Derivatives: Theory and Applications. Gordon & Breach, Yverdon (1993). [12] [13] S. liu, H. Li and Q. Dai, Nonlinear fractional differential equations with nonlocal integral boundary conditions, Bound. Value. Prob. (2015), 11 pages.
- [14] V. Lakshmikantham and A. S. Vatsala, General uniqueness and monotone iterative technique for fractional differential equations. Appl. Math. Lett. 21 (8) (2008), 828-834
- [15] X. L. Han, H. L. Gao, Existence of positive solutions for eigenvalue problem of nonlinear fractional differential equations. Adv. Differ. Equ. 2012 66 (2012). Y. Sun, M. Zhao, Positive solutions for a class of fractional differential equations with integral boundary conditions. Appl. Math. Lett, 34 (2014), 17-21.
- [16]
- Y. F. Xu, Fractional boundary value problems with integral and anti-periodic boundary conditions. Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc. 39, (2016), 571-587. Y. Qiao and Z. zhou, Existence of solutions for a class of fractional differential equations with integral and anti-periodic boundary conditions, Bound. [17] [18]
- Value Probl. Doi: 13661-016-0547-x, (2017), 9 pages. [19] Z. B. Bai, W. C. Sun and W. Zhang, Positive solutions for boundary value problems of singular fractional differential equations. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2013, Article ID 129640 (2013).

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



Some remarks regarding the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas octonion polynomials

Arzu Özkoç Öztürk^{a*} and Ayhan Porsuk^a

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: arzuozkoc@duzce.edu.tr

Article Info)
--------------	---

Abstract

Keywords: Fibonacci Polynomials, Fibonacci Octonions, Generating Functions 2010 AMS: 05A15, 11B39, 11R52 Received: 30 January 2018 Accepted: 16 February 2018 Available online: 11 March 2018 We investigate the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas octonion polynomials. The main purpose of this paper is using of some properties of the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas polynomials. Also for present some results involving these octonion polynomials, we obtain some interesting computational formulas.

1. Introduction

Fibonacci, Lucas, Pell and the other special numbers are the special case of the second order linear recurrence $R = \{R_i\}_{i=0}^{\infty}$ if the recurrence relation for $i \ge 2$, $R_i = PR_{i-1} - QR_{i-2}$ holds for its terms, where *P* and *Q* are integers such that $D = P^2 - 4Q \ne 0$ (to exclude a degenerate case) and R_0, R_1 are fixed integers. Define the sequences

$$U_{n} = PU_{n-1} - QU_{n-2}$$

$$V_{n} = PV_{n-1} - QV_{n-2}$$
(1.1)

for $n \ge 2$. The characteristic equation of them is $x^2 - Px + Q = 0$ and hence the roots of it are $\alpha = \frac{P + \sqrt{D}}{2}$ and $\beta = \frac{P - \sqrt{D}}{2}$. So by Binet's formula, $U_n = \frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\alpha - \beta}$ and $V_n = \alpha^n + \beta^n$. Further the generating function for U_n and V_n is

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} U_n x^n = \frac{x}{1 - Px + Qx^2} \text{ and } \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} V_n x^n = \frac{2 - Px}{1 - Px + Qx^2}$$

[**8**, **9**].

Polynomials can be defined by Fibonacci-like recursion relations are called Fibonacci polynomials. More mathematicians were involved in the study of Fibonacci polynomials. Let p(x) and q(x) be polynomials with real coefficients. The (p,q)-Fibonacci polynomials are defined by the recurrence relation

$$F_{p,q,n+1}(x) = p(x)F_{p,q,n}(x) + q(x)F_{p,q,n-1}(x)$$
(1.2)

with the initial conditions $F_{p,q,0}(x) = 0$, $F_{p,q,1}(x) = 1$. Also for the p(x) and q(x) polynomials with real coefficients the (p,q)-Lucas polynomials are defined by the recurrence relation

$$L_{p,q,n+1}(x) = p(x)L_{p,q,n}(x) + q(x)L_{p,q,n-1}(x)$$

with the initial conditions $L_{p,q,0}(x) = 2$, $L_{p,q,1}(x) = p(x)$. Let $\alpha_1(x) = \frac{p(x) + \sqrt{p^2(x) + 4q(x)}}{2}$ and $\alpha_2(x) = \frac{p(x) - \sqrt{p^2(x) + 4q(x)}}{2}$ denote the roots of the characteristic equation

Email addresses: arzuozkoc@duzce.edu.tr (A. Özkoç Öztürk), ayhanporsuk@gmail.com (A. Porsuk)

$$\alpha^2 - p(x)\alpha - q(x) = 0$$

on the recurrence relation of (1.2). Binet formulas for the (p,q)-Fibonacci polynomials and (p,q)-Lucas polynomials are

$$F_{p,q,n}(x) = \frac{\alpha_1^n(x) - \alpha_2^n(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)}$$
 and $L_{p,q,n}(x) = \alpha_1^n(x) + \alpha_2^n(x)$.

[<mark>10</mark>]

Note that

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{1}(x) + \alpha_{2}(x) &= p(x) \\ \alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x) &= \sqrt{p^{2}(x) + 4q(x)} \\ \alpha_{1}(x) \cdot \alpha_{2}(x) &= -q(x) \\ \frac{\alpha_{1}(x)}{\alpha_{2}(x)} &= \frac{-\alpha_{1}^{2}(x)}{q(x)}, q(x) \neq 0 \\ \frac{\alpha_{2}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x)} &= \frac{-\alpha_{2}^{2}(x)}{q(x)}, q(x) \neq 0. \end{aligned}$$
(1.3)

In [5], they introduce (p,q)-Fibonacci quaternion polynomials that generalize h(x)-Fibonacci quaternion polynomials. Division algebras are defined on real numbers \mathbb{R} , complex numbers \mathbb{C} , quaternions **H**, and octonions \mathbb{Q} . There are different types of sequences of quaternions like Fibonacci Quaternions, Split Fibonacci Quaternions and Complex Fibonacci Quaternions [1].

The octonions in Clifford algebra are a normed division algebra with eight dimensions over the real numbers larger than the quaternions. The field $\mathbb{Q} \cong \mathbb{C}^4$ of octonions

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \sum_{s=0}^{7} \alpha_s e_s, \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_i \in \mathbb{R} (i = 0, 1, \cdots, 7)$$

is an eight-dimensional non-commutative and non-associative \mathbb{R} -field generated by eight base elements e_0, e_1, \dots, e_6 and e_7 which satisfy the non-commutative and non-associative multiplication rules are listed in below Table.

×	e	$e_0 e_1$	e_2	<i>e</i> ₃	e_4	<i>e</i> 5	e_6	<i>e</i> ₇
e_0	e_0	e_1	e_2	e_3	e_4	e_5	e_6	<i>e</i> ₇
e_1	e_1	$-e_0$	e_3	$-e_2$	e_5	$-e_4$	$-e_{7}$	e_6
e_2	e_2	$-e_3$	$-e_0$	e_1	e_6	e_7	$-e_4$	$-e_5$
<i>e</i> ₃	e_3	e_2	$-e_1$	$-e_0$	e_7	$-e_6$	e_5	$-e_4$
e_4	e_4	$-e_5$	$-e_6$	$-e_{7}$	$-e_0$	e_1	e_2	e_3
e_5	e_5	e_4	$-e_7$	e_6	$-e_1$	$-e_0$	$-e_3$	e_2
e_6	e_6	e_7	e_4	$-e_5$	$-e_2$	e_3	$-e_0$	$-e_1$
<i>e</i> 7	e_7	$-e_6$	e_5	e_4	$-e_3$	$-e_2$	e_1	$-e_0$

The multiplication table for the basis of \mathbb{Q}

For $n \ge 0$, the Fibonacci octonion numbers that are given for the n - th classic Fibonacci F_n number are defined by the following recurrence relations:

$$\mathbb{Q}_n = \sum_{s=0}^7 F_{n+s} e_s.$$

Besides h(x) –Fibonacci octonion polynomials can be defined by [6] that generalized both Catalan's Fibonacci octonion polynomials $\Psi_n(x)$ and Byrd's Fibonacci octonion polynomials and also k – Fibonacci octonion numbers. Moreover in [2] they derived the Binet formula and generating function of h(x) –Fibonacci octonion polynomial sequence.

Let h(x) be a polynomial with real coefficients. The h(x)-Fibonacci octonion polynomials $\{O_{h,n}(x)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ are defined by the recurrence relation

$$O_{h,n}(x) = \sum_{s=0}^{7} F_{h,n+s}(x) e_s$$

where $F_{h,n}(x)$ is the *n*-th h(x)-Fibonacci polynomial in [2].

2. Main theorems of the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas octonion polynomials

In the main section, we introduce the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas octonion polynomials and formulate the Binet-style formula, the generating function and some identities of the (p,q)-Fibonacci octonion and Lucas octonion polynomial sequence. In [7], the authors obtained similar results for the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas quaternion polynomials.

For $n \ge 0$ the Fibonacci octonion numbers that are given for the *n*-th classic Fibonacci F_n number are defined in [4]. Also (p,q)-Fibonacci octonions are investigated by [3].

So (p,q)-Fibonacci octonion polynomials $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ are defined by the recurrence relation

$$OF_{p,q,n}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{7} F_{p,q,n+k}(x)e_k$$

where $F_{p,q,n+k}(x)$ is the (n+k) - th(p,q)-Fibonacci polynomial. The initial conditions of this sequence are given by

$$OF_{p,q,0}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{7} F_{p,q,k}(x)e_k = e_1 + p(x)e_2 + (p^2(x) + q(x))e_3 + (p^3(x) + 2p(x)q(x))e_4 + (p^4(x) + 3p^2(x)q(x) + q^2(x))e_5 + (p^5(x) + 4p^3(x)q(x) + 3p(x)q^2(x))e_6 + (p^6(x) + 5p^4(x)q(x) + 6p^2(x)q^2(x) + q^3(x))e_7$$

and

$$OF_{p,q,1}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{7} F_{p,q,1+k}(x)e_k = e_0 + p(x)e_1 + (p^2(x) + q(x))e_2 + (p^3(x) + 2p(x)q(x))e_3 + (p^4(x) + 3p^2(x)q(x) + q^2(x))e_4 + (p^5(x) + 4p^3(x)q(x) + 3p(x)q^2(x))e_5 + (p^6(x) + 5p^4(x)q(x) + 6p^2(x)q^2(x) + q^3(x))e_6 + (p^7(x) + 6p^5(x)q(x) + 10p^3(x)q^2(x) + 4p(x)q^3(x))e_7.$$

Also $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ is written by a recurrence relation of order two;

$$OF_{p,q,n+1}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{7} F_{p,q,n+1+k}(x)e_k$$

= $\sum_{k=0}^{7} (p(x)F_{p,q,n+k}(x) + q(x)F_{p,q,n-1+k}(x))e_k$
= $p(x)\sum_{k=0}^{7} F_{p,q,n+k}(x)e_k + q(x)\sum_{k=0}^{7} F_{p,q,n-1+k}(x)e_k$

and thus,

$$OF_{p,q,n+1}(x) = p(x)OF_{p,q,n}(x) + q(x)OF_{p,q,n-1}(x).$$

For the n - th (p,q)-Lucas octonion polynomials $OL_{p,q,n}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{7} L_{p,q,n+k}(x)e_k$, where $L_{p,q,n+k}$ is the (n+k) - th (p,q)-Lucas polynomial. For $n \ge 1$

$$OL_{p,q,n+1}(x) = p(x)OL_{p,q,n}(x) + q(x)OL_{p,q,n-1}(x)$$

with the initial conditions.

Theorem 2.1. The generating functions for the (p,q)-Fibonacci octonion polynomials $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ and the (p,q)-Lucas octonion polynomials $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$ are

$$g_{OF}(t) = \frac{OF_{p,q,0}(x) + [OF_{p,q,1}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)]t}{1 - p(x)t - q(x)t^2}$$

and

$$g_{OL}(t) = \frac{OL_{p,q,0}(x) + [OL_{p,q,1}(x) - p(x)OL_{p,q,0}(x)]t}{1 - p(x)t - q(x)t^2}$$

respectively.

Proof. The generating function $g_{OF}(t)$ for $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ is to be of the form

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} OF_{p,q,n}(x)t^n = OF_{p,q,0}(x) + OF_{p,q,1}(x)t + OF_{p,q,2}(x)t^2 + \dots + OF_{p,q,n}(x)t^n + \dots$$
(2.1)

The formal power series expansions of $g_{OF}(t), -p(x)tg_{OF}(t)$ and $-q(x)t^2g_{OF}(t)$ are

$$g_{OF}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} OF_{p,q,n}(x)t^{n} = OF_{p,q,0}(x) + OF_{p,q,1}(x)t + OF_{p,q,2}(x)t^{2} + \dots + OF_{p,q,n}(x)t^{n} + \dots - p(x)tg_{OF}(t) = -p(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)t - p(x)OF_{p,q,1}(x)t^{2} - p(x)OF_{p,q,2}(x)t^{3} - \dots - p(x)OF_{p,q,n}(x)t^{n+1} - \dots - q(x)t^{2}g_{OF}(t) = -q(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)t^{2} - q(x)OF_{p,q,1}(x)t^{3} - q(x)OF_{p,q,2}(x)t^{4} - \dots - q(x)OF_{p,q,n}(x)t^{n+2} - \dots$$

respectively. So the expansion for $g_{OF}(t) - g_{OF}(t)p(x)t - g_{OF}(t)q(x)t^2$ is

$$g_{OF}(t)[1 - p(x)t - q(x)t^{2}] = OF_{p,q,0}(x) + OF_{p,q,1}(x)t - p(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)t + [OF_{p,q,2}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,1}(x) - q(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)]t^{2} + [OF_{p,q,3}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,2}(x) - q(x)OF_{p,q,1}(x)]t^{3} + ... + [OF_{p,q,n}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,n-1}(x) - q(x)OF_{p,q,n-2}(x)]t^{n} + ... = OF_{p,q,0}(x) + [OF_{p,q,1}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)]t.$$

Hence $OF_{p,q,0}(x) + [OF_{p,q,1}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)]t$ is a finite series, so we can rewrite $[1 - p(x)t - q(x)t^2]g_{OF}(t) = OF_{p,q,0}(x) + [OF_{p,q,1}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)]t$ and hence

$$g_{OF}(t) = \frac{OF_{p,q,0}(x) + [OF_{p,q,1}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)]t}{1 - p(x)t - q(x)t^2}$$
(2.2)

as we claimed.

Similarly, it can be also proved that $g_{OL}(t) = \frac{OL_{p,q,0}(x) + [OL_{p,q,1}(x) - p(x)OL_{p,q,0}(x)]t}{1 - p(x)t - q(x)t^2}$.

Lemma 2.2. For the generating function given in Theorem 2.1, we have

$$g_{OF}(t) = \frac{1}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)} \left(\frac{OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)}{1 - \alpha_1(x)t} - \frac{OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_1(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)}{1 - \alpha_2(x)t} \right)$$
$$g_{OL}(t) = \frac{1}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)} \left(\frac{OL_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)OL_{p,q,0}(x)}{1 - \alpha_1(x)t} - \frac{OL_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_1(x)OL_{p,q,0}(x)}{1 - \alpha_2(x)t} \right)$$

Proof. Using the expression of $g_{OF}(t)$ in Teorem 2.1 and (1.3), we found

$$\frac{OF_{p,q,0}(x) + [OF_{p,q,1}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)]t}{1 - p(x)t - q(x)t^2} = \frac{OF_{p,q,0}(x) + [OF_{p,q,1}(x) - p(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)]t}{(1 - \alpha_1(x)t)(1 - \alpha_2(x)t)}$$

$$= \left(\frac{OF_{p,q,0}(x) + [OF_{p,q,1}(x) - (\alpha_{1}(x) + \alpha_{2}(x))OF_{p,q,0}(x)]t}{(1 - \alpha_{1}(x)t)(1 - \alpha_{2}(x)t)}\right) \times \left(\frac{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)}\right)$$

$$= \frac{\left\{\begin{array}{c}\alpha_{1}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x) + \alpha_{1}(x)OF_{p,q,1}(x)t - \alpha_{1}^{2}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)t\\ -\alpha_{1}(x)\alpha_{2}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)t - \alpha_{2}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)t - \alpha_{2}(x)OF_{p,q,1}(x)t\\ +\alpha_{1}(x)\alpha_{2}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)t + \alpha_{2}^{2}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)OF_{p,q,1}(x)t\\ -\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x))(1 - \alpha_{1}(x)t)(1 - \alpha_{2}(x)t)\\ \hline (\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x))(1 - \alpha_{1}(x)t)(1 - \alpha_{2}(x)t)\\ \left\{\begin{array}{c}OF_{p,q,1}(x)(1 - \alpha_{2}(x)t) + \alpha_{2}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)(-1 + \alpha_{2}(x)t)\\ +OF_{p,q,1}(x)(-1 + \alpha_{1}(x)t) + \alpha_{1}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)(1 - \alpha_{1}(x)t)\\ \hline (\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x))(1 - \alpha_{1}(x)t)(1 - \alpha_{2}(x)t)\\ \left\{\begin{array}{c}(1 - \alpha_{2}(x)t)(OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x))\\ \left\{\begin{array}{c}(1 - \alpha_{2}(x)t)(OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x))\\ \end{array}\right\}\right\}$$

$$= \frac{\left(-(1 - \alpha_1(x)t)(OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_1(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)) \right)}{(\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))(1 - \alpha_1(x)t)(1 - \alpha_2(x)t)}$$

=
$$\frac{1}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)} \left[\frac{OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)}{1 - \alpha_1(x)t} - \frac{OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_1(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)}{1 - \alpha_2(x)t} \right]$$

Lemma 2.3. Let $F_{p,q,n}(x)$ and $L_{p,q,n}(x)$ be the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas polynomials respectively. We have 1.

 $F_{p,q,k+1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)F_{p,q,k}(x) = \alpha_1^k(x)$ $F_{p,q,k+1}(x) - \alpha_1(x)F_{p,q,k}(x) = \alpha_2^k(x)$

2.

$$\frac{L_{p,q,k+1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)L_{p,q,k}(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)} = \alpha_1^k(x)$$
$$\frac{\alpha_1(x)L_{p,q,k}(x) - L_{p,q,k+1}(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)} = \alpha_2^k(x).$$

Proof. 1.We prove it by induction. Let k = 1

$$F_{p,q,2}(x) - \alpha_2(x)F_{p,q,1}(x) = p(x) - \alpha_2(x) = \alpha_1(x).$$

So the hypothesis is right for k = 1. Let us assume that the equation is $F_{p,q,n}(x) - \alpha_2(x)F_{p,q,n-1}(x) = \alpha_1^{n-1}(x)$ for k = n - 1. For k = n it becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_1^n(x) &= \alpha_1^{n-1}(x)\alpha_1(x) \\ &= (F_{p,q,n}(x) - \alpha_2(x)F_{p,q,n-1}(x))\alpha_1(x) \\ &= \alpha_1(x)F_{p,q,n}(x) - \alpha_1(x)\alpha_2(x)F_{p,q,n-1}(x) \\ &= (p(x) - \alpha_2(x))F_{p,q,n}(x) - (-q(x))F_{p,q,n-1}(x) \\ &= p(x)F_{p,q,n}(x) + q(x)F_{p,q,n-1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)F_{p,q,n}(x) \\ &= F_{p,q,n+1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)F_{p,q,n}(x). \end{aligned}$$

So we get the desired result for the (p,q)-Fibonacci polynomials. 2. The (p,q)-Lucas polynomials can be proved similarly.

To derive the Binet Formulas for $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ and $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$, we can give the following theorems.

Theorem 2.4. For $n \ge 0$, the Binet formula for the (p,q)-Fibonacci octonion polynomials $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ and also $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$ is as follows

$$OF_{p,q,n}(x) = \frac{\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x) - \alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^n(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)}$$
$$OL_{p,q,n}(x) = \alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x) + \alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^n(x)$$
where $\alpha_1^*(x) = \sum_{k=0}^7 \alpha_1^k(x)e_k$ and $\alpha_2^*(x) = \sum_{k=0}^7 \alpha_2^k(x)e_k$.

Proof. From Lemma 2.1, we get

$$g_{OF}(t) = \frac{1}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)} [(OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)) \\ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n(x)t^n - (OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_1(x)OF_{p,q,0}(x)) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_2^n(x)t^n] \\ = \frac{1}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \sum_{k=0}^{7} (F_{p,q,1+k}(x) - \alpha_2(x)F_{p,q,k}(x))e_k \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n(x)t^n \\ -\sum_{k=0}^{7} (F_{p,q,1+k}(x) - \alpha_1(x)F_{p,q,k}(x))e_k \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n(x)t^n \end{array} \right\} \\ = \frac{1}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{7} \alpha_1^k(x)e_k \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n(x)t^n - \sum_{k=0}^{7} \alpha_2^k(x)e^k \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_2^n(x)t^n \right] \\ = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x) - \alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^n(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)} t^n.$$

Similarly, it can be also proved that $OL_{p,q,n}(x) = \alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x) + \alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^n(x)$.

Theorem 2.5. (*Catalan identity*) Let the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas octonion polynomials $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ and $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$. For n and α , nonnegative integer numbers, such that $\alpha \leq n$, we have

$$OF_{p,q,n+r}(x)OF_{p,q,n-r}(x) - OF_{p,q,n}^2(x) = \frac{(-1)^{r+n+1}\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)q^{n-r}(x)(\alpha_1^r(x) - \alpha_2^r(x))^2}{(\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))^2}$$
$$OL_{p,q,n+r}(x)OL_{p,q,n-r}(x) - OL_{p,q,n}^2(x) = (-1)^{r+n}\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)q^{n-r}(x)(\alpha_1^r(x) - \alpha_2^r(x))^2.$$

Proof. Using the identity (1.3), Lemma 2.2 and Theorem 2.2, we have

$$\begin{split} & OF_{p,q,n+r}(x) OF_{p,q,n-r}(x) - OF_{p,q,n}^2(x) \\ &= \left(\frac{\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^{n+r}(x) - \alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^{n+r}(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^{n-r}(x) - \alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^{n-r}(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)}\right) \\ &- \left(\frac{\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x) - \alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^n(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)}\right)^2 \\ &= \frac{\left\{\begin{array}{c} -\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_1^{n-r}(x)\alpha_2^{n+r}(x) \\ -\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_1^{n+r}(x)\alpha_2^{n-r}(x) \\ +2\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x)\alpha_2^n(x) \end{array}\right\} \\ &= \frac{\left(-\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x)\alpha_2^n(x)\right)^2}{(\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))^2} \\ &= \frac{\left(-\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x)\alpha_2^n(x)\right) \left[\left(-\frac{\alpha_2^2(x)}{q(x)}\right)^r + \left(-\frac{\alpha_1^2(x)}{q(x)}\right)^r - 2\frac{(\alpha_1(x)\alpha_2(x))^r}{q^r(x)}\right]}{(\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))^2} \\ &= \frac{\left(-1\right)^{r+n+1}\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)q^{n-r}(x)(\alpha_1^r(x) - \alpha_2^r(x))^2}{(\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))^2}. \end{split}$$

The other case can be proved similarly.

Theorem 2.6. (*Cassini identity*) For the (p,q)-Fibonacci octonion polynomials $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ and (p,q)-Lucas octonion polynomials $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$, we have

$$OF_{p,q,n+1}(x)OF_{p,q,n-1}(x) - OF_{p,q,n}^2(x) = (-1)^n \alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)q^{n-1}(x)$$
$$OL_{p,q,n+1}(x)OL_{p,q,n-1}(x) - OL_{p,q,n}^2(x) = (-1)^{1+n}\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_2^*(x)q^{n-1}(x)(\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))^2$$

for any natural number n.

Theorem 2.7. Let $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ and $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$ be the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas octonion polynomials respectively. Then for $n \ge 0$, we have

1.

$$q(x)(OF_{p,q,n}(x))^{2} + (OF_{p,q,n+1}(x))^{2} = \frac{(\alpha_{1}^{*})^{2}(x)\alpha_{1}^{2n+1}(x) - (\alpha_{2}^{*})^{2}(x)\alpha_{2}^{2n+1}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)}$$

$$q(x)(OL_{p,q,n}(x))^{2} + (OL_{p,q,n+1}(x))^{2} = (\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x))(\alpha_{1}^{*})^{2}(x)\alpha_{1}^{2n+1}(x) - (\alpha_{2}^{*})^{2}(x)\alpha_{2}^{2n+1}(x)$$

2.

$$OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_1(x)QF_{p,q,0}(x) = \alpha_2^*(x)$$

 $OF_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)QF_{p,q,0}(x) = \alpha_1^*(x)$

and

$$OL_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_1(x)OL_{p,q,0}(x) = (\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))\alpha_2^*(x)$$
$$OL_{p,q,1}(x) - \alpha_2(x)OL_{p,q,0}(x) = (\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))\alpha_1^*(x).$$

Proof. Let us prove the identity 1.. From Theorem 2.2

$$\begin{split} q(x)(OF_{p,q,n}(x))^2 + (OF_{p,q,n+1}(x))^2 &= q(x) \left(\frac{\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x) - \alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^n(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^{n+1}(x) - \alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^{n+1}(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)}\right)^2 \\ &= \frac{\left\{\begin{array}{c} q(x)(\alpha_1^*)^2(x)\alpha_1^{2n}(x) - 2q(x)\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^n(x)\alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^n(x) \\ +q(x)(\alpha_2^*)^2(x)\alpha_2^{2n}(x) + (\alpha_1^*)^2(x)\alpha_1^{2n+2}(x) \\ -2\alpha_1^*(x)\alpha_1^{n+1}(x)\alpha_2^*(x)\alpha_2^{n+1}(x) + (\alpha_2^*)^2(x)\alpha_2^{2n+2}(x) \end{array}\right\}}{(\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))^2} \\ &= \frac{(\alpha_1^*)^2(x)\alpha_1^{2n}(x)\left(q(x) - q(x)\frac{\alpha_1(x)}{\alpha_2(x)}\right) + (\alpha_2^*)^2(x)\alpha_2^{2n}(x)\left(q(x) - q(x)\frac{\alpha_2(x)}{\alpha_1(x)}\right)}{(\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x))^2} \\ &= \frac{(\alpha_1^*)^2(x)\alpha_1^{2n+1}(x) - (\alpha_2^*)^2(x)\alpha_2^{2n+1}(x)}{\alpha_1(x) - \alpha_2(x)}. \end{split}$$

Also the proof of the identity 2. is similar to 1..

Theorem 2.8. For the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas octonion polynomials $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ and $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$, $n \ge 0$ we have following binomial sum formula for odd and even terms,

1.

$$OF_{p,q,2n}(x) = \sum_{m=0}^{n} \binom{n}{m} q(x)^{n-m} p(x)^{m} OF_{p,q,m}(x)$$
$$OF_{p,q,2n+1}(x) = \sum_{m=0}^{n} \binom{n}{m} q(x)^{n-m} p(x)^{m} OF_{p,q,m+1}(x)$$

2.

$$OL_{p,q,2n}(x) = \sum_{m=0}^{n} \binom{n}{m} q(x)^{n-m} p(x)^{m} OL_{p,q,m}(x)$$
$$OL_{p,q,2n+1}(x) = \sum_{m=0}^{n} \binom{n}{m} q(x)^{n-m} p(x)^{m} OL_{p,q,m+1}(x).$$

Proof. For 1. from (1.3) and Binet formulas, we get

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{m=0}^{n} \binom{n}{m} q(x)^{n-m} p(x)^{m} OF_{p,q,m}(x) \\ &= \sum_{m=0}^{n} \binom{n}{m} q(x)^{n-m} p(x)^{m} \frac{\alpha_{1}^{*}(x) \alpha_{1}^{m}(x) - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x) \alpha_{2}^{m}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} \\ &= \frac{\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} \sum_{m=0}^{n} \binom{n}{m} q(x)^{n-m} (p(x)\alpha_{1}(x))^{m} \\ &- \frac{\alpha_{2}^{*}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} \sum_{m=0}^{n} \binom{n}{m} q(x)^{n-m} (p(x)\alpha_{2}(x))^{m} \\ &= \frac{\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} (q(x) + p(x)\alpha_{1}(x))^{n} - \frac{\alpha_{2}^{*}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} (q(x) + p(x)\alpha_{2}(x))^{n} \\ &= \frac{\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)\alpha_{1}^{2n}(x) - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}^{2n}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} \\ &= OF_{p,q,2n}(x). \end{split}$$

Also the other cases for $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$ can be done similarly.

Theorem 2.9. The sums of the first *n*-terms of the sequences $OF_{p,q,n}(x)$ and $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$ are given by

$$\sum_{m=0}^{n} OF_{p,q,m}(x) = \frac{-q(x)OF_{p,q,n}(x) - OF_{p,q,n+1}(x) + OF_{p,q,0}(x) - \frac{\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}(x) - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)\alpha_{1}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)}}{(\alpha_{1}(x) - 1)(\alpha_{2}(x) - 1)}$$

and

$$\sum_{m=0}^{n} OL_{p,q,m}(x) = \frac{-q(x)OL_{p,q,n}(x) - OL_{p,q,n+1}(x) + OL_{p,q,0}(x) - \left[\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}(x) + \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)\alpha_{1}(x)\right]}{(\alpha_{1}(x) - 1)(\alpha_{2}(x) - 1)}$$

respectively.

Proof. Using Binet formulas and the roots $\alpha_1(x)$, $\alpha_2(x)$, we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{m=0}^{n} OF_{p,q,m}(x) &= \frac{\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)\alpha_{1}^{m}(x) - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}^{m}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} \\ &= \frac{1}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} \sum_{m=0}^{n} (\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)\alpha_{1}^{m}(x) - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}^{m}(x)) \\ &= \frac{1}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} (\alpha_{1}^{*}(x) \sum_{m=0}^{n} \alpha_{1}^{m}(x) - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x) \sum_{m=0}^{n} \alpha_{2}^{m}(x)) \\ &= \frac{1}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x)} (\alpha_{1}^{*}(x) \frac{\alpha_{1}^{n+1}(x) - 1}{\alpha_{1}(x) - 1} - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x) \frac{\alpha_{2}^{n+1}(x) - 1}{\alpha_{2}(x) - 1}) \\ &= \frac{\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)(\alpha_{1}^{n+1}(x) - 1)(\alpha_{2}(x) - 1) - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)(\alpha_{2}^{n+1}(x) - 1)(\alpha_{1}(x) - 1))}{(\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x))(\alpha_{1}(x) - 1)(\alpha_{2}(x) - 1)} \\ &= \frac{\left\{ \begin{array}{c} (\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)\alpha_{1}^{n+1}(x)\alpha_{2}(x)) - (\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)\alpha_{1}^{n+1}(x)) - (\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}(x)) + \alpha_{1}^{*}(x) \\ -\alpha_{2}^{*}(x) - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}^{n+1}(x)\alpha_{1}(x) + \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}^{n+1}(x) + \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}(x) \right)}{(\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x))(\alpha_{1}(x) - 1)(\alpha_{2}(x) - 1)} \\ &= \frac{-q(x)OF_{p,q,n}(x) - OF_{p,q,n+1}(x) + OF_{p,q,0}(x) - \frac{\alpha_{1}^{*}(x)\alpha_{2}(x) - \alpha_{2}^{*}(x)\alpha_{1}(x)}{\alpha_{1}(x) - \alpha_{2}(x) - 1}). \end{split}$$

The other cases for $OL_{p,q,n}(x)$ can be done similarly.

3. Conclusion

Octonions have great importance as they are used in quantum physics, applied mathematics, graph theory. In this work, we introduce the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas octonion polynomials and formulate the Binet-style formula, the generating function and some identities of the (p,q)-Fibonacci octonion and Lucas octonion polynomial sequence. Thus, in our future studies we plan to examine different quaternion and octonion polynomials and their key features.

References

- [1] M. Akyigit, H. Kösal, M Tosun, Fibonacci Generalized Quaternions. Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr. 24(3)(2014), 631-641.
- [2] A. İpek, K Arı, On h(x)-Fibonacci Octonion Polynomials, Alabama Journal of Mathematics, 39, 2015.
- [3] A. Ipek, C. Çimen, On (p, q) Fibonacci Octonions. Mathematica Æterna, 6(6)(2016), 923-932.
- [4] O. Keçilioğlu, İ. Akkuş, *The Fibonacci Octonions*, Adv. App Clifford Algebras 25(2015) 151-158.
 [5] G. Y. Lee and M. Asci, *Some Properties of the* (p,q)-*Fibonacci and* (p,q)-*Lucas Polynomials*, Journal of Applied Mathematics, Volume 2012, Article ID 264842, 18 pages doi:10.1155/2012/264842.
- [6] A.Nalli, P. Haukkanen, On generalized Fibonacci and Lucas Polynomials, Chaos Solitons and Fractals 42(2009) 3179-3186.
- [7] A.Özkoç, A. Porsuk, A Note for the (p,q)-Fibonacci and Lucas Quaternions Polynomials. Konuralp Journal of Mathematics. 5(2)(2017), 36-46.
- [8] P. Ribenboim, My Numbers, My Friends, Popular Lectures on Number Theory, Springer-Verlag, New York, Inc. 2000.
- [9] A Tekcan, A. Özkoç, M. Engür, M.E. Özbek, On Algebraic Identities on a New Integer Sequence with Four Parameters, Ars Combinatoria. 127(2016) 225-238.
- [10] J. Wang, Some New Results for the (p,q) Fibonacci and Lucas Polynomials. Advances in Difference Equations 2014, 2014: 64.

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



Quantum metric spaces of quantum maps

Maysam Maysami Sadr^{a*}

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Institute for Advanced Studies in Basic Sciences (IASBS), Zanjan, Iran ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: sadr@iasbs.ac.ir

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: C*-algebra, compact quantum metric space, Lipschitz algebra, quantum family of maps, state space 2010 AMS: 46L05, 46L30, 54E25, 60B10 Received: 21 January 2018 Accepted: 26 February 2018 Available online: 15 March 2018 We show that any quantum family of quantum maps from a noncommutative space to a compact quantum metric space has a canonical quantum pseudo-metric structure. Here by a 'compact quantum metric space' we mean a unital C*-algebra together with a Lipschitz seminorm, in the sense of Rieffel, which induces the weak* topology on the state space of the C*-algebra. Our main result generalizes a classical result to noncommutative world.

1. Introduction

One of the basic ideas of *Noncommutative Geometry* is that any unital C*-algebra *A* can be considered as the algebra of *continuous functions* on a (symbolic) *compact quantum (noncommutative) space* $\mathfrak{Q}A$. From this point of view, any unital *-homomorphism $\Phi : B \to A$ between unital C*-algebras can be interpreted as a *quantum map* $\mathfrak{Q}\Phi$ from $\mathfrak{Q}A$ into $\mathfrak{Q}B$. There are many notions in Topology and Geometry that can be translate into NC language. The notion of *quantum family of (quantum) maps*, defined by Woronowicz [16] and Soltan [15] (see also [10, 11, 12]), conclude from the following fact: "Every map *f* from *X* to the set of all maps from *Y* to *Z* (or in other word, any family of maps from *Y* to *Z* parameterized by *f* with parameters *x* in *X*) can be considered as a map $\tilde{f} : X \times Y \to Z$ defined by $\tilde{f}(x,y) = f(x)(y)$." A translation of this to noncommutative language is as follows.

Definition 1.1. ([10, 11, 12, 15, 16] Let B,C be unital C*-algebras. A quantum family of morphisms from B to C (or, a quantum family of maps from \mathfrak{QC} to \mathfrak{QB}) is a pair (A, Φ) consisting of a unital C*-algebra A and a unital *-homomorphism $\Phi : B \to C \otimes A$, where \otimes denotes the spatial tensor product of C*-algebras.

Another concept that can be translate from Geometry into NC Geometry, is *distance* or *metric*. Marc Rieffel, by using the notion of *order unite spaces*, has developed the notion of *quantum metric space* in a series of papers [5, 6, 7, 8, 9]. For two other different notions of quantum metric see [3, 13, 14]. Here, we deals with special examples of Rieffel's quantum metric spaces, stated in the C*-algebraic formalism. The aim of this note is to show that any quantum family of maps from a quantum space to a compact quantum metric space has a canonical quantum pseudo-metric structure. We are motivated by the following trivial fact: Let (*Z*,*d*) be a metric space and $f: X \times Y \to Z$ be a family of maps from *Y* to *Z*, then *X* has a pseudo-metric ρ defined by

$$\rho(x,x') = \sup_{y \in Y} d(f(x,y), f(x',y)).$$

In Section 2 we introduce the notion of *compact quantum pseudo-metric space*. In Section 3 we define a natural compact quantum pseudo-metric space structure on any quantum family of maps from a quantum space to a compact quantum metric space. In Section 4 we examine our definition in the classical case.

2. Compact quantum pseudo-metric spaces

By a pseudo-metric *d* on a set *X* we mean a positive valued function on $X \times X$ which is symmetric, satisfies triangle inequality, and d(x,x) = 0 for every $x \in X$. For any topological space *X* with topology τ (resp. pseudo-metric space (X,d)) $C(X,\tau)$ (resp. C(X,d)) denotes the

C*-algebra of all continuous bounded complex valued maps on *X* with the uniform norm. For a pseudo-metric *d*, τ_d denotes the topology induced by *d*. Let (*X*,*d*) be a pseudo-metric space. For every $f \in \mathbf{C}(X,d)$, the Lipschitz semi norm $||f||_d$ is defined by

$$||f||_d = \sup\{\frac{|f(x) - f(x')|}{d(x,x')} : x, x' \in X, d(x,x') \neq 0\}.$$

Also, the Lipschitz algebra of (X, d) is defined by,

$$Lip(X,d) = \{ f \in C(X,d) : ||f||_d < \infty \}.$$

We need the following simple lemma.

Lemma 2.1. Let (X,d) be a pseudo-metric space and a be a complex valued map on X. Then $a \in \text{Lip}(X,d)$ and $||a||_d \leq 1$ if and only if $|a(x) - a(x')| \leq d(x,x')$ for every $x, x' \in X$. In particular, if $b \in \mathbb{C}(X,d)$, then $||b||_d = 0$ if and only if b is a constant map.

Proof. Let $a \in \operatorname{Lip}(X, d)$ and $||a||_d \leq 1$. Suppose that $x, x' \in X$. If d(x, x') = 0, then a(x) = a(x'), since a is continuous with τ_d . If $d(x, x') \neq 0$, then $1 \geq ||a||_d \geq \frac{|a(x) - a(x')|}{d(x, x')}$, and thus $|a(x) - a(x')| \leq d(x, x')$. The other direction is trivial.

For any C*-algebra \mathfrak{A} , $S(\mathfrak{A})$ denotes the state space of \mathfrak{A} with w* topology. If \mathfrak{A} is unital, $1_{\mathfrak{A}}$ denotes the unit element of \mathfrak{A} . Let \mathscr{A} be a self adjoint linear subspace of the C*-algebra \mathfrak{A} , and let $L : \mathscr{A} \to [0, \infty)$ be a semi norm on \mathscr{A} . Connes has pointed out [1], [2], that one can define a pseudo-metric ρ_L on $S(\mathfrak{A})$ by

$$\rho_L(\mu, \nu) = \sup\{|\mu(a) - \nu(a)| : a \in \mathscr{A}, L(a) \le 1\} \qquad (\mu, \nu \in S(\mathfrak{A})).$$
(2.1)

Note that ρ_L can take values $+\infty$ and 0 for different states of \mathfrak{A} . Conversely, let *d* be a pseudo-metric on S(A) (such that the topology induced by *d* on $S(\mathfrak{A})$ is not necessarily w* topology). Define a semi norm $L_d : \mathfrak{A} \to [0, +\infty]$ by

$$L_d(a) = \sup\{\frac{|\mu(a) - \nu(a)|}{d(\mu, \nu)} : \mu, \nu \in S(\mathfrak{A}), d(\mu, \nu) \neq 0\} \qquad (a \in \mathfrak{A})$$

Note that $L_d(a) = L_d(a^*)$ for every $a \in \mathfrak{A}$.

Let (X,d) be a compact metric space. Consider the Lipschitz semi norm

$$\|\cdot\|_d$$
: Lip $(X,d) \subset \mathbf{C}(X,d) \to [0,+\infty).$

Then it is easily checked that the semi norm $\rho_{\|\cdot\|_d}$ on the state space of $\mathbb{C}(X,d)$ is a metric, called Monge-Kantorovich metric [4]. It is well known that the topology induced by $\rho_{\|\cdot\|_d}$, is the w* topology, and for every $x, y \in X$, $d(x, y) = \rho_{\|\cdot\|_d}(\delta_x, \delta_y)$, where $\delta : X \to \mathbb{C}(X,d)^*$ is the point mass measure map.

Proposition 2.2. Let (X, τ) be a compact Hausdorff space and d be a pseudo-metric on X such that the topology induced by d on X is weaker than τ , i.e. $\tau_d \subset \tau$. Consider the Lipschitz semi norm $\|\cdot\|_d : \operatorname{Lip}(X,d) \subset \mathbb{C}(X,\tau) \to [0,+\infty)$ and let $\rho = \rho_{\|\cdot\|_d}$. Then the following are satisfied.

- *i*) $d(x,y) = \rho(\delta_x, \delta_y)$, for every $x, y \in X$.
- *ii*) $L_{\rho} = \|\cdot\|_d$ on $\mathbf{C}(X, d) \subset \mathbf{C}(X, \tau)$.
- iii) Let $a \in C(X, \tau)$, then $a \in C(X, d)$ if and only if the map $v \mapsto v(a)$ on $S(C(X, \tau))$ is continuous with ρ .
- iv) the topology induced by ρ on $S(\mathbf{C}(X, \tau))$ is weaker than the w* topology.

Proof. i) Let *x*, *y* be in *X*. Suppose that $a \in \text{Lip}(X, d)$ and $||a||_d \leq 1$. Then by Lemma 2.1, $|\delta_x(a) - \delta_y(a)| = |a(x) - a(y)| \leq d(x, y)$, and thus by definition of ρ , we have $\rho(\delta_x, \delta_y) \leq d(x, y)$. Conversely, let $a_x \in \mathbb{C}(X, d)$ be defined by $a_x(z) = d(x, z)$ ($z \in X$); then for every $x', y' \in X$, $|a_x(x') - a_x(y')| = |d(x, x') - d(x, y')| \leq d(x', y')$, and thus by lemma 2.1, $a \in \text{Lip}(X, d)$ and $||a||_d \leq 1$. Now, we have

$$\rho(\delta_x, \delta_y) \ge |\delta_x(a_x) - \delta_y(a_x)| = |a_x(x) - a_x(y)| = d(x, y).$$

ii) By i) and definitions of L_{ρ} and $\|\cdot\|_d$, it is clear that $\|\cdot\|_d \leq L_{\rho}$ on $\mathbb{C}(X, \tau)$. Let $a \in \mathbb{C}(X, d)$. If $\|a\|_d = 0$, then by Lemma 2.1, *a* is a constant map and thus $L_{\rho}(a) = 0$. If $\|a\|_d = \infty$ then $L_{\rho}(a) = \infty$ since $\|a\|_d \leq L_{\rho}(a)$. Thus suppose that $0 < \|a\| < \infty$. Then for every $\mu, \nu \in S(\mathbb{C}(X, \tau))$, we have

$$\rho(\mu, \mathbf{v}) \ge |\mu(\frac{a}{\|a\|_d}) - \mathbf{v}(\frac{a}{\|a\|_d})| = \frac{|\mu(a) - \mathbf{v}(a)|}{\|a\|_d}$$

and thus if $\rho(\mu, \nu) \neq 0$ then $||a||_d \geq \frac{|\mu(a) - \nu(a)|}{\rho(\mu, \nu)}$. Therefore,

$$||a||_d \ge \sup\{\frac{|\mu(a) - \nu(a)|}{\rho(\mu, \nu)}: \ \mu, \nu \in S(\mathbf{C}(X, \tau)), \rho(\mu, \nu) \neq 0\} = L_{\rho}(a).$$

iii) The 'if' part is an immediate consequence of i). For the other direction, we need some notations: Let ~ be the equivalence relation on *X* defined by $x \sim x' \Leftrightarrow d(x,x') = 0$. Let $Y = X/\sim$ and let^: $X \to Y$ be the canonical projection. Then \hat{d} , defined by $\hat{d}(\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2) = d(x_1, x_2)$, is a well defined metric on *Y*, and `is an isometry between (X,d) and (Y,\hat{d}) . Thus the C*-algebras C(X,d) and $C(Y,\hat{d})$, and the Lipschitz algebras $(\text{Lip}(X,d), \|\cdot\|_d)$ and $(\text{Lip}(Y,\hat{d}), \|\cdot\|_d)$ are isometric isomorph. In particular, the topology induced by ρ on S(C(X,d)) is the w* topology, since as mentioned above the Monge-Kantorovich metric $\rho_{\|\cdot\|_d}$ induces the w* topology on $S(C(Y,\hat{d}))$. Consider the canonical embedding $\Phi : C(X,d) \to C(X,\tau)$. For every $v, v' \in S(C(X,\tau))$, $v \circ \Phi$ and $v' \circ \Phi$ are in S(C(X,d)) and

$$\rho(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}') = \rho(\mathbf{v} \circ \Phi, \mathbf{v}' \circ \Phi).$$

Now, let $a \in C(X, d)$ and $v_i \to v$ be a convergent net in $S(C(X, \tau))$ with ρ . Then $v_i \circ \Phi \to v \circ \Phi$ is a convergent net in S(C(X, d)) with ρ , and since the topology induced by ρ agrees with the w* topology on S(C(X, d)), we have

$$\mathbf{v}_i(a) = \mathbf{v}_i \circ \Phi(a) \to \mathbf{v} \circ \Phi(a) = \mathbf{v}(a).$$

Thus we get the desired result.

iv) Let $v_i \to v$ be a convergent net in $S(\mathbf{C}(X, \tau))$ with w* topology. Thus as in the proof of iii), $v_i \circ \Phi \to v \circ \Phi$ with ρ , and by (2.2), $v_i \to v$ in $S(\mathbf{C}(X, \tau))$ with the topology induced by ρ . This completes the proof of iv).

Definition 2.3. By a compact quantum pseudo-metric space (QSM space, for short) we mean a triple $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$, where \mathfrak{A} is a unital C^* -algebra, \mathscr{A} is a self adjoint linear subspace of \mathfrak{A} with $1_{\mathfrak{A}} \in \mathscr{A}$, and $L : \mathscr{A} \to [0, +\infty)$ is a semi norm such that

- (a) $L(a) = L(a^*)$ for every $a \in \mathscr{A}$,
- (b) for every $a \in \mathscr{A}$, L(a) = 0 if and only if $a \in \mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{A}}$, and
- (c) the topology induced by the pseudo-metric ρ_L on $S(\mathfrak{A})$ is weaker than the w* topology.

As an immediate corollary of the definition, for any compact quantum pseudo-metric space $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$, the topology induced by ρ_L on $S(\mathfrak{A})$ is compact and in particular the diameter of $S(\mathfrak{A})$ under ρ_L is finite.

Proposition 2.4. Let $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$ be a QSM space. Then, for every $a \in \mathscr{A}$, the map $\mu \mapsto \mu(a)$ on $S(\mathfrak{A})$ is continuous with topology induced by ρ_L .

Proof. Straightforward.

Definition 2.5. A QSM space $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$ is called a compact quantum metric space (QM space, for short) if \mathscr{A} is a dense subspace of \mathfrak{A} .

Let $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$ be a QM space and μ, ν be two different states of \mathfrak{A} . Then since \mathscr{A} is dense in \mathfrak{A} , there is $a \in \mathscr{A}$ such that $\mu(a) \neq \nu(a)$. Thus (by (2.1)) ρ_L is a metric on $S(\mathfrak{A})$. It is an elementary result in Topology that any Hausdorff topology τ weaker than a compact Hausdorff topology τ' on a set X, is equal to the same topology τ' . Using this, we conclude that the topology induced by ρ_L on $S(\mathfrak{A})$ is the w* topology.

Example 2.6. Let (X,d) be a compact metric space. Then

 $(\mathbf{C}(X,d),\mathbf{Lip}(X,d),\|\cdot\|_d)$

is a compact quantum metric space.

Example 2.7. Let (X, τ) be a compact Hausdorff space and let d be a pseudo-metric on X such that $\tau_d \subset \tau$. Then Proposition 2.2 and Lemma 2.1, show

$$(\mathbf{C}(X,\tau),\mathbf{Lip}(X,d),\|\cdot\|_d)$$

is a compact quantum pseudo-metric space.

Remark 2.8. Let $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$ be a QM space and $A \subset \mathscr{A}$ be the linear subspace of all self-adjoint elements of \mathscr{A} . Then A is an order unite space and $(A, L|_A)$ is a compact quantum metric space in the sense of Rieffel's definition [7].

Lemma 2.9. Let \mathfrak{A} be a \mathbb{C}^* -algebra with the \mathbb{C}^* -norm $\|\cdot\|$, \mathscr{A} be a self adjoint linear subspace of \mathfrak{A} containing $1_{\mathfrak{A}}$ and $L: \mathscr{A} \to [0, +\infty)$ be a semi norm such that for every $a \in \mathscr{A}$, L(a) = 0 if and only if $a \in \mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Let \tilde{L} and $\|\cdot\|$ denote the quotient norm of L and $\|\cdot\|$ on $\frac{\mathscr{A}}{\mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{A}}}$ and $\frac{\mathfrak{A}}{\mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{A}}}$, respectively. Suppose that the image of $\{a \in \mathscr{A} : L(a) \leq 1\}$ in $\frac{\mathfrak{A}}{\mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{A}}}$ is totally bounded for $\|\cdot\|$. Then the topology induced by ρ_L on $S(\mathfrak{A})$ is weaker than the w^* topology.

Proof. See Theorem 1.8 of [5].

Example 2.10. Let \mathfrak{A} be a finite dimensional C*-algebra and N be a Banach space norm on \mathfrak{A} such that $N(a) = N(a^*)$ for every $a \in \mathfrak{A}$. Let the semi norm $N_0 : \mathfrak{A} \to [0, \infty)$ be defined by

 $N_0 = \inf\{N(a + \lambda \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{A}}): \lambda \in \mathbb{C}\}.$

Since \mathfrak{A} is finite dimensional, the C*-norm of \mathfrak{A} and N are equivalent. Thus the image K of $\{a \in \mathfrak{A} : N_0(a) \leq 1\}$ is closed and bounded in $\frac{\mathfrak{A}}{\mathbb{Cl}_{\mathfrak{A}}}$. Again, since \mathfrak{A} is finite dimensional, K is compact and thus totally bounded for the quotient norm of the C*-norm. Thus by Lemma 2.9, $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{A}, N_0)$ is a QM space.

Example 2.11. Let G be a compact Hausdorff group with identity element e. Let ℓ be a length function on G, i.e. ℓ is a continuous non negative real valued function on G such that

(i) $\ell(gg') \leq \ell(g) + \ell(g')$, for every $g, g' \in G$, (ii) $\ell(g) = \ell(g^{-1})$ for every $g \in G$, and (iii) $\ell(g) = 0$ if and only if g = e.

Let \mathfrak{A} be a unital C^* -algebra with a strongly continuous action $\cdot : G \times \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{A}$ of G by automorphisms of \mathfrak{A} , i.e.

- (a) for every $g \in G$ the map $a \mapsto g \cdot a$ is a *-automorphism of \mathfrak{A} ,
- (b) $e \cdot a = a$ for every $a \in \mathfrak{A}$,

(c) $g \cdot (g' \cdot a) = (gg') \cdot a$, for every $g, g' \in G, a \in A$, and

(d) if $g_i \to g$ is a convergent net in G and $a \in \mathfrak{A}$, then $g_i \cdot a \to g \cdot a$ with the C*-norm of \mathfrak{A} .

Define a semi norm L on \mathfrak{A} by

$$L(a) = \sup\{\frac{\|g \cdot a - a\|}{\ell(g)} : g \in G, g \neq e\} \qquad (a \in \mathfrak{A}).$$

Let $\mathscr{A} = \{a \in \mathfrak{A} : L(a) < +\infty\}$. Then by Proposition 2.2 of [5], \mathscr{A} is a dense *-subalgebra of \mathfrak{A} . Now, suppose that the action of G is ergodic, i.e. if $a \in \mathfrak{A}$ and for every $g \in G$, $g \cdot a = a$, then $a \in \mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Then it is trivial that L(a) = 0 if and only if $a \in \mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Rieffel has proved [5, Theorem 2.3], that the topology induced by ρ_L on $S(\mathfrak{A})$ agrees with the w* topology. Thus $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$ is a QM space.

For some other examples that completely match our notion of QM space, see [5]. As we will see in the next section, using quantum family of morphisms we can construct many QSM spaces from a QSM space.

3. The main definition

We need the following simple topological lemma.

Lemma 3.1. Let Y be a compact space, X be an arbitrary space and (Z, ρ) be a pseudo-metric space. Also, let $\mathbb{C}(Y, Z)$ be the space of all continuous maps from Y to Z, with the pseudo-metric $\hat{\rho}$ defined by

$$\hat{\rho}(f,g) = \sup\{\rho(f(y),g(y)): y \in Y\} \qquad (f,g \in \mathbf{C}(Y,Z)).$$

Suppose that $F: Y \times X \to Z$ is a continuous map. Then the map $\tilde{F}: X \to \mathbb{C}(Y,Z)$, defined by $\tilde{F}(x)(y) = F(y,x)$ is continuous.

Proof. Let $x_0 \in X$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be arbitrary. Since F is continuous, for every $y \in Y$, there are open sets U_y, V_y in X and Y respectively, such that $(y,x_0) \in V_y \times U_y$ and $\rho(F(y,x_0),F(y',x)) < \varepsilon/2$ for every $(y',x) \in V_y \times U_y$. Since Y is compact, there are $y_1, \dots, y_n \in Y$ such that $Y = \bigcup_{i=1}^n V_{y_i}$. Let W be the open set $\bigcap_{i=1}^n U_{y_i}$. Let $x \in W$ and $y \in Y$ be arbitrary. Then for some i $(i = 1, \dots, n)$, y belongs to V_{y_i} and we have,

$$\rho(F(y,x),F(y,x_0)) \le \rho(F(y,x),F(y_i,x_0)) + \rho(F(y_i,x_0),F(y,x_0)) < \varepsilon$$

Thus we have $\hat{\rho}(\tilde{F}(x), \tilde{F}(x_0)) < \varepsilon$ for every $x \in W$. The proof is complete.

Let $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$ be a QSM space, \mathfrak{B} be a unital C*-algebra, and (\mathfrak{C}, Φ) be a quantum family of morphisms from \mathfrak{A} to $\mathfrak{B}, \Phi : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B} \otimes \mathfrak{C}$. Let *d* be a pseudo-metric on $S(\mathfrak{C})$, defined by

$$d(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}') = \sup\{\rho_L((\mu \otimes \mathbf{v})\Phi, (\mu \otimes \mathbf{v}')\Phi): \ \mu \in S(\mathfrak{B})\} \qquad (\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}' \in S(\mathfrak{C}))\}$$

Proposition 3.2. With the above assumptions, let \mathcal{C} be the linear space of all $c \in \mathfrak{C}$ such that the map $\mathbf{v} \mapsto \mathbf{v}(c)$ on $S(\mathfrak{C})$ is continuous with the topology induced by d, and $L_d(c) < \infty$. Then the following are satisfied.

- *i)* \mathscr{C} *is a self adjoint linear subspace of* \mathfrak{C} *and* $1_{\mathfrak{C}} \in \mathscr{C}$ *.*
- *ii)* For every $c \in \mathcal{C}$, $L_d(c) = 0$ if and only if $c \in \mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{C}}$.
- *iii)* The topology induced by d on $S(\mathfrak{C})$ is weaker than the w* topology.
- *iv)* With the restriction of the domain of L_d to \mathscr{C} , $\rho_{L_d} \leq d$.
- v) The topology induced by ρ_{L_d} on $S(\mathfrak{C})$ is weaker than the w* topology.

Proof. i) is easily checked.

ii) Let *c* be in \mathscr{C} and $L_d(c) = 0$. By Lemma 2.1, the map $\nu \mapsto \nu(c)$ on $S(\mathfrak{C})$ is constant, and thus $c \in \mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{C}}$. iii) Apply Lemma 3.1, with $X = S(\mathfrak{C}), Y = S(\mathfrak{B}), Z = S(\mathfrak{A}), \rho = \rho_L$ and $F : Y \times X \to Z$ defined by

$$F(\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\nu})=(\boldsymbol{\mu}\otimes\boldsymbol{\nu})\Phi\qquad (\boldsymbol{\mu}\in Y,\boldsymbol{\nu}\in X).$$

We get $\tilde{F} : X \to \mathbb{C}(Y, Z)$ is continuous with the metric $\hat{\rho}$ on $\mathbb{C}(Y, Z)$. On the other hand, for every v, v' we have $d(v, v') = \hat{\rho}(\tilde{F}(v), \tilde{F}(v'))$. Thus, if $v_i \to v$ is a convergent net in X with w* topology, then

$$d(\mathbf{v}_i, \mathbf{v}) = \hat{\boldsymbol{\rho}}(\tilde{F}(\mathbf{v}_i), \tilde{F}(\mathbf{v})) \to 0$$

This implies that the topology induced by d is weaker than the w* topology.

iv) Let v, v' be in $S(\mathfrak{C})$. If d(v, v') = 0 then for every $c \in \mathscr{C}$, v(c) = v'(c) (since the map $\mu \mapsto \mu(c)$ is continuous with d) and thus by the definition of ρ_{L_d} , $\rho_{L_d}(v, v') = 0$. Thus suppose that $d(v, v') \neq 0$. Let $c \in \mathscr{C}$ with $L_d(c) \leq 1$. Then $1 \geq L_d(c) \geq \frac{|v(c) - v'(c)|}{d(v, v')}$, and thus $|v(c) - v'(c)| \leq d(v, v')$. Therefore

$$\rho_{L_d}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}') \leq d(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}').$$

v) follows directly from iv) and iii).

Definition 3.3. With the above assumptions, Proposition 3.2, shows that $(\mathfrak{C}, \mathcal{C}, L_d)$ is a QSM space that is called QSM space induced by the QSM space $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$ and quantum family of maps (\mathfrak{C}, Φ) .

Lemma 3.4. With the above assumptions, let $a \in \mathcal{A}$ and let $\mu \in S(\mathfrak{B})$. Then $c = (\mu \otimes id_{\mathfrak{C}})\Phi(a)$ is in \mathscr{C} , and $L_d(c) \leq L(a)$.

Proof. We first show that $L_d(c) \le L(a) (< \infty)$. If L(a) = 0 then $a \in \mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{A}}$ and thus $c \in \mathbb{C}1_{\mathfrak{C}}$ and $L_d(c) = 0$. Suppose that $L(a) \ne 0$. We prove that for every $v, v' \in S(\mathfrak{C})$ with $d(v, v') \ne 0$,

$$\frac{|\mathbf{v}(c) - \mathbf{v}'(c)|}{d(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}')} \le L(a).$$
(3.1)

Let $v, v' \in S(\mathfrak{C})$ be such that $d(v, v') \neq 0$. If |v(c) - v'(c)| = 0, then (3.1) is satisfied. Suppose that

$$|\mathbf{v}(c) - \mathbf{v}'(c)| = |(\boldsymbol{\mu} \otimes \mathbf{v}) \Phi(a) - (\boldsymbol{\mu} \otimes \mathbf{v}') \Phi(a)| \neq 0.$$

By the definition of *d*, we have $d(v, v') \ge \rho_L((\mu \otimes v)\Phi, (\mu \otimes v')\Phi)$. On the other hand, by the definition of ρ_L ,

$$\rho_L((\mu \otimes \nu)\Phi, (\mu \otimes \nu')\Phi) \ge |(\mu \otimes \nu)\Phi(\frac{a}{L(a)}) - (\mu \otimes \nu')\Phi(\frac{a}{L(a)}) \\ = \frac{|(\mu \otimes \nu)\Phi(a) - (\mu \otimes \nu')\Phi(a)|}{L(a)}.$$

Thus, (3.1) is satisfied and $L_d(c) \leq L(a)$.

Now, we show that the map $v \mapsto v(c)$ on $S(\mathfrak{C})$ is continuous with τ_d . Let $v_n \to v$ be a convergent sequence in $S(\mathfrak{C})$ with the metric *d*. Thus, by the definition of *d*, we have

$$\rho_L((\mu \otimes \nu_n)\Phi, (\mu \otimes \nu)\Phi) \to 0$$

Therefore, by Proposition 2.4,

$$\mathbf{v}_n(c) = (\boldsymbol{\mu} \otimes \mathbf{v}_n) \Phi(a) \to (\boldsymbol{\mu} \otimes \mathbf{v}) \Phi(a) = \mathbf{v}(c).$$

Proposition 3.5. With the above assumptions, suppose that $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathscr{A}, L)$ is a QM space and the linear span of

$$G = \{ (\mu \otimes id_{\mathfrak{C}}) \Phi(a) : \quad \mu \in S(\mathfrak{B}), a \in \mathfrak{A} \}$$

is dense in \mathfrak{C} (for example Φ is surjective). Then $(\mathfrak{C}, \mathscr{C}, L_d)$ is a QM space.

Proof. Since \mathscr{A} is dense in \mathfrak{A} and the linear span of G is dense in \mathfrak{C} , we have

 $G_0 = \{ (\mu \otimes id_{\mathfrak{C}}) \Phi(a) : \quad \mu \in S(\mathfrak{B}), a \in \mathscr{A} \}$

is dense in \mathfrak{C} . On the other hand, by Lemma 3.4, $G_0 \subset \mathscr{C}$. Thus \mathscr{C} is dense in \mathfrak{C} and $(\mathfrak{C}, \mathscr{C}, L_d)$ is a QM space.

Example 3.6. Let \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{C} be unital C*-algebras. Suppose that $\mathfrak{A} \otimes \mathfrak{C}$ has a QSM structure. Consider *-homomorphisms

$$id: \mathfrak{A} \otimes \mathfrak{C} \to \mathfrak{A} \otimes \mathfrak{C}$$
 and $F: \mathfrak{A} \otimes \mathfrak{C} \to \mathfrak{C} \otimes \mathfrak{A}$,

where *F* is the flip map, i.e. $F(a \otimes c) = c \otimes a$ for $a \in \mathfrak{A}, c \in \mathfrak{C}$. Then

 $(\mathfrak{C}, id_{\mathfrak{A}\otimes\mathfrak{C}})$ and (\mathfrak{A}, F)

are quantum families of morphisms. Thus \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{C} have naturally QSM structures. Also, by Proposition 3.5, if $\mathfrak{A} \otimes \mathfrak{C}$ has a QM structure then so are \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{C} .

Example 3.7. Let \mathfrak{A} be a unital C^* -algebra and suppose that \mathfrak{A} has a QSM structure. Let $\Phi : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ be a unital *-homomorphism. Then (\mathfrak{B}, Φ) can be considered as a quantum family of morphisms from \mathfrak{A} to \mathbb{C} . Thus \mathfrak{B} naturally has a QSM structure. Also, if Φ is surjective and \mathfrak{A} has a QM structure, then by Proposition 3.5, \mathfrak{B} has a QM structure.

4. The commutative case

In this last section we study induced metric structures on ordinary families of maps.

Lemma 4.1. Let (X, τ) be a compact Hausdorff space and let d be a pseudo-metric on $S(\mathbf{C}(X, \tau))$ such that τ_d is weaker than the w^* topology. Let \mathscr{C} be the space of all $c \in \mathbf{C}(X, \tau)$ such that the map $\mathbf{v} \mapsto \mathbf{v}(c)$ is continuous on $S(\mathbf{C}(X, \tau))$ and $L_d(c) < \infty$. Consider the semi norm $L_d : \mathscr{C} \to [0, +\infty)$. Then for every $x, x' \in X$, $d(\delta_x, \delta_{x'}) = \rho_{L_d}(\delta_x, \delta_{x'})$.

(We remark that Lemma 4.1 is different from part i) of Proposition 2.2.)

Proof. Let x, x' be in X. By the definition of ρ_{L_d} , we have

$$\rho_{L_d}(\delta_x, \delta_{x'}) = \sup\{|a(x) - a(x')|: \ a \in \mathcal{C}, L_d(a) \le 1\}.$$
(4.1)

Let $a \in \mathscr{C}$ and $L_d(a) \leq 1$. If $d(\delta_x, \delta_{x'}) = 0$, then a(x) = a(x') since the map $\delta_x \mapsto \delta_x(a) = a(x)$ is continuous with d, thus (4.1) implies that

 $\rho_{L_d}(\delta_x,\delta_{x'})=d(\delta_x,\delta_{x'})=0.$

Now, suppose that $d(\delta_x, \delta_{x'}) \neq 0$. Since $1 = L_d(a) \geq \frac{|a(x) - a(x')|}{d(\delta_x, \delta_{x'})}$, we have $d(\delta_x, \delta_{x'}) \geq |a(x) - a(x')|$, thus (4.1) implies that $\rho_{L_d}(\delta_x, \delta_{x'}) \leq d(\delta_x, \delta_{x'})$. Now, define a map b_x on X by $b_x(y) = d(\delta_x, \delta_y)$. Then $b_x \in \mathscr{C}$ and $L_d(b_x) \leq 1$. Thus

$$\rho_{L_d}(\delta_x, \delta_{x'}) \geq |b_x(x) - b_x(x')| = d(\delta_x, \delta_{x'}).$$

This completes the proof.

$$F: Y \times Z \to X$$

be a continuous map with τ, τ', τ'' , and define a pseudo-metric d_1 on Z by

$$d_1(z, z') = \sup_{y \in Y} d_0(F(y, z), F(y, z'))$$

With the canonical identification $\mathbf{C}(Y \times Z, \tau' \times \tau'') \cong \mathbf{C}(Y, \tau') \otimes \mathbf{C}(Z, \tau'')$ let

$$\hat{F}: \mathbf{C}(X, \tau) \to \mathbf{C}(Y, \tau') \otimes \mathbf{C}(Z, \tau'')$$

be defined by $\hat{F}(a) = aF$, for $a \in \mathbf{C}(X, \tau)$. Let

$$(\mathbf{C}(Z,\tau''),\mathscr{C},N)$$

be the QSM space induced by QSM space ($\mathbf{C}(X, \tau)$, $\mathbf{Lip}(X, d_0)$, $\|\cdot\|_{d_0}$) and quantum family of morphisms ($\mathbf{C}(Z, \tau'')$, \hat{F}). Then the following are satisfied.

i) $d_1(z,z') = \rho_N(\delta_z, \delta_{z'})$ for every $z, z' \in Z$. *ii)* $\mathscr{C} \subset \operatorname{Lip}(Z, d_1).$ *iii*) $\|\cdot\|_{d_1} \leq N$.

Proof. i) Let $L = \|\cdot\|_{d_0}$. Let us recall the definition of $(\mathbf{C}(Z, \tau''), \mathscr{C}, N)$. Let *d* be the pseudo-metric on $S(\mathbf{C}(Z, \tau''))$ defined by

$$d(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}') = \sup\{\rho_L((\mu \otimes \mathbf{v})\hat{F}, (\mu \otimes \mathbf{v}')\hat{F}): \quad \mu \in S(\mathbf{C}(Y,\tau'))\}.$$

Then $N = L_d$ and \mathscr{C} is the space of all $c \in \mathbb{C}(Z, \tau'')$ such that the map $v \mapsto v(c)$ on $S(\mathbb{C}(Z, \tau''))$ is continuous with d and $N(c) < \infty$. By Lemma 4.1, we have,

$$d(\delta_{z}, \delta_{z'}) = \rho_N(\delta_{z}, \delta_{z'}), \tag{4.2}$$

for every $z, z' \in Z$. Now, we explain the relation between d_1 and d. Let $z, z' \in Z$ and $y \in Y$. Then

$$(\delta_y \otimes \delta_z)\hat{F} = \delta_{F(y,z)}$$
 and $(\delta_y \otimes \delta_{z'})\hat{F} = \delta_{F(y,z')}$.

On the other hand, by Proposition 2.2, for every $x, x' \in X$, $d_0(x, x') = \rho_L(\delta_x, \delta_{x'})$. Thus

$$\rho_L((\delta_{\mathbf{v}}\otimes\delta_{\mathbf{z}})\hat{F},(\delta_{\mathbf{v}}\otimes\delta_{\mathbf{z}'})\hat{F})=d_0(F(\mathbf{y},\mathbf{z}),F(\mathbf{y},\mathbf{z}')).$$

This formula together with the definitions of d and d_1 , show that

$$d_1(z,z') \le d(\delta_z,\delta_{z'}). \tag{4.3}$$

Let $\mu \in S(\mathbf{C}(Y, \tau'))$ be arbitrary. We consider μ as a probability Borel regular measure on (Y, τ') . Then for every $a \in \operatorname{Lip}(X, d_0)$ with $||a||_{d_0} \le 1$, we have,

$$\begin{aligned} |(\mu \otimes \delta_{z})\hat{F}(a) - (\mu \otimes \delta_{z'})\hat{F}(a)| &= |\int_{Y} (aF(y,z) - aF(y,z'))d_{\mu}(y)| \\ &\leq \int_{Y} |a(F(y,z)) - a(F(y,z'))|d_{\mu}(y). \end{aligned}$$
(4.4)

For every $y \in Y$, by Lemma 2.1,

 $|a(F(y,z)) - a(F(y,z'))| \le d_0(F(y,z),F(y,z')).$

Therefore, we have

$$|a(F(y,z)) - a(F(y,z'))| \le d_1(z,z').$$
(4.5)

(4.5) and (4.4) implies that

$$|(\boldsymbol{\mu}\otimes\boldsymbol{\delta}_{z})\hat{F}(a)-(\boldsymbol{\mu}\otimes\boldsymbol{\delta}_{z'})\hat{F}(a)|\leq d_{1}(z,z').$$

Therefore, by the definition of d,

$$d(\delta_z, \delta_{z'}) \le d_1(z, z'). \tag{4.6}$$

Now, by (4.6) and (4.3), $d(\delta_z, \delta_{z'}) = d_1(z, z')$, and thus by (4.2),

$$d_1(\delta_z, \delta_{z'}) = \rho_N(\delta_z, \delta_{z'})$$

for every $z, z' \in Z$, and i) is satisfied. ii) and iii) are immediate consequence of i) and definitions of \mathscr{C} , $\|\cdot\|_{d_1}$ and N.

5. Conclusion

In this note, we introduced the new concept of compact quantum pseudo-metric space as a generalization of the concept of compact quantum metric space. The C*-algebraic examples of the latter concept, which has been introduced by Rieffel, are very restricted. But, by using the concept of quantum family of maps, it was denoted that the source of examples for (C*-algebraic) quantum pseudo-metric spaces are very wider than those for (C*-algebraic) quantum metric spaces.

References

- [1] A. Connes, Compact metric spaces, Fredholm modules and hyperfiniteness, Ergo. Th. Dyn. Sys. 9 (1989), 207–220.
- [2] A. Connes, Noncommutative Geometry, Academic Press, 1994.
 [3] G. Kuperberg, N. Weaver, A von Neumann algebra approach to quantum metrics/quantum relations, Vol. 215, no. 1010. American Mathematical Society, 2012. S. T. Rachev, *Probability Metrics and the Stability of Stochastic Models*, John Wiley and Sons, 1991.
- [5] M. A. Rieffel, Metrics on states from actions of compact groups, Doc. Math. 3 (1998), 215–229.
 [6] M. A. Rieffel, Metrics on state spaces, Doc. Math. 4 (1999), 559–600.
- [7] M. A. Rieffel, Gromov-Hausdorff distance for quantum metric spaces, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 168 (2004), 1–65.
 [8] M. A. Rieffel, Compact quantum metric spaces, Contemp. Math. 365 (2004), 315–330.
- [9] M. A. Rieffel, Leibniz seminorms for Matrix algebras converge to the sphere, Quanta of maths, Clay Math. Proc., vol. 11, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence,
- RI, 2010, 543–578. [10] M. M. Sadr, *Quantum functor Mor*, Math. Pannonica **21** no. 1 (2010), 77–88.
- [11] M. M. Sadr, A kind of compact quantum semigroups, Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 2012 (2012), Article ID 725270, 10 pages.
 [12] M. M. Sadr, On the quantum groups and semigroups of maps between noncommutative spaces, Czechoslovak Math. J. 67 no. 1 (2017), 97–121.
- [13] M. M. Sadt, *Quantum metrics on noncommutative spaces*, available at https://arxiv.org/pdf/1606.00661.pdf
 [14] M. M. Sadr, *Metric operator fields*, available at https://arxiv.org/pdf/1705.03378.pdf
- [15] P. M. Soltan, Quantum families of maps and quantum semigroups on finite quantum spaces, J. Geom. Phys. 59 (2009), 354-368.
- [16] S. L. Woronowicz, Pseudogroups, pseudospaces and Pontryagin duality, Proceedings of the International Conference on Mathematical Physics, Lausanne 1979, Lecture Notes in Physics 116, 407-412.

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



Geodesics on the momentum phase space with metric ^Cg

İsmet Ayhan^{a*}

^aDepartment of Mathematics Educations, Faculty of Education, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Turkey *Corresponding author E-mail: iayhan@pau.edu.tr

Article Info	Abstract					
Keywords: The Hamilton Mechanic System, Geodesics on The Cotangent Bundle, Space like Surface 2010 AMS: 35Q70, 53C22, 53C25 Received: 16 February 2018 Accepted: 5 March 2018 Available online: 11 March 2018	In this paper, a system of the differential equations giving geodesics on the momentum phase space with pseudo Riemann metric ${}^{C}g$ of a Hamilton space is found by using the Euler Lagrange equations. Then, space like geodesics on pseudo hyperbolic 2-space H_1^2 are obtained. Finally, a system of the differential equations giving geodesics on the cotangent bundle with pseudo Riemann metric ${}^{C}g$ of H_1^2 is get.					

1. Introduction

The geometry of the cotangent bundle is one of the most important subjects attracted the attention of mathematicians as well as physicists. A Lagrange mechanical system consists of a configuration space which contains the trajectory of each of the moving particles of a system with n-particles and Lagrangian which gives the difference between the kinetic and potential energy at any stage of the each particle in system [1].

The position and velocity coordinates depended on time parameter t of the motion of the each particle of a system with n-particles are represented by the coordinates of any point on the tangent bundle of a (pseudo) Riemann manifold. Lagrangian is defined as a real valuable and differentiable function on the tangent bundle [7].

The position and velocity coordinates of a moving particle in the system at any instant t are found by the Euler Lagrange equations. The Euler Lagrange equations are second order ordinary differential equations which depend on position and velocity of each particle in system [7].

Gravitational field is given by a (pseudo) Riemann metric. The movement depended on time t of all particles in system by the only effect of the gravitational field is described by a (pseudo) Riemann manifold. The trajectory of a moving particle by the effect of the gravitational field describes a geodesic, the shortest one among the curves passing from one point to another, in a (pseudo) Riemann manifold [8].

In different place of space, the effect of the gravitational field on moving particles is different. As metric is change, (pseudo) Riemann manifold must change. Moreover, in different (pseudo) Riemann manifold, the trajectory of moving particles by the only effect of the gravitational field, geodesics, must change. So, we examined geodesics on different space forms such as H_1^2 , S_1^2 , S^3 and its tangent sphere bundle from [[2],[3],[4]].

From the references [1], [5], [7], [8], [9] and [10], we searched some concept such as, the movement of particles in the gravitational field, total energy function in a Hamilton mechanic system, kinetic and potential energies of a moving particle, the conservation of energy and the conservation of momentum.

Then, we found out that how obtained space like, time like and null geodesics of the unit 2-sphere with index one by using the Euler Lagrange equations from [6].

Moreover, we analyzed the general equations of geodesics on the cotangent bundle with pseudo Riemann metric C_g which is called as Riemann extension of the symmetric affine connection [11].

In this paper, we defined Lagrangian on the cotangent bundle and we calculated geodesics on the cotangent bundle with a pseudo Riemann metric ^{C}g by using the Euler Lagrange equations.

Then, we obtained space-like geodesics on the pseudo hyperbolic 2-space by using the Euler Lagrange equations. Finally, we calculated the general equations of geodesics on the cotangent bundle of pseudo hyperbolic 2-space with the pseudo Riemann metric C_g .

2. The motion of the particles in the Hamilton Space

In this section, we obtain the geometrical interpretations of some concepts, well known in classic mechanic such as the movement of the particles by the effect of the gravitational field, the conservation of energy and momentum.

In classical mechanic, the motion of a system with n-particles is described by the position coordinates and the momentum coordinates of each of the particles in system. The position coordinates of a particle depend on the position vector in three-dimensional space. The momentum coordinates of a particle depend on a one form associated with the tangent vector of the curve determined by trajectory of the moving particle [10].

If the configuration space represents by an n=3N dimensional manifold whose the local coordinate functions give the positions coordinates of each of the particles at any instant t, the phase space of the configuration space can represent by an 2n dimensional manifold whose the local coordinate functions give the position and the momentum coordinates of each of the particles at any instant t. In other words, the phase space of the configuration space must represent 2n-dimensional the cotangent bundle as the configuration space of moving particles by the only effect of the gravitational field represents a n-dimensional differentiable manifold M [10]. The arc length between the position coordinates of infinitely close two points on the trajectory of a particle in the configuration space is determined by

$$ds^2 = g_{kj}(x)dx^k dx^j, (2.1)$$

where $g_{kj}(x)$ is a pseudo Riemann metric on M. The trajectory of a moving particle in M is represented by a curve $\gamma: I \subset R \to M$. For any time t, the position coordinates of γ is given by $x^i(t) = x^i \circ \gamma(t)$, i = 1, ..., n and the velocity and momentum coordinates of γ are given by $y^i = \frac{dx^i}{dt}$, and $p_i = g_{ij}y^j$, respectively.

The curve γ must be called as the space-like, the time-like or the light-like curve if the value under the pseudo Riemann metric g of the unit tangent vector v at every point of γ , $ds^2 = g(v, v) = \varepsilon$ is provided $\varepsilon = 1$, $\varepsilon = -1$ or $\varepsilon = 0$, respectively [3].

The sum of the kinetic and the potential energies of all moving particles in the system are represented by the function $H: T^*M \to R$ in the phase space and it is called Hamiltonian.

Assuming that all particles in the system act only the effect of the gravitational field. Then the Hamiltonian H equals to the sum of the total energies of the moving all particles in system and the Hamiltonian H of the test particles i.e. unit mass particles are described by

$$H(x^{i}, p_{i}) = \frac{1}{2}g^{ij}(x)p_{i}p_{j},$$
(2.2)

where $g^{ij}(x)$ is a metric tensor with type (2,0) given by $g^{ik}g_{kj} = \delta_j^i$ [5]. The Hamilton space M consists of n-dimensional differentiable manifold M and a Hamiltonian H on the cotangent bundle of M. Assuming that $\eta = p_i dx^i$ is the basic 1-form on T^{*}M. The exterior differential $\vartheta = -d\eta$ of the basic 1-form η is the 2-form given by $\vartheta = dx^i \wedge dp_i$ with respect to the induced local coordinates of T^{*}M. Since ϑ is closed (i.e. $d\vartheta = 0$), non degenerate 2-form on T^{*}M, ϑ is called as the canonic symplectic structure on T^{*}M. The cotangent bundle T^{*}M with the symplectic structure ϑ is called as a symplectic manifold [1]. A vector field $X_H : T^*M \to TT^*M$ is called as Hamilton vector field if there is a function $H : T^*M \to R$ such that $i_{X_H} \vartheta = dH$. The condition $i_{X_H} \vartheta = dH$ is equivalent to $\vartheta(X_H, Y) = dH(Y)$ for $Y \in TT^*M$. The local expression of the Hamilton vector field is

$$X_H = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} - \frac{\partial H}{\partial x^i} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_i},\tag{2.3}$$

with respect to the induced coordinates $(x^i, p_i); i = 1, ..., n$ on T^*M [1].

The curve $\phi : t \to (x^i(t), p_i(t))$ is called as the integral curve of the Hamilton vector field X_H since the equality $X_H(\phi(t)) = \dot{\phi}(t)$ provides. The condition $X_H(\phi(t)) = \dot{\phi}(t)$ is equivalent to

$$\frac{dx^{i}}{dt} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{i}}, \quad \frac{dp_{i}}{dt} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x^{i}}.$$
(2.4)

The equations in (2.4) are called as Hamilton equations. The solution curves of these 2n first order differential equations describe a symplectic transformation called as phase flow in phase space [1]. The Hamilton equations are also obtained by the Legendre transformation of the Euler Lagrange equations described as follows:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial y^i}\right) - \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i} = 0,$$
(2.5)

where $y^i = \frac{dx^i}{dt}$. Legendre transformation is differentiable transformation from TM to T^{*}M defined by

$$\pounds: (x^i, y^i) \to (x^i, p_i = \frac{\partial L}{\partial y^i}).$$
(2.6)

There is a relation between H and L as follows:

$$H(x^{i}, p_{i}) = p_{i}y^{i} - L(x^{i}, y^{i}),$$
(2.7)

where L is a differentiable function on TM called as Lagrangian with local expression as follows:

$$L(x^{i}, y^{i}) = \frac{1}{2}g_{ij}(x)y^{i}y^{j}.$$
(2.8)

The Lagrangian of all particles in the system is equal to the difference between kinetic and potential energies of these particles [1, 7].

The Hamiltonian H is a differentiable function on T^*M given in (2.2). Let ϕ be a curve in T^*M . The curve γ is called as the projected curve of ϕ by canonic projection π from T^*M to M i.e. $\pi \circ \phi = \gamma$. If the curve ϕ is an integral curve of the Hamilton vector field X_H , the curve γ must be geodesic [1]. In other words, the particles in the system exposed gravitational field act along geodesic curves in the configuration space [8].

The sum of kinetic and potential energies of each of the moving particles by the only effect of the gravitational field is equal to Hamiltonian H which has constant value along the integral curves of the Hamilton vector field. In other words, the Hamiltonian must be constant on every point of the curve ϕ as the particles act along the integral curve of the Hamilton vector field. In classical mechanic, this fact is known as the conservation of energy [1].

Since the Hamiltonian H is constant along the integral curves of the Hamilton vector field, the Lagrangian L to be real valuable a function on the tangent bundle TM of the configuration space M must be constant along the integral curve of a vector field called as geodesic spray, which is the horizontal vector field in TTM [1].

The Lagrangian of the system with n-particles acting the only effect of the gravitational field is defined by (2.8). In addition, the momentum $p_i = \partial L/dy^i$ of each particle in the system must be constant. In classical mechanic, this fact is known as the conservation of momentum [7].

3. The Euler Lagrange equations on (T^{*}M,^Cg)

In this section, the Lagrangian on $(T^*M, {}^Cg)$ is obtained and the general equations of geodesics of $(T^*M, {}^Cg)$ in terms of the Euler Lagrange equations are found.

Definition 3.1. The disjoint union of each tangent vector space at all point of T^*M is called as the tangent bundle of T^*M denoted by

$$TT^*M = \bigcup_{\forall (p,\omega) \in T^*M} T_{(p,\omega)}T^*M.$$
(3.1)

Any point on TT^*M is represented by $(p, \omega, \tilde{X}_{(p,\omega)})$ where p is any point in a neighborhood U of M, ω is a cotangent vector at a point p of M and $\tilde{X}_{(p,\omega)}$ is a tangent vector at a point (p,ω) of T^*M . $\tau_{T^*M}: TT^*M \to T^*M$ is called as the canonical projection map. Let $\tilde{p} = (p, \omega, \tilde{X}_{(p,\omega)})$ be a point on $(\pi_M \circ \tau_{T^*M})^{-1}(U) \subset TT^*M$. Then $(x^1, \dots, x^n, p_1, \dots, p_n, \dot{x}^1, \dots, \dot{x}^n, \dot{p}_1, \dots, \dot{p}_n)$ is a the induced local coordinates of a point \tilde{p} on TT^*M where $\{x^i\}, i = 1, ..., n$ is the local components of a point $\pi_M \circ \tau_{T^*M}(\tilde{p}) = p$ of M and $\{p_i\}, i = 1, ..., n$ is the local components of the cotangent vector $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ providing $p_i = \boldsymbol{\omega}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^i})$. $\{\dot{x}^i\}, i = 1, ..., n$ is the local coordinate function of the tangent vector $\tilde{X}_{(p,\omega)}$ providing $\dot{x}^i = dx^i(\tilde{X}_{(p,\omega)}) = \tilde{X}_{(p,\omega)}[x^i]$ and $\{\dot{p}_i\}, i = 1, ..., n$ is the local coordinate functions of the tangent vector $\tilde{X}_{(p,\omega)}$ providing $\dot{p}_i = dp_i(\tilde{X}_{(p,\omega)}) = \tilde{X}_{(p,\omega)}[p_i]$. Thus TT^*M has 4n dimensional manifold structure.

Definition 3.2. The pseudo Riemann metric C_g is a tensor field of type (0, 2) in the cotangent bundle T^*M , whose components \tilde{g}_{AB} are given by

$$\tilde{g}_{AB} : \begin{pmatrix} -2p_a \Gamma^a_{ij} & \delta^j_i \\ \delta^i_j & 0 \end{pmatrix}_{2n \times 2n},$$
(3.2)

where $A, B \in \{1, ..., 2n\}$ and $i, j \in \{1, ..., n\}$. The line element of a pseudo Riemann metric ^Cg is given by

$$^{C}g = -2p_{a}\Gamma^{a}_{ij}dx^{j}dx^{j} + 2\delta^{j}_{i}dp_{i}dx^{j}, \qquad (3.3)$$

with respect to the induced coordinates (x^i, p_i) of T^*M . C_g is called as the Riemann extension of the symmetric affine connection ∇ of M [11].

Theorem 3.1. The difference between kinetic and potential energies of the moving particles by the only effect of the gravitational field in the momentum phase space with a pseudo Riemann metric C_g is given as follows:

$$\tilde{L}(x^i, p_i, \dot{x}^i, \dot{p}_i) = -p_a \Gamma^a_{ij} \dot{x}^i \dot{x}^j + \dot{p}_i \dot{x}^i.$$
(3.4)

Proof. The difference between kinetic and potential energy of the moving particles by the only effect of the gravitational field at any stage $(\tilde{x}^A, \tilde{y}^A)$ on TT^*M , \tilde{L} , is calculated by

$$\tilde{L}(\tilde{x}^{A}, \tilde{y}^{A}) = \frac{1}{2} \tilde{g}_{AB} \tilde{y}^{A} \tilde{y}^{B}; A, B, D = 1, ...2n,$$

where g^{ik} , A = 1, ..., 2n corresponds to the local coordinates of a point $\tilde{p} = (x^i, p_i)$, i = 1, ..., n on T^*M and \tilde{y}^A corresponds to the coordinate components (\dot{x}^i, \dot{p}_i) of a vector field $\tilde{X} : T^*M \to T(T^*M), \tilde{X} = \tilde{X}^A \frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{x}^A}$ such that $d\tilde{x}^i[\tilde{X}] = \dot{x}^i, d\tilde{x}^{n+i}[\tilde{X}] = \dot{p}_i$. The Lagrangian \tilde{L} is a differentiable function from TT^*M to IR. The local expression of \tilde{L} is

$$\tilde{L}(x^{i}, p_{i}, \dot{x}^{i}, \dot{p}_{i}) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}^{i} \\ \dot{p}_{i} \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{pmatrix} -2p_{a}\Gamma^{a}_{ij} & \delta^{j}_{i} \\ \delta^{i}_{j} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}^{j} \\ \dot{p}_{j} \end{pmatrix} = -p_{a}\Gamma^{a}_{ij}\dot{x}^{i}\dot{x}^{j} + \dot{p}_{i}\dot{x}^{i}.$$

Definition 3.3. The one with minimum arc length of among the curves given by $\tilde{\gamma}: t \in [t_0, t_1] \subset R \to (x^i(t), p_i(t)) \in T^*M$ is described by integral

$$\varphi(\tilde{\gamma}) = \int_{t_0}^{t_1} \tilde{L}(x^i(t), p_i(t), \dot{x}^i, \dot{p}_i)) dt$$
(3.5)

where $\varphi(\tilde{\gamma})$ is called as functional.

Theorem 3.2. A curve $\tilde{\gamma}: t \to (x^i(t), p_i(t))$ in $(T^*M, {}^Cg)$ is geodesic iff $\tilde{\gamma}$ satisfies the Euler-Lagrange equations given by

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{\partial \tilde{L}}{\partial x^i} \right) - \frac{\partial \tilde{L}}{\partial x^i} = 0, \quad \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{\partial \tilde{L}}{\partial \dot{p}_i} \right) - \frac{\partial \tilde{L}}{\partial p_i} = 0, \tag{3.6}$$

where \tilde{L} is defined as (3.4).

Proof. By solving the differential equations in (3.6), we get the general equations of geodesics of T^*M with the pseudo Riemann metric C_g as follows:

$$\frac{d\dot{x}^h}{dt} + \Gamma^h_{ij}\dot{x}^i\dot{x}^j = 0, \tag{3.7}$$

$$\frac{d\dot{p}_h}{dt} + p_a \frac{\partial \Gamma^a_{ij}}{\partial x^h} \dot{x}^i \dot{x}^j - 2p_a \frac{\partial \Gamma^a_{hj}}{\partial x^i} \dot{x}^j \dot{x}^i - 2\Gamma^a_{hj} \dot{p}_a \dot{x}^j + 2p_a \Gamma^a_{hk} \Gamma^k_{ji} \dot{x}^j \dot{x}^i = 0,$$
(3.8)

which is also obtained by classical method in Yano and Ishihara' s book [11].

4. Geodesics on H_1^2

In this section, the space-like geodesics on pseudo hyperbolic 2-space are obtained by using the Euler Lagrange differential equations. **Definition 4.1.** Non-degenerate, symmetric, bilinear form g is called as a semi Riemann metric in semi-Euclidean space E_1^3 and g is defined by

$$g(u,v) = -u_1v_1 + u_2v_2 + u_3v_3, \tag{4.1}$$

for any vectors $u, v \in E_1^3$. **Definition 4.2.** H_1^2 is a surface in E_1^3 given by

$$H_1^2 = \{ u = (x_1, x_2, x_3) : \| u \|^2 = g(u, u) = -1, \ u \in E_1^3 \}.$$

$$(4.2)$$

 H_1^2 is called as pseudo hyperbolic 2-space. H_1^2 may be considered as hyperboloid of two sheet in Euclidean space. The representation of H_1^2 with respect to Cartesian coordinate system is given as follows:

$$-x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 = -1. ag{4.3}$$

The parametric representation of H_1^2 is given as follows:

$$x_1(a,\theta) = \cosh a,$$

$$x_2(a,\theta) = \sinh a \sin \theta,$$

$$x_3(a,\theta) = \sinh a \cos \theta.$$
(4.4)

Any curve on the surface H_1^2 is described by giving the following coordinates as functions of a single parameter t

$$\begin{aligned} a &= a(t) \\ \theta &= \theta(t). \end{aligned} \tag{4.5}$$

Theorem 4.1. The length between infinitely close two points on H_1^2 is determined by the following metric:

$$ds^2 = da^2 + \sinh^2 a d\theta^2. \tag{4.6}$$

Proof. In order to find length of a one parameter curve in H_1^2 , we use the covariant differentiations of x_1, x_2, x_3 as follow:

$$dx_1 = \sinh a da$$

$$dx_2 = \cosh a \sin \theta da + \sinh a \cos \theta d\theta \qquad (4.7)$$

$$dx_3 = \cosh a \cos \theta da - \sinh a \sin \theta d\theta.$$

The length between infinitely close two points on H_1^2 is calculated with

$$ds^{2} = g((dx_{1}, dx_{2}, dx_{3}), (dx_{1}, dx_{2}, dx_{3}))$$

= $-dx_{1}^{2} + dx_{2}^{2} + dx_{3}^{2}.$ (4.8)

By using the covariant differentiations of x_1, x_2, x_3 in (4.4), we get

$$ds^2 = da^2 + \sinh^2 a d\theta^2$$

and also the matrix representation of this metric is given as follows:

$$g_{ij} : \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & \sinh^2 a \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.9)

Definition 4.3. A differentiable function from TH_1^2 to *R* is defined as follows:

$$L(a,\theta,\dot{a},\dot{\theta}) = \frac{1}{2}(\dot{a}^2 + \sinh^2 a\dot{\theta}^2)$$

$$\tag{4.10}$$

where L is called as Lagrangian of H_1^2 . **Definition 4.4.** The one with minimum arc length of among the curves γ in H_1^2 is described by

$$\varphi(\gamma) = \int_{t_0}^{t_1} L(a,\theta,\dot{a},\dot{\theta}) dt, \qquad (4.11)$$

where $\varphi(\gamma)$ describes a map from family of curves passing through different two point in H_1^2 to real numbers and γ is also a curve such that $\varphi(\gamma)$ has minimum arc length on H_1^2 . $\varphi(\gamma)$ is called as functional. To find γ , the Euler-Lagrange equations are used. **Definition 4.5.** The trajectories of moving test particles on H_1^2 are determined by the following equations:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{\partial L}{d\dot{a}}\right) - \frac{\partial L}{da} = 0,\tag{4.12}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{\theta}}\right) - \frac{\partial L}{\partial \theta} = 0. \tag{4.13}$$

These equations are called as the Euler Lagrange equations in H_1^2 . The particular solution providing the initial value of differential equations in (4.12) and (4.13) is a geodesic γ passing through initial point $(a(t_0), \theta(t_0))$ and the end point $(a(t_1), \theta(t_1))$. The curve γ may be visualized as the trajectory of moving a test particle by the effect of gravitational field on throat of hyperboloid of two sheets. **Definition 4.6.** The line element of H_1^2 is given by

$$ds^{2} = (\dot{a})^{2} + \sinh^{2}a(\dot{\theta})^{2} = \varepsilon.$$

$$(4.14)$$

The curve connecting different two point to be infinitely close on H_1^2 is called as the space-like curve of H_1^2 for $\varepsilon = 1$.

Theorem 4.2. The general equation of geodesics on H_1^2 is given by

$$\frac{da}{d\theta} = \frac{\sqrt{\varepsilon \sinh^4 a - k_1^2 \sinh^2 a}}{k_1}.$$
(4.15)

Proof. In order to obtain the general equation of geodesics, we should consider the Euler Lagrange equations in (4.12), (4.13) together with metric on H_1^2 . From the solving of the differential equations in (4.13), we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\dot{\theta}\sinh^2 a\right) = 0 \Rightarrow \dot{\theta} = \frac{k_1}{\sinh^2 a}, \ k_1 - \text{real constant.}$$
(4.16)

If we put the value of $\dot{\theta}$ in (4.16) into at (4.14)

$$\left(\frac{da}{dt}\right)^2 + \sinh^2 a \left(\frac{d\theta}{dt}\right)^2 = \varepsilon \Rightarrow \left(\frac{da}{d\theta}\frac{d\theta}{dt}\right)^2 + \sinh^2 a \left(\frac{d\theta}{dt}\right)^2 = \varepsilon,$$

we can obtain the general equation of geodesics on H_1^2 as follow:

$$\frac{da}{d\theta} = \frac{\sqrt{\varepsilon \sinh^4 a - k_1^2 \sinh^2 a}}{k_1}.$$

Since the gradient vector field to be normal to tangent vector space at any point of H_1^2 is time like, H_1^2 must be called as a space like surface. So, H_1^2 has only space like geodesics. The general equation of these geodesics on H_1^2 is given by the following theorem. Theorem 4.3. The space like geodesics on H_2^2 are given by the following equations:

Theorem 4.3. The space-like geodesics on H_1^2 are given by the following equations:

$$\frac{\sqrt{1-k_1^2\cos ech^2a}}{\sqrt{k_1^2+1}} = \frac{\sin\theta}{k_2}, \frac{x_1^2}{k_1^2+1} - \frac{x_2^2}{k_2^2} = 1$$

with respect to generalized and cartesian coordinates.

Proof. If we chose $\varepsilon = 1$ in (4.15), we can obtain following surface:

$$\frac{\sqrt{1-k_1^2\cos ech^2 a}}{\sqrt{k_1^2+1}} = \frac{\sin\theta}{k_2}, \frac{x_1^2}{k_1^2+1} - \frac{x_2^2}{k_2^2} = 1$$

with respect to generalized coordinates (a, θ) and cartesian coordinates.

The space-like geodesic characterized by trajectory of a moving test particle by the effect of gravitational field acts faster than speed of light on the surface H_1^2 . This mechanical interpretation was inspired from [9].

5. Geodesics on $(T^*H_1^2, g^C)$

In this section, the general equations of geodesics on the cotangent bundle of pseudo hyperbolic 2-space with the pseudo Riemann metric C_g are calculated.

Definition 5.1. Let H_1^2 be pseudo hyperbolic 2-space and $T^*H_1^2$ be its cotangent bundle. As any point q on H_1^2 has the generalized coordinates (a, θ) , the point (q, η_q) on $T^*H_1^2$ has the local coordinates (a, θ, p_1, p_2) where p_1, p_2 are the local coordinate function of the cotangent vector η_q at q. In addition, the point $(q, \eta_q, X_{(q,\eta_q)})$ on $TT^*H_1^2$ has the local coordinates $(a, \theta, p_1, p_2, \dot{a}, \dot{\theta}, \dot{p}_1, \dot{p}_2)$ and the point $(q, \eta_q, \omega_{(q,\eta_q)})$ on $T^*T^*H_1^2$ has the local coordinates $(a, \theta, p_1, p_2, \omega_a, \omega_\theta, \omega_{p_1}, \omega_{p_2})$ where $\omega_a, \omega_\theta, \omega_{p_1}, \omega_{p_2}$ are the local coordinate functions of the cotangent vector at (q, η_q) i.e. $\omega_{(q,\eta_q)} \in T^*_{(q,\eta_q)}T^*H_1^2$.

Theorem 5.1. The general equations of geodesics of H_1^2 are represented by the following equations:

 $\ddot{a} - \cosh a \sinh a \left(\dot{\theta}\right)^2 = 0, \ \ddot{\theta} + 2 \coth a \dot{a} \dot{\theta} = 0.$

Proof. To find the general equations of geodesics on H_1^2 , we need to the general formula of the geodesic equations on Riemann manifolds given by

$$\ddot{x}^{\alpha} + \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\gamma\beta} \dot{x}^{\gamma} \dot{x}^{\beta} = 0, \tag{5.1}$$

and the Christoffel symbols given by

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\alpha\mu} \left(g_{\mu\gamma,\beta} + g_{\beta\mu,\gamma} - g_{\beta\gamma,\mu} \right), \tag{5.2}$$

and where $g_{\alpha\beta}$ is the components of the matrix representation of the metric tensor of H_1^2 and $g^{\alpha\beta}$ is inverse of $g_{\alpha\beta}$. The non-zero components of the Christoffel symbols of H_1^2 are obtained as follows:

$$\Gamma_{22}^{1} = -\sinh a \cosh a, \quad \Gamma_{12}^{2} = \Gamma_{21}^{2} = \coth a.$$
 (5.3)

If we put the non-zero Christoffel symbols in (5.3) into (5.1), we get the general equations of geodesics on H_1^2 as follows:

$$\ddot{a} - \cosh a \sinh a \left(\dot{\theta} \right)^2 = 0, \ \ddot{\theta} + 2 \coth a \dot{a} \dot{\theta} = 0.$$
(5.4)

Theorem 5.2. The pseudo Riemann metric ${}^{C}g$ on $T^{*}H_{1}^{2}$ has components

$$^{C}g = -4p_{2}\coth ada\theta + 2p_{1}\sinh a\cosh a(d\theta)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}.$$
(5.5)

Proof. By using the equations in (3.3) and (5.3), the pseudo Riemann metric C_g on $T^*H_1^2$ has following component

$${}^{C}g = \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{11}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{11}^{2}\right)\left(da\right)^{2} + 2\left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{12}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{12}^{2}\right)dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{1} + 2d\theta dp_{2}dad\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{1} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{2} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{2} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{2} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{2} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{2} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + \left(-2p_{1}\Gamma_{22}^{2} - 2p_{2}\Gamma_{22}^{2}\right)\left(d\theta\right)^{2} + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + 2dadp_{2}d\theta + 2dadp_{$$

The matrix representation of Cg is as follows:

 Γ^1

$$g_{AB}: \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -2p_2 \coth a & 1 & 0\\ -2p_2 \coth a & 2p_1 \sinh a \cosh a & 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and the matrix representation of inverse of C_g is as follows:

$$\binom{C_g}{}^{-1} : \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 2p_2 \coth a \\ 0 & 1 & 2p_2 \coth a & -2p_1 \sinh a \cosh a \end{pmatrix}$$

Theorem 5.3. The non-zero components of the Christoffel symbols of $T^*H_1^2$ with the pseudo Riemann metric C_g has the following components:

$$\Gamma_{12}^{1} = -\sinh a \cosh a
\Gamma_{12}^{2} = \Gamma_{21}^{2} = \coth a
\Gamma_{12}^{3} = \Gamma_{21}^{3} = 2p_{2} \coth^{2} a, \Gamma_{22}^{3} = -p_{1} \cosh 2a, \Gamma_{24}^{3} = \Gamma_{24}^{3} = -\coth a
\Gamma_{11}^{4} = 2p_{2} \cos ech^{2} a, \Gamma_{12}^{4} = \Gamma_{21}^{4} = -p_{1}, \Gamma_{22}^{4} = -2p_{2} \cosh^{2} a,
\Gamma_{14}^{4} = \Gamma_{41}^{4} = -\coth a, \Gamma_{23}^{4} = \Gamma_{32}^{4} = \sinh a \cosh a.$$
(5.6)

Proof. By using the general formula of the Christoffel symbols in (5.2), it is seen to be correct of theorem.

Theorem 5.4. Any curve $\tilde{c}: t \to \tilde{c}(t) = (a, \theta, p_1, p_2)$ on $(T^*H_1^2, {}^Cg)$ is geodesic iff following differential equations system must provide:

 $\ddot{a} - \sinh a \cosh a \left(\dot{\theta}\right)^2 = 0,$

 $\ddot{\theta} + 2 \coth a \dot{a} \dot{\theta} = 0,$

 $\ddot{p}_1 + 4p_2 \coth^2 a \dot{a} \dot{\theta} - p_1 \cosh 2a \left(\dot{\theta}\right)^2 - 2 \coth a \dot{\theta} \dot{p}_2 = 0,$

 $\ddot{p}_2 + 2p_2 \cos ech^2 a (\dot{a})^2 - 2p_1 \dot{a} \dot{\theta} - 2p_2 \cosh^2 a (\dot{\theta})^2 - 2 \coth a \dot{a} \dot{p}_2 + 2 \sinh a \cosh a \dot{\theta} \dot{p}_2 = 0.$

Proof. By using the general formula of the geodesic equation in (5.1) and components of the Christoffel symbol in (5.6), it is seen easily to be correct of theorem.

Theorem 5.5. The general equations of geodesics of $(T^*H_1^2, C_g)$ obtained in Theorem 3.2 by using the Euler Lagrange equations provide the geodesic equations obtained by classical method at Theorem 5.1.

Proof. If we rewrite with respect to the components of the general equations of geodesics of (T^*M, C_g) obtained by Theorem 3.2 for $(T^*H_1^2, {}^Cg)$, we get the following equations:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d\dot{x}^1}{dt} + \Gamma_{22}^1 \dot{x}^2 \dot{x}^2 &= 0, \\ \frac{d\dot{x}^2}{dt} + 2\Gamma_{12}^1 \dot{x}^1 \dot{x}^2 &= 0, \\ \frac{d\dot{p}_1}{dt} + p_1 \frac{\partial\Gamma_{22}^1}{\partial x^1} \dot{x}^2 \dot{x}^2 - 2\Gamma_{12}^2 \dot{p}_2 \dot{x}^2 + 2p_2 \Gamma_{12}^2 \Gamma_{21}^2 \dot{x}^1 \dot{x}^2 &= 0, \end{aligned}$$

$$\frac{d\dot{p}_2}{dt} - 2p_2 \frac{\partial\Gamma_{21}^2}{\partial x^1} \dot{x}^1 \dot{x}^1 - 2p_1 \frac{\partial\Gamma_{22}^1}{\partial x^1} \dot{x}^2 \dot{x}^1 + 2p_1 \Gamma_{22}^1 \Gamma_{12}^2 \dot{x}^2 \dot{x}^1 + 2p_2 \Gamma_{21}^2 \Gamma_{22}^1 \dot{x}^2 \dot{x}^2 - 2\Gamma_{21}^2 \dot{p}_2 \dot{x}^1 - 2\Gamma_{22}^1 \dot{p}_1 \dot{x}^2 = 0.$$

When we use the coefficients of the Christoffel symbol in (5.1), it is seen to be the above equations is equal to the geodesic equations obtained by classical method at Theorem 5.4.

6. Conclusion

This study contains six sections. In the second section, the geometrical interpretation of the mechanic concepts are considered such as the movement of the particles by the effect of the gravitational field, the conservation of momentum or energy, well known in classic mechanic. In the third section, the general equations of geodesics on the cotangent bundle $(T^*H_1^2,g^C)$ are found by using the Euler Lagrange equations. In the fourth section, the space-like geodesics on pseudo hyperbolic 2-space are obtained by using the Euler Lagrange equations.

Finally, in the fifth section, the general equations of geodesics on the cotangent bundle of pseudo hyperbolic 2-space $(T^*H_1{}^2,g^C)$ are obtained by using general formula of geodesics on a Riemann manifold and then it is shown that the general equations of geodesics on $(T^*H_1^2,g^C)$ are equal to the geodesic equations obtained by using the Euler Lagrange equations in the second section.

References

- [1] R. Abraham and J. E. Marsden, Foundations of mechanics, W. A. Benjamin Inc., New York, 1967.
- I. Ayhan, On the tangent sphere bundle of the pseudo hyperbolic two space, Global Journal of Advanced Research on Classical and Modern Geometries, [2] vol. 3, no. 2, pp 76-90, 2014.
- [3] I. Ayhan, On the sphere bundle with the Sasaki semi Riemann metric of a space form, Global Journal of Advanced Research on Classical and Modern Geometries, vol. 3, no. 1, pp 25-35, 2014.
- I. Ayhan, Geodesics on the tangent sphere bundle of 3-Sphere, International Electronic Journal of Geometry, vol. 6, no. 2, pp 100-109, 2013.
- [5] A. Č. Coken, I Ayhan, On the geometry of the movements of the particles in a Hamilton space, Abstract and Applied Analysis, DOI:10.1155/2013/830147, 2013.[6] P. Free, Introduction to general relativity, Lecture Notes, Virgo site, 2003.
- [7] R. Miron, H. Hrimiuc, H. Shimada, and V. S. Sabau, The geometry of Hamilton and Lagrange spaces, Kluwer Academic, New York, USA, 2001.
- [8] A. Polnarev, Motion of a test particle in a gravitational field and Hamilton Jacobi equations, relativity and gravitation, Lectures Notes 5, 2011.
 [9] S. Waner, G. C. Levine, Introduction to differential geometry and general relativity, Lectures Notes, 2005.
 [10] C. K. Wonk, Classical physics in Galilean and Minkowski space-times, Lecture Notes 3, 2009.

- [11] K. Yano and S. Ishihara, Tangent and cotangent bundles, Marcel Decker Inc., New York, 1973.
UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma



(1.2)

Boundedly solvable degenerate differential operators for first order

Pembe İpek^a and Zameddin İ. İsmailov^{b*}

^aInstitute of Natural Sciences, Karadeniz Technical University, Turkey ^bDepartment of Mathematics, Karadeniz Technical University, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: zameddin.ismailov@gmail.com

e Info

Abstract

Keywords: Boundedly solvable operator, Degenerate differential-operator expression, Spectrum 2010 AMS: 47A20,47B38 Received: 31 January 2018 Accepted: 23 February 2018 Available online: 11 March 2018 Using the methods of operator theory all boundedly solvable extensions of the minimal operator generated by degenerated type differential-operator expression in the weighted Hilbert space of vector-functions in finite interval in terms of boundary conditions are described. Later on, the structure of spectrum of these type extensions will be investigated.

1. Introduction

The general information on the degenerate differential equations in Banach spaces can be found in book of A. Favini and A. Yagi [1]. The fundamental interest to such equations are motivated by applications in different fields of life sciences. Recall that an operator

$$A: D(A) \subset H \to H \tag{1.1}$$

in a Hilbert space H is called boundedly solvable, if A is one-to-one

$$AD(A) = H$$
 and $A^{-1} \in L(H)$.

In this work using the methods of operator theory, all boundedly solvable extensions of minimal operator generated by linear degenerate type differential-operator expression in the weighted Hilbert space of vector-functions in finite interval in terms of boundary conditions have been defined (see Sec.2). In Section 3 the geometry of spectrum set of these type extensions has been investigated.

Let *H* be a separable Hilbert space and $\alpha : (0,1) \to (0,\infty)$, $\alpha \in C(0,1)$ and $\int_{0}^{1} \frac{dt}{\alpha(t)} < \infty$. In the weighted Hilbert space $L^{2}_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ of *H*-valued vector-functions defined at the interval (0,1) consider the following degenerate type differential expression with operator coefficient for first order in a form

$$l(u) = (\alpha u)'(t) + A(t)u(t),$$
(1.3)

where:

(1) operator-function $A(\cdot): (0,1) \to L(H)$ is continuous on the uniform operator topology; (2) $\frac{\|A(t)\|}{\alpha(t)} \in L^1(0,1).$

By the standard way the minimal L_0 and maximal L operators corresponding differential expression $l(\cdot)$ in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ can be defined [3]. In this case $KerL_0 = \{0\}$ and $\overline{Im(L_0)} \neq L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ (see Sec.3).

In this work, firstly all boundedly solvable extensions of the minimal operator generated by first order linear degenerate type differentialoperator expression in the weighted Hilbert space of vector-functions in (0,1) in terms of boundary conditions are described. Later on, the structure of spectrum of these type extensions will be investigated.

2. Description of boundedly solvable extensions

In this section using the Vishik's methods all boundedly solvable extensions of the minimal operator generated by linear degenerate type differential-operator expression $l(\cdot)$ in weighted Hilbert space $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ are represented.

Before of all note that using the knowing standard way the minimal M_0 and the maximal M operators generated by differential expression

$$m(v) = (\alpha v)'(t) \tag{2.1}$$

in Hilbert space $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ can be defined [3].

Later on, by U(t,s), $t,s \in [0,1)$ will be defined the family of evolution operators corresponding to the homogeneous differential-operator equation

$$\alpha(t)\frac{\partial}{\partial t}U(t,s)f + A(t)U(t,s)f = 0, \, t, s \in (0,1)$$
(2.2)

with boundary condition

$$U(s,s)f = f, f \in H.$$

$$\tag{2.3}$$

The operator U(t,s), $t,s \in (0,1)$ is linear continuous and boundedly solvable in *H*. And also for any $t,s \in (0,1)$ there is the following equation:

$$U^{-1}(t,s) = U(s,t)$$
(2.4)

(for detail analysis see [2]). If introduce the following operator

$$Uz(t) = U(t,0)z(t),$$

$$U: L^{2}_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)) \to L^{2}_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)),$$

then it is easily to check that

$$\begin{split} l(Uz) &= (\alpha Uz)'(t) + A(t)Uz(t) \\ &= U(\alpha z)'(t) + U_t'(\alpha z)(t) + A(t)Uz(t) \\ &= U(\alpha z)'(t) + \left[\alpha(t)U_t'z(t) + A(t)Uz(t)\right] \\ &= U(\alpha z)'(t) \\ &= Um(z). \end{split}$$

Therefore it can be obtained

$$U^{-1}l(Uz) = m(z). (2.5)$$

Hence it is clear that if \widetilde{L} is some extension of the minimal operator L_0 , that is, $L_0 \subset \widetilde{L} \subset L$, then $U^{-1}L_0U = M_0$, $M_0 \subset U^{-1}\widetilde{L}U = \widetilde{M} \subset M$, $U^{-1}LU = M$.

Now we prove the following assertion.

Theorem 2.1. *KerL*₀ = $\{0\}$ *and* $\overline{Im(L_0)} \neq L^2_{\alpha}(H, (0, 1))$.

Proof. Consider the following boundary value problem in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$

$$(\alpha u)'(t) + A(t)u(t) = 0, \ t \in (0,1),$$

$$(\alpha u)(0) = (\alpha u)(1) = 0.$$
(2.6)

Then the general solution of above differential equation is in form

$$(\alpha u)(t) = exp\left(-\int_{0}^{t} \frac{A(s)}{\alpha(s)}ds\right)f_{0}, f_{0} \in H.$$
(2.7)

From (2.7) and boundary condition (2.6) we have following equation

$$u(t) = 0, \ t \in (0, 1). \tag{2.8}$$

Consequently, following equality $Ker(L_0) = \{0\}$ hold. On the other hand it is clear that the general solution of following differential equation in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$

$$-(\alpha v)'(t) + A^*(t)v(t) = 0$$
(2.9)

in form

$$v(t) = \frac{1}{\alpha(t)} exp\left(\int_{0}^{t} \frac{A^{*}(s)}{\alpha(s)} ds\right) g, \ g \in H.$$
(2.10)

This means that

$$dimKerL_0^* = \infty.$$

So the following inequality is realized

$$\overline{Im(L_0)} \neq L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)).$$
 (2.12)

Theorem 2.2. Each solvable extension \tilde{L} of the minimal operator L_0 in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ is generated by the differential-operator expression $l(\cdot)$ with boundary condition

$$(B+E)(\alpha U^{-1}u)(0) = B(\alpha U^{-1}u)(1),$$
(2.13)

where $B \in L(H)$, E is a identity operator in H. The operator B is determined uniquely by the extension \tilde{L} , i.e $\tilde{L} = L_B$. On the contrary, the restriction of the maximal operator L to the manifold of vector-functions satisfy the above boundary condition for some bounded operator $B \in L(H)$ is a boundedly solvable extension of the minimal operator L_0 in $L^2_{\alpha}(H, (0, 1))$.

Proof. Firstly, all boundedly solvable extensions \widetilde{M} of the minimal operator L_0 in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ in terms of boundary conditions will be described.

Consider the following so-called Cauchy extension M_c ,

$$M_{c}u = (\alpha u)'(t),$$

$$M_{c}: D(M_{c}) \subset L^{2}_{\alpha}(H, (0, 1)) \to L^{2}_{\alpha}(H, (0, 1)),$$

$$D(M_{c}) = \{u \in D(L) : (\alpha u)(0) = 0\}$$

of the minimal operator M_0 . It is clear that M_c is a boundedly solvable extension of minimal operator M_0 and

$$\begin{split} M_c^{-1}f(t) &= \frac{1}{\alpha(t)} \int_0^t f(s) ds, \ f \in L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)), \\ M_c^{-1} &: L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)) \to L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)). \end{split}$$

Indeed, for any $f \in L^2_{\alpha}(H, (0, 1))$ we have

$$\begin{split} \|\frac{1}{\alpha(t)} \int_{0}^{t} f(s) ds\|_{L^{2}_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))}^{2} &= \int_{0}^{1} \alpha(t) \frac{1}{\alpha^{2}(t)} \|\int_{0}^{t} f(s) ds\|_{H}^{2} dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{\alpha(t)} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha(s)}} \sqrt{\alpha(s)} \|f(s)\|_{H} ds \right)^{2} dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \frac{dt}{\alpha(t)} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)} \right) \left(\int_{0}^{1} \|f(s)\|_{H}^{2} \alpha(s) ds \right) \\ &= \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{dt}{\alpha(t)} \right)^{2} \|f\|_{L^{2}_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Now assumed that \widetilde{M} is a solvable extension of the minimal operator M_0 in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$. In this case it is known that the domain of \widetilde{M} can be written as a direct sum

$$D(\widetilde{M}) = D(M_0) \oplus \left(M_c^{-1} + K\right) V, \tag{2.14}$$

where $V = KerM_0^*$, $K \in L(H)$ (see [4], [5]). It is easily to see that

$$KerM_0^* = \left\{\frac{1}{\alpha(t)}f: f \in H\right\}.$$
(2.15)

Therefore each function $u \in D(\widetilde{M})$ can be written in following form

$$u(t) = u_0(t) + M_c^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{\alpha(t)}f\right) + \frac{1}{\alpha(t)}Kf, \ u_0 \in D(M_0), \ f \in H$$

And from this we have

$$(\alpha u)(t) = (\alpha u_0)(t) + \int_0^t \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)} f + Kf, \ f \in H.$$

$$(2.16)$$

Hence, following equalities

$$(\alpha u)(0) = Kf,$$

$$(\alpha u)(1) = \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)} + K\right)f.$$

From these relations it is obtained that

$$\left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)} + K\right)(\alpha u)(0) = K(\alpha u)(1).$$
(2.17)

Then the last equality can be written in form

$$(B+E)(\alpha u)(0) = B(\alpha u)(1),$$
(2.18)

where

$$B = \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)}\right)^{-1} K.$$
(2.19)

On the other hand note that the uniquenses of the operator $B \in L(H)$ is clear from [4], [5]. Therefore, $\widetilde{M} = M_B$. This completes of necessary part of assertion.

On the contrary, if M_B is a operator generated by $m(\cdot)$ and boundary condition

$$(B+E)(\alpha u)(0) = B(\alpha u)(1),$$
(2.20)

then M_B is boundedly invertible and

$$\begin{split} M_B^{-1} &: L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)) \to L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)), \\ M_B^{-1}f(t) &= \frac{1}{\alpha(t)} \int_0^t f(s)ds + B \int_0^1 f(s)ds, \ f \in L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)). \end{split}$$

Consequently, assertion of theorem for the boundedly solvable extension of the minimal operator M_0 is true. The extension \tilde{L} of the minimal operator L_0 is boundedly solvable in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ if and only if the operator $\tilde{M} = U^{-1}\tilde{L}U$ is a boundedly solvable extension of the minimal operator M_0 in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$. Then $u \in D(\tilde{L})$ if and only if $U^{-1}u \in D(\tilde{M})$. Since $\tilde{M} = M_B$ for some $B \in L(H)$, then we have

$$(B+E)(\alpha U^{-1}u)(0) = B(\alpha U^{-1}u)(1).$$
(2.21)

This completes the proof of theorem.

3. Spectrum of boundedly solvable extensions

In this section the structure of spectrum of boundedly solvable extensions of the minimal operator L_0 in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ will be investigated. Firstly, prove the following result.

Theorem 3.1. If L_B is a boundedly solvable extension of the minimal operator L_0 and $M_B = U^{-1}L_BU$ corresponding boundedly solvable extension of the minimal operator M_0 , then it is true $\sigma(L_B) = \sigma(M_B)$.

Proof. Consider the following problem to spectrum for any boundedly solvable extension L_B in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$, that is

$$L_B u = \lambda u + f, \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}, \ f \in L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)).$$

$$(3.1)$$

From this it is obtained that

$$(L_B - \lambda E)u = f \text{ or } (UM_B U^{-1} - \lambda E)u = f.$$
(3.2)

Then we have

$$U(M_B - \lambda)U^{-1}(u) = f.$$

$$(3.3)$$

Therefore, the validity of the theorem is clear.

Now prove the main theorem on the structure of spectrum.

Theorem 3.2. The spectrum of the boundedly solvable extension L_B of the minimal operator L_0 in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$ has the form

$$\sigma(L_B) = \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} : \lambda = \left(\int_0^1 \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)} \right)^{-1} \left(\ln \left| \frac{\mu + 1}{\mu} \right| + i \arg \left(\frac{\mu + 1}{\mu} \right) + 2n\pi i \right), \\ \mu \in \sigma(B) \setminus \{0, -1\}, \ n \in \mathbb{Z} \}. \right.$$

Proof. By Theorem 3.1. for this it is sufficiently the investigate the spectrum of the corresponding boundedly solvable extension $M_B = U^{-1}L_B U$ of the minimal operator M_0 in $L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1))$.

Now consider the following problem to spectrum for the extension M_B , that is,

$$M_B u = \lambda u + f, \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}, \ f \in L^2_{\alpha}(H,(0,1)).$$
(3.4)

Then

$$(\alpha u)'(t) = \lambda u(t) + f(t), \ t \in (0,1)$$
(3.5)

with boundary condition

,

$$(B+E)(\alpha u)(0) = B(\alpha u)(1).$$
(3.6)

It is clear that a general solution of the above differential equation has the form

$$u(t;\lambda) = \frac{1}{\alpha(t)} exp\left\{\lambda \int_{0}^{t} \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)}\right\} f_{0} + \frac{1}{\alpha(t)} \int_{0}^{t} exp\left\{\lambda \int_{s}^{t} \frac{d\tau}{\alpha(\tau)}\right\} f(s)ds, \ f_{0} \in H.$$
(3.7)

From this and boundary condition it is obtained that

$$\left(E + B\left(1 - exp\left\{\lambda\int_{0}^{1}\frac{ds}{\alpha(s)}\right\}\right)\right)f_{0} = B\left(\int_{0}^{1}exp\left\{\lambda\int_{s}^{1}\frac{d\tau}{\alpha(\tau)}\right\}f(s)ds\right).$$
(3.8)

In case when $\lambda_m \int_0^1 \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)} = 2m\pi i$, $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, from the last relation it is established that

$$f_0^{(m)} = B\left(\int_0^1 \exp\left\{\lambda_m \int_s^1 \frac{d\tau}{\alpha(\tau)}\right\} f(s)ds\right), \ m \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.9)

Consequently, in this case the resolvent operator of M_B is in form

$$R_{\lambda_m}(M_B)f(t) = B\left(\frac{1}{\alpha(t)}exp\left\{\lambda_m\int_0^t \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)}\right\}\int_0^1 exp\left\{\lambda_m\int_s^1 \frac{d\tau}{\alpha(\tau)}\right\}f(s)ds\right\}$$
$$+ \frac{1}{\alpha(t)}\int_0^t exp\left\{\lambda_m\int_s^t \frac{d\tau}{\alpha(\tau)}\right\}f(s)ds, \ m \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Now assumed that $\lambda \neq 2m\pi i$, $m \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then from the mentioned above equation for $f_0 \in H$ we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} B - \left(1 - exp\left\{\lambda \int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)}\right\}\right)^{-1} E \end{pmatrix} f_{0} \\ = \left(1 - exp\left\{\lambda \int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)}\right\}\right)^{-1} B\left(\int_{0}^{1} exp\left\{\lambda \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d\tau}{\alpha(\tau)}\right\} f(s) ds\right) \\ f_{0} \in H, \ f \in L^{2}_{\alpha}(H, (0, 1)).$$

Then $\lambda \in \sigma(M_B)$ if and only if

$$\mu = \left(1 - exp\left\{\lambda \int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)}\right\}\right)^{-1} \in \sigma(B).$$
(3.10)

In this case since $\mu \neq 0$,

$$exp\left\{\lambda\int_{0}^{1}\frac{ds}{\alpha(s)}\right\} = \frac{\mu+1}{\mu}, \ \mu \in \sigma(B), \ \mu \neq -1.$$
(3.11)

Then

$$\lambda = \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{\alpha(s)}\right)^{-1} \left(\ln\left|\frac{\mu+1}{\mu}\right| + i\arg\left(\frac{\mu+1}{\mu}\right) + 2n\pi i\right), \ n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.12)

Example 3.1. All boundedly solvable extensions L_k of the minimal operator L_0 in $L^2_{\alpha}(0,1)$, $\alpha(t) = t^p$, p < 1, 0 < t < 1, generated by differential expression

$$l(u) = (t^{p}u(t))' + a(t)u(t), \ p < 1, \ 0 < t < 1, \ \frac{a(t)}{t^{p}} \in L^{1}(0,1)$$
(3.13)

are generated by differential expression $l(\cdot)$ and boundary condition

$$(k+1)\left(\alpha U^{-1}u\right)(0) = k\left(\alpha U^{-1}u\right)(1), \ k \in \mathbb{C},$$
(3.14)

where $U(\cdot, \cdot)$ are the corresponding evolution operators. In this case the spectrum $\sigma(L_k)$ of the extension L_k , $k \neq 0, -1$ is in form

$$\sigma(L_k) = \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} : \lambda = (1-p) \ln \left| \frac{k+1}{k} \right| + i \arg \left(\frac{k+1}{k} \right) + 2n\pi i, \ n \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$

4. Conclusion

It is known that problem on the solvability of the degenerate differential equations with corresponding boundary conditions in finite and infinite regions is main subject in mathematical literature always (for detail informations see [1]).

It is noted that the general form of boundedly solvable extensions of some densely defined closed operator in Hilbert space has been found by M. I. Vishik. In our work using the techniques of mentioned above theory a parametrization of boundedly solvable extensions of the minimal operator generated by degenerate differential-operator expression for first order in the weighted Hilbert space of vector-functions at finite interval is investigated. Lastly, the structure of spectrum of these type extensions is given.

Point out that the general form and spectral analysis of subclasses of differential operators in Banach spaces are main research topics in operator theory.

References

- [1] A. Favini, A. Yagi, Degenerate Differential Equations in Banach Spaces, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New-York-Basel-Hong Kong, 1999.
- [2] J. A. Goldstein, Semigroups of Linear Operators and Applications, Oxford University Press, New York and Oxford, 1985, 245 pp.

[3] L. Hörmander, On the theory of general partial differential operators, Acta. Math. 94 (1955), 162-166.

- [4] M. I. Vishik, On linear boundary problems for differential equations, Doklady Akad. Nauk SSSR (N.S) 65 (1949), 785–788.
 [5] M. I. Vishik, On general boundary problems for elliptic differential equations, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. II 24 (1963), 107-172.